
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

If you are reading these papers on an electronic device you have saved the Council £11.33 and 
helped reduce the Council’s carbon footprint.

Audit and Risk Committee
25 June 2018

Time 2.00 pm Public Meeting? YES Type of meeting Regulatory

Venue Committee Room 3 - Civic Centre, St Peter’s Square, Wolverhampton. WV1 1SH

Membership
Chair Cllr Craig Collingswood (Lab)
Vice-chair Cllr Sohail Khan (Con)

Labour Independent Member

Cllr Obaida Ahmed
Cllr Harbans Bagri
Cllr Mary Bateman
Cllr Philip Bateman MBE
Cllr Jasbir Jaspal
Cllr Barbara McGarrity

Mr Mike Ager
Mr John Humphries

Quorum for this meeting is two Councillors.

Information for the Public
If you have any queries about this meeting, please contact the Democratic Services team:

Contact Dereck Francis
Tel/Email Tel: 01902 555835 or dereck.francis@wolverhampton.gov.uk
Address Democratic Services, Civic Centre, 1st floor, St Peter’s Square,

Wolverhampton WV1 1RL

Copies of other agendas and reports are available from:

Website https://wolverhamptoninternet.moderngov.co.uk
Email democratic.services@wolverhampton.gov.uk 
Tel 01902 550320

Please take note of the protocol for filming, recording and use of social media in meetings, copies of 
which are displayed in the meeting room.

Some items are discussed in private because of their confidential or commercial nature. These reports 
are not available to the public.

mailto:democratic.services@wolverhampton.gov.uk


 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Agenda
Part 1 – items open to the press and public
Item No. Title

MEETING BUSINESS ITEMS

1 Apologies for absence 

2 Declaration of interests 

DECISION ITEMS

3 Markets Relocation - Lessons Learned (Pages 3 - 32)
[To review and comment upon the content of the Markets Relocation – Lessons 
Learned report]

4 Wolverhampton Interchange (Train Station) - Lessons Learned (Pages 33 - 
64)
[To review and comment upon the content of the Wolverhampton Interchange 
(Train Station) – Lessons Learned report] 

5 Civic Halls Refurbishment - Lessons Learned (Pages 65 - 128)
[To review and comment upon the content of the Civic Halls Refurbishment – 
Lessons Learned report] 

6 Action Plans - Lessons Learned (Pages 129 - 174)
[To review and comment upon the content of the action plans with regards to:

a. Markets Relocation – Lessons Learned
b. Wolverhampton Interchange (Train Station) – Lessons Learned
c. Civic Halls Refurbishment – Lessons Learned]



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Audit and Risk Committee
25 June 2018

Report title Markets Relocation – Lessons Learned

Accountable director Keith Ireland, Managing Director

Originating service Audit

Accountable employee(s)

Report to be/has been 
considered by

Peter Farrow
Tel
Email

Strategic 
Executive Board

Head of Audit
01902 554460
peter.farrow@wolverhampton.gov.uk

22 May 2018

Recommendations for decision:

The Committee is recommended to:

1. Review and comment on the lessons learned action plans.

2. Oversee their implementation over the next 12 months and to receive a quarterly update 
report on the progress made in implementing the lessons learned.

3. Support the actions taken to date which include: 
a) To improve programme and project management
b) To ensure better financial modelling

Recommendations for noting:

The Committee is asked to:

1. Note the Managing Director’s decision to make the report an open report to ensure 
maximum transparency

Page 3

Agenda Item No: 3

mailto:peter.farrow@wolverhampton.gov.uk


This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

1.0 Purpose

1.1 That the Audit and Risk Committee review and comment upon the content of the Markets 
Relocation – Lessons Learned report. 

1.2 The report provides an overview of the Markets Relocation project and the associated 
lessons learnt and action plan that the City of Wolverhampton Council is committed to 
deliver against. As a learning organisation we act to be open and transparent about what 
we can learn and improve in the future.

1.3 To seek approval of the Audit and Risk Committee to oversee the implementation of the 
lessons learned report over the next 12 months.

2.0 Background

2.1 The relocation of Wolverhampton Market from its existing position at Market Square to 
the Snow Hill site in the Southside area of the city was critical to enable the first phase of 
the £55 million Westside scheme to commence. The rationale for this relocation was 
approved in the Westside report to Cabinet dated 18 January 2017. At this meeting 
Cabinet agreed that a budget of £2.5 million be made available for the relocation of the 
retail market based on cost estimates and delegated authority to enter into contract for 
the delivery of the scheme.

2.2 The Council’s Managing Director commissioned Audit Services to undertake a lessons 
learned review for three capital projects, which included the markets relocation project, 
that have been subject to highly publicised overspends. The budget in respect of 
relocating the market has increased from £2.5 million to £4.9 million. 

2.3 The terms of reference for the review were agreed by the Council’s Strategic Executive 
Team.

2.4 Specialist external support was procured from Equib to assist Audit Services undertake 
this review. The external adviser will be present at the Audit and Risk Committee.

3.0 Progress, options, discussion

3.1 Progress on the implementation of the actions contained within the report will be reported 
back to the Audit and Risk Committee on a quarterly basis over the coming 12 months.

4.0 Financial implications

4.1 There are no direct financial implications arising from the recommendations in this report. 
However, the financial impact of the recommendations will be factored into all projects 
going forward. The implementation of the recommendations will contribute to robust 
financial planning and budgetary control in respect to capital projects.
[CN/13062018/G]

Page 4



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

5.0 Legal implications

5.1 There are no legal implications arising from the recommendations in this report. There 
are however possible significant issues surrounding the impact if the recommendations 
are not implemented in full.

          [TC/13062018/X]

6.0 Equalities implications

6.1 There are no equalities implications arising from the recommendations in this report.

7.0 Environmental implications

7.1 There are no environmental implications arising from the recommendations in this report.

8.0 Human resources implications

8.1 The report outlines the absolute necessity of ensuring that qualified and competent 
people and organisations are employed and/or deployed onto large capital programmes. 

9.0 Corporate landlord implications

9.1 There are no Corporate Landlord implications arising from the recommendations in this 
report.

10.0 Schedule of background papers

10.1 A timeline of reports to Members is contained under section 4.6 of the report.

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

wolverhampton.gov.uk 

Internal Audit Report: 
Markets Relocation – Lessons 
Learnt (2017-2018) 
This report is Public
 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Page 7



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

wolverhampton.gov.uk 

1 Executive Summary

1.1 Introduction

In January 2018 the Council’s Managing Director commissioned Audit Services to undertake a 
lessons learnt review of three high profile projects within the City. These three projects have been 
subject to adverse publicity in terms of implementation delays and overspends and therefore pose 
a reputational risk to the Council. This report specifically relates to the relocation of the City’s 
market.

The Market Relocation Project was set up to relocate the existing market from Market Square/ 
Salop Street to an operational public car park operated and owned by the Council. The project 
included:-

 the relocation of existing shipping containers that act as retail and storing units;
 new outdoor market units;
 a management suite;
 public toilets; 
 new retail cabins
 new shopmobility to be relocated from Wulfrun Centre;
 new trader car park; and 
 relocation of existing waste compactor.  

1.2 Scope of the review

A terms of reference was provided by the Managing Director outlining the scope of the review. 
This included the following:

 Production of a detailed timeline of events
 The process for determining an “early indication figure” for budgetary purposes and the impact 

this is having on the project
 Establish what caused the project to fail
 Identify the actual changes to the specification, and the resulting increase in costs
 Review the governance arrangements for the project
 Review the resourcing arrangements for the project in terms of effectiveness
 Ascertain whether the project would have benefited from early intervention from various 

sources i.e. political support or external specialists
 Ascertain whether there was any good practice or lessons already being learnt on the project
 Review the procurement arrangements to ensure best practice was followed in the 

procurement of contractors
 Review the project risk management arrangements for the establishment of contingency costs
 Provide an opinion on how the Council can follow best practice in order to avoid the guestimate 

of the programme being considerably different from the actual budget
 Review external funding arrangements to ensure the Council is maximising its funding 

opportunities
 Review the programme to ascertain whether subsequent issues could have been identified 

earlier

Page 8



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

wolverhampton.gov.uk 

 Seek external advice in terms of how best practice could have been applied to this project

In order to assist Audit Services with this review specialist external support was obtained from an 
external consultant from supplier B. Who primarily specialise in project risk management.

For the purpose of this review discussions were held with the following officers to help form the 
findings of this review:

Projects and Programmes Manager
Project and Resources Manager
Service Director for Commercial Services
Assistant Category Manager
Head of Business Services (formerly Head of Governance)
Regeneration Manager

It should be noted that the Council’s external auditors were invited to provide their opinion of the 
project and provide examples of good practice that could be applied, where appropriate. They 
concluded it would not be appropriate to provide an opinion on this project as to do so, would 
potentially fetter their discretion, as they anticipated reviewing it as part of their future work in 
relation to their value for money conclusion.

1.3 Acknowledgement

A number of employees gave their time and co-operation during the course of this review.  We 
would like to record our thanks to all of the individuals concerned.

Page 9



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

wolverhampton.gov.uk 

2 Management Summary/Conclusion
2.1 Following a detailed review of the timeline of events, and the findings detailed below, we 

have identified a number of issues where lessons could have been learnt. These are as 
follows:

 
 The governance arrangements for approving the project and seeking agreement to 

additional funding were deemed satisfactory. There was however a lack of detail in 
meeting minutes to explain how and why the original budget decision was made. Options 
were provided for discussion but these options were not formally presented and 
discussed at any Board or Council meeting. Based on information provided by officers 
interviewed as part of the review it was established that the original budget figure of 
£2.5m was agreed with the Leader of the Council and a modified project plan was 
produced as a result. 

 It is our view that the budget that was originally approved for the scheme was insufficient 
and did not consider the full implications of the estimated costing information provided in 
the feasibility studies. In addition, the costs initially reported were outline anticipated 
project costs and were not based on a full detailed design of the scheme

 There were several pressures affecting the project, resulting in prompt decisions having 
to be made. The main driver for the relocation of the market was to enable the 
development of Westside and there was a deadline in place for vacant possession of the 
site. This impacted upon the project timeline. Bidders were given one month to respond to 
the advert and the work was to be completed by 3 December 2017. Consequently, the 
tender process resulted in only one bidder, supplier H, who had already been involved in 
the first phase of the market relocation and would have been aware of the time pressures 
the Council were under to complete the project. Supplier H may have viewed the project 
as challenging and this resulted in higher levels of contingency in their tender bid.

 A key issue in this review has been the lack of project information being held in one 
place. A timeline of key decisions and reports did not exist. In order to follow the Council’s 
adopted project management approach all information should be on Verto, the Council’s 
corporate project management system, but this was found not to be the case. At the start 
of the review the information that had been recorded in respect of the relocation of the 
markets was inadequate and out-of-date. The project managers from supplier A were 
appointed to oversee the delivery of the project. At the time of this review all project 
documentation (i.e. gant charts, risk assessments etc) were held by them and not the 
Council. Therefore, there is a risk the Council does not hold project management 
information in the event of query or challenge. 

 This project had been referred to the Project Assurance Group (PAG) on 15 May 2017, 
but the Project Manager did not attend. The PAG minutes stated that further clarification 
was required on the funding for this project. However, the market relocation project was 
not brought back to the PAG. This project was also not listed on the forward plan or 
action log.

 The project had a project board and we were advised that regular meetings were held. 
However, formal minutes of these meetings detailing matters discussed, issues arising 

Page 10



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

wolverhampton.gov.uk 

and decisions made were not available, although we were advised that email 
correspondence was available to support matters discussed.

2.2 All the lessons learned from this review are summarised under section six of this report.

Page 11



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

wolverhampton.gov.uk 

3 Background Information
3.1 A report was presented to Cabinet on 18 January 2017 seeking approval to relocate the 

market to the Snow Hill site at Southside. This was necessary to enable developers to deliver 
their scheme at Westside. The target date for opening the new market is May 2018.

3.2 The project included:-

 the relocation of existing shipping containers that act as retail and storage units;
 new outdoor market units;
 a management suite;
 public toilets; 
 new retail cabins;
 shopmobility to be relocated from the Wulfrun Centre;
 new trader car park; and 
 relocation of existing waste compactor.  

3.3 An initial feasibility study was carried out by supplier A and approval was given by the 
Strategic Executive Board (SEB) and Cabinet to proceed with the project and a budget of 
£2.5m was agreed to be funded from the capital programme.

3.4 Following a competitive tender process, the budget required to complete the scheme rose to 
£4.9m. The appropriate approvals were sought and received from Cabinet for the funding of 
the project.

3.5 In October 2017 supplier H were appointed as the approved contractor. At the time of this 
review the project was still in progress.

Page 12



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

wolverhampton.gov.uk 

4 Detailed Findings
4.1 Governance arrangements

4.1.1 The governance arrangements for the Market Relocation Project, which fall under the 
Southside Project Team, are set out below:- 

City Centre Portfolio Board
 Chair Tim Johnson

WIP Steering Group
 

Connected Places 
Programme Board

 

Canalside Steering 
Group

 

CLQ Strategic 
Project Board 

 

Southside Project 
Team

 

Westside Project 
Team

 

WIP Working Group
 

Place Leadership Team
By exception 

Senior Executive Board
By exception 

Cabinet / 
Cabinet Resources Panel

 

Council
 

(this is an extract from the City Centre Portfolio Board’s terms of reference)

4.1.2 The Head of Governance was the nominated Senior Responsible Officer for this project. In 
order to oversee the delivery of the project a Market Relocation Programme Board was 
established. The Board reports directly to the Strategic Director Place (Deputy Managing 
Director) and the Cabinet Member for City Environment. The membership of the Board is 
made up of the following officers:

Title Project or Programme Role

Head of Governance Senior Responsible Officer

City Centre Regeneration Manager  Project and Programme Manager

Supplier A’s Project Manager  Project Manager

Markets General Manager Senior User 

Page 13



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

wolverhampton.gov.uk 

4.1.3 On 5 December 2016 the Executive Team endorsed the approach for relocating the retail 
market from Westside to the Snow Hill site at Southside. This was done to secure a date for 
achieving vacant possession of Westside, thereby enabling the Council to enter into a 
contract with the scheme’s developers for the delivery of the Westside regeneration. At this 
meeting it was agreed that ‘A future report will be prepared on the business case for the 
revised market on Southside including detailed costs and funding options.’ 

4.2 Options for relocation

4.2.1 Three feasibility options had been scoped out by supplier A, who had recently completed a 
similar markets project in Leicester City Centre. These options were presented to the 
Executive Team on 5 December 2016. The options were as follows:

Option Detail Estimated 
Cost £ Issues

1 Inclusive of covered 
structure, landscaping and 
markets management suite.

4,850,000 Expensive and cannot be completed 
within the timescales set out by 
Westside’s developers.

2 As option 1 but excluding 
the roof structure.

3,305,000

3 Move existing market to 
new site only.

2,145,000 This is a ‘lift and shift’ option but it is 
unlikely to satisfy traders who had 
aspirations for an improved provision 
as part of a long-term offer.

4.2.2 It should be noted that the feasibility study provided by supplier A included the following 
information:

 The estimate is feasibility only;
 No layouts provided;
 Estimate based upon massing of existing market;
 No survey information available;
 No discussion with planners;
 No input from any design professional;
 Inflation excluded; and
 Excludes party wall /neighbour issues.

In our view this would indicate that the costs indicated in the table above were indicative 
only and likely to increase.

4.2.3 It was highlighted in the report that whilst the cost of delivering any of these options was 
significant, it would enable the developers to deliver their scheme at Westside which would 
bring £55 million investment into the city centre, along with over 550 new jobs. The 
investment would also ensure delivery of an improved markets offer in a more sustainable 
location. A future report was to be prepared on the business case for the revised market on 
Southside including detailed costs and funding options.

4.2.4 On 20 December 2016 a presentation from the Head of Regeneration and Head of 
Governance was made to the Strategic Executive Board setting out the rationale for 

Page 14



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

wolverhampton.gov.uk 

relocating the markets to Snow Hill following engagement with the Westside developer. An 
examination of the meeting’s minutes confirmed that the following matters were resolved:

 To support the initial conceptual proposals for the relocated city centre market;
 To report the capital expenditure implications to Cabinet at its January meeting, with 

delegated authority to the Cabinet member to approve project costs; 
 To present the proposals to the Leader in the new year; and
 To work towards incorporating Shop Mobility into the site.

However, it was noted from the minutes that the actual costs of the scheme were not 
recorded.

4.2.5 We were advised by the project’s Senior Responsible Officer (SRO) and the Project 
Manager that a meeting was held with the Leader of the Council and the Managing Director 
on 9 January 2017. The SRO was advised by the Leader of the Council that options one 
and two were not going to be achievable as the maximum budget available for this scheme 
was £2.5 million. We were advised that the budget of £2.5 million was based on the 
estimated land sale capital receipt at Westside.  

4.2.6  The Westside Delivery Strategy update was presented to Cabinet on 18 January 2017. The 
report highlighted that the challenge set for the professional team was to achieve relocation 
of the market in a timescale that was compatible with the developer’s aspirations to be 
onsite by late 2017. Failure to do so would expose the Council to both criticisms from 
existing traders and a potential claim from the developer as a consequence of not meeting 
the Council’s commitment to achieving vacant possession. To meet these timescales a 
phased approach was proposed. The costs associated with each phase is detailed below:

Phase Comprising Programme Estimated 
Cost

1 Site preparation, lift and shift and new market 
suite, comprising 48 tented stalls and additional 
lock ups and freezer units

Complete 
November 2017

£2,000,000

2 Remodel and resurface car park for trader 
parking and offload, provision of permanent 
compactor

Complete 
February 2018

£250,000

Site 
Risks

To cover unforeseen diversion works, road 
improvements and resurfacing

£250,000

TOTAL £2,500,000

4.2.7 The consideration of the three feasibility options detailed in 4.2.1 did not get a full airing at a 
particular board or Council meeting. The Cabinet were not presented with any alternative 
programmes or costs to consider.

4.2.8 Minutes of the Cabinet meeting concluded the following items were resolved in respect of 
the Markets Relocation: -

 That the strategy to relocate the retail market to the Snow Hill site at Southside be 
approved;

 That a budget of £2.5 million for the relocation of the retail market be agreed; and
 That it be noted, the Capital budget quarter three monitoring 2016/17 report to Council 

would seek approval to a budget of £2.5 million for the market relocation, in the event 

Page 15



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

wolverhampton.gov.uk 

that Cabinet approve the strategy to relocate the retail market to the Snow Hill site at 
Southside.

Lesson learnt 1: For future projects considerations around options appraisals should be 
formally recorded so there is an audit trail of discussions and decisions made. 

4.2.9 On 23 January 2017 a briefing note was prepared and submitted to the City Centre 
Programme Board detailing the appointment of the design team. Five options with pros and 
cons were presented and it was recommended that supplier A be appointed as lead 
consultant. Supplier A were appointed under the Council’s framework agreement for asset 
management, surveying and design services. 

4.2.10 A report was presented to SEB on 14 March 2017 giving an update on the scheme, 
advising that supplier A had been appointed to project manage the relocation process. 
Additional work had been identified following trader engagement. This amounted to 
£470,000. A breakdown of these costs is set out in the table below:

Ref Details Cost

A Stalls/Canopy £120,000
B Servicing Strategy £50,000
C Shopmobility £90,000
D Café Canopy £50,000
E Cabins £60,000
F Branding costs to compliment leaves and light £40,000
G Fees (including leaves and light) £60,000
TOTAL £470,000

4.2.11 This brought the project cost up to £2.97 million, which included a contingency budget of  
£300,000. The report advised that as of 1 March 2017 the Market Relocation Scheme was 
in the Council’s Capital Programme and any variances would need to be reported back to 
Council through the quarterly monitoring reports. 

4.2.12 On 28 March 2017 the Cabinet Resources Panel agreed to the appointment of supplier A 
for one year (1 April 2017 to 31 March 2018) amounting to a contract value of £222,431. A 
work task order was produced and authorised by Legal Services on 29 March 2017.

4.2.13 The invitation to tender for the relocation of the City’s outdoor market, including provision 
of new stalls, stores, market suite, shop mobility toilets and associated infrastructure, was 
published on the procurement portal on 2 May 2017 with a closing date of 6 June 2017. 
This detailed an estimated contract value of £2.4 million.

4.2.14 The timescales for the project were very tight. The works were to be completed in two 
sections as follows: 

 Section 1 - Completion of construction work including the relocation of cabins by 17 
November 2017 to allow access to site by the traders and market staff to re-open the 

Page 16



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

wolverhampton.gov.uk 

market on 22 November 2017. The existing market to cease trading Saturday 4 
November 2017 allowing a two week window to relocate the cabins and undertake any 
specified alterations. Works to be completed in Phase 1 comprise: Everything to allow 
the market to re-open for trading, which excludes Shopmobility, Management Suite and 
decant of the site compound from the public car park. 

 Section 2 remaining works Shopmobility, Management Suite and decant of the site 
compound from the public car park. 

4.2.15 On 26 June 2017 there was a Leaders Briefing to provide an update on the progress of 
the markets relocation and to report on the tender process for the delivery of the scheme. 
The report advised that supplier A’s estimate of £2.5 million had increased to £3 million to 
reflect essential changes identified in the detailed design. 

4.2.16 The tender process for the scheme resulted in a single tender return from supplier H. 
Supplier H’s tender far exceeded the agreed budget. An initial assessment by supplier A 
revealed this cost to be £4.9 million, inclusive of fees, with further opportunities to value 
engineer the cost down. Based on a briefing note produced by the then Head of 
Regeneration and Head of Governance on 26 June 2017, for the Leader, the following 
reasons were given for the tender being considerably higher than expected:

 Supplier H were aware that they were the only bidder for the scheme and therefore felt 
they were in a strong negotiating position. This may also be perceived by supplier H, 
and various subcontractors, involved with the first markets relocation as a difficult job 
and they have priced accordingly. 

 Limited return on sub-contractor quotes, potentially due to the works being 
programmed during the busy summer period. 

 Due to an expedited tendering programme supplier H has had limited time to compile 
and scrutinise costs which has resulted in high levels of contingency in their estimate. 

 Several elements of the scheme were underestimated as part of the preparation of the 
tenders. 

4.2.17 The Leaders Briefing goes on to state ‘that the principle of an increased budget would be 
reported at Cabinet Resources Panel on 27 June 2017 with a view to amending the Q1 
Capital Monitoring Report in time for Full Council on 19 July 2017. This approach had 
been discussed with Councillors Johnson and Evans who agree to the principle and felt 
that sufficient headroom should be built in to ensure the scheme is an asset to the city 
centre and offers the opportunity for the markets to grow in the new location’.

4.2.18 At the Cabinet (Resources) Panel meeting on 27 June 2017 the minutes noted that the 
then Cabinet Member for Resources informed the Panel ‘that the capital report contained 
a request to increase the capital budget for the markets relocation scheme by £530,000 to 
a total of £3.03 million. This was based on cost estimates prior to commencing 
procurement. Following the procurement process it was now proposed that this be further 
increased to a total budget of £4.9 million. The tenders received had come back outside 
the agreed budget and employees were working with prospective contractors to value 
engineer the contract. This process would be completed over the coming weeks and the 
revised capital budget requirements for the scheme would be detailed in the report to 
Council on 19 July 2017. The capital budget required to instruct a contractor and 
commence the market relocation scheme would not be released until a further report is 
considered by Cabinet (Resources) Panel’.

Page 17



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

wolverhampton.gov.uk 

4.2.19 At a meeting of the Full Council on 19 July 2017 an additional budget of £1.9 million was 
approved for the markets relocation project, resulting in a total capital budget of £4.9m for 
the project.  The minutes of this meeting resolved that ‘the capital budget required to 
instruct a contractor to commence the market relocation project would not be released 
until a further paper was considered by Cabinet (Resources) Panel’.

4.2.20 At the Cabinet (Resources) Panel meeting on 25 July 2017 the Cabinet Member for City 
Environment presented a report on the progress of the markets relocation project. He 
particularly reported on the budgetary implications of the project following the tender 
process and the timeline for delivery of the scheme. As per the minutes of the meeting it 
was resolved ‘that the release of the capital budget (as detailed in the capital programme 
which had been agreed by Full Council on 19 July 2017) for the markets relocation 
scheme be approved’. The minutes of this meeting also noted ‘that the reporting required 
to increase the budget headroom had impacted on the delivery programme for the 
markets relocation and a new deadline for completion of January 2018 had now been 
established’.

4.2.21 The Individual Executive Decision Notice (IEDN) authorising the appointment of supplier H 
for the market relocation project was signed by the Cabinet Member for City Economy and 
the Strategic Director Place on 5 October 2017. It should be noted that on-going value 
engineering negotiations had been taking place, and additional ground surveys had been 
completed, prior to this notice being signed off. 

4.2.22 We noted that the key deliverables detailed on Verto had been updated to read ‘To 
relocate existing market from Salop Street to Snow Hill / Cleveland Street, before May 
2018 to enable the Westside Developer to take vacant possession of the site.’ We were 
unable to find evidence that the change in completion date from January 2018 to May 
2018 had been reported to the Cabinet Resources Panel.

Lesson learnt 2: Changes in project completion dates should be reported to the Cabinet 
(Resources) Panel detailing the reasons for the change and any risk implications this 
may have. 

Page 18



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

wolverhampton.gov.uk 

4.3 Project Assurance Group

4.3.1 In addition to ensuring that the appropriate approvals have been obtained for each project 
stage, Council run projects are required to provide periodic updates to the Council Project 
Assurance Group (PAG), which is also chaired by the Strategic Director Place (Deputy 
Managing Director).

4.3.2 The Project Assurance Group has been set up to provide the necessary assurances, to 
those involved in the approval process, that key business service areas have considered all 
factors across the business area and are willing to proceed to the next approval stage.
 

4.3.3 The Market Relocation project was referred to the Project Assurance Group on 15 May 
2017, however the Project Manager did not attend the meeting. It was reported that the 
project details had not been recorded on Verto. The project was discussed and approval 
given to move to the business case gateway in Verto. The Strategic Director Place 
highlighted that consideration needed to be given on how to enforce PAG as the interface 
for projects before proceeding to the full political process.

Lesson learnt 3: Either the project’s SRO or Project Manager should be requested to 
attend future PAG meetings to provide updates on the project.

4.3.4 The PAG minutes stated that further clarification was required on the funding for this 
project. However, the market relocation project was not brought back to the PAG so they 
have not had any oversight of it. This project was not listed on the forward plan or action 
log.

Lesson learnt 4: A quality control process should be implemented to ensure all 
outstanding matters, discussed at PAG, are promptly followed up. 

Page 19



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

wolverhampton.gov.uk 

4.4 Project Management

4.4.1 Project management in respect of the Markets Relocation Project is currently being 
provided by supplier A.

4.4.2 Verto is the Council’s corporate project management system, therefore all of the Council’s 
projects should be recorded on the system. At the start of our review the information that 
had been recorded in respect of the relocation of the markets was inadequate and out-of-
date. It should be noted that Verto was updated by the Project Manager on 15 January 
2018 as a result of the review commencing.

Lesson learnt 5: The Council’s project management system (Verto) should be kept up to 
date throughout the lifecycle of the project. An escalation process should be established 
where non-compliance has been identified i.e. reported to the Project Assurance Group.

4.4.3 The review identified that all project documentation (i.e. gant charts, risk assessments etc) 
were being retained by supplier A and had not been filed on the Council’s project folder. 

Lesson learnt 6: All project documentation should be stored under the Council’s project 
folder to ensure a full audit trail of decisions is kept and assuring business continuity.

4.4.4 It should be noted at the time this report was being produced the project had not been 
progressed to the delivery stage on the Verto system, therefore no highlight reports were 
being generated from the system. 

4.4.5 An Assistant Category Manager from the Procurement Team is detailed in the project’s 
organisation structure with a business assurance role to overview and challenge the quality 
assurance aspects of the project both generally and specifically for allocated specialist 
areas. The Assistant Category Manager advised that he did provide this role at the start of 
the project and assisted in the procurement process up until the tenders were received. 
However, he advised that he was not always included in meetings or provided with details 
from the value engineering discussions between the Council and supplier H.

Lesson learnt 7: Anyone that is allocated an assurance role in the project team should be 
given full access to all information needed to fulfil their role. If they are unable to fulfil the 
project role that they have been given this should be escalated and appropriate action 
taken. 

Page 20



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

wolverhampton.gov.uk 

4.5 Reporting to Elected Members

4.5.1 This review and a timeline of events has confirmed that elected members of the Council 
were kept appraised of the markets relocation project. This is highlighted in the table below:

Date of 
Report Meeting Nature of Report

05/12/2016 Executive Team Endorsed the approach to relocating the retail market 
at Westside to the Snow Hill site at Southside. Initial 
feasibility costs ranged from £2.1 - £4.8 million based 
on indicative costs from supplier A. 

18/01/2017 Cabinet A report submitted to seeking approval of the strategy 
to relocate the retail market to the Snow Hill site at 
Southside and approval of an indicative capital budget 
£2.5 million. Delegated authority was also sought for 
the Cabinet Member for City Economy, in consultation 
with the Service Director for Place to approve tenders 
for this work. 

22/02/2017 Cabinet A capital budget of £2.5 million was approved for the 
Markets Relocation as part of the Capital Programme 
2016-2017 to 2020-2021 Quarter Three Review report.

28/03/2017 Cabinet 
(Resources) Panel 

Procurement – Award to Contracts for Works, Goods 
and Services report presented. Under the report was 
an approval to award a contract to supplier A for 
Project Management and Design for the Markets 
Relocation Project. The contract was for one year from 
1 April 2017 to 31 March 2018 for a contract value of 
£222,431.

27/06/2017 Cabinet 
(Resources) Panel

A request to increase the capital budget for the 
markets relocation scheme by £530,000 to a total of 
£3.03 million. This was based on cost estimates prior 
to commencing procurement. Following the 
procurement process it was now proposed that this be 
further increased to a total budget of £4.9 million. The 
tenders received had come back outside the agreed 
budget and employees were working with prospective 
contractors to value engineer the contract. 

19/07/2017 Council  Included in the Capital budget outturn 2016-2017 
including quarter one capital budget monitoring 2017-
2018 report was the following note: Whilst the capital 
budget requirements of the ‘Southside – Market 
Relocation’ project is included in this report, (increase 
budget from £3m to £4.9 M) the capital budget required 
to instruct a contractor to commence the market 
relocation project will not be released until a further 
paper is considered by Cabinet (Resources) Panel.

Page 21



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

wolverhampton.gov.uk 

Date of 
Report Meeting Nature of Report

25/07/2017 Cabinet 
(Resources) Panel 

Cabinet member with lead responsibility for 
Environment, presented the report on progress with the 
project to relocate Wolverhampton Market from its 
existing position at Market Square to the Snow Hill site 
in the Southside area of the City. He particularly 
reported on the budgetary implications of the project 
following the tender process and the timeline for 
delivery of the scheme. It was resolved that the release 
of the capital budget (as detailed in the capital 
programme which had been agreed by Full Council on 
19 July 2017) for the markets relocation scheme be 
approved. It was also noted that the reporting required 
to increase the budget headroom had impacted on the 
delivery programme for the markets relocation and a 
new deadline for completion of January 2018 had now 
been established.

05/10/2017 Individual 
Executive Decision 
Notice

Approval to award the construction contract to supplier 
H based on a contract value of £4.6 million.

4.6 Supplier B’s Assessment of Risk Management

4.6.1 The management of risk on the project has not been intrinsic to the decision-making on this 
project and the evidence indicates that robust management of risk was not carried out.
 

4.6.2 The initial project objective was set early and was the simple re-location of the existing 
market to support vacant possession for the West Side development project.  On this basis 
the option selection was made based on expediency, rather than with due consideration of 
the risks of scope creep during design development, stakeholder resistance and associated 
with emerging broader aspirations for the relocated market

Lesson learnt 8: To support a robust risk management process it is essential that the 
objectives of a project are fully defined at an early stage- these objectives should take 
account of stakeholder aspirations to assure that the objectives are complementary.   

4.6.3 As a part of this review the only evidence of the identification of risk is in the Verto report 
dated 17 January 2018 that includes a total of eight risks, four of which are closed and the 
remaining four consisting of three risks unique risks and one duplication.  The description of 
the risks is poor (and has led to the duplication mentioned), and it is debatable whether the 
risks identified relating to market stall tables and vehicular access are actually issues and 
should be managed as such.

Lesson learnt 9: The identification of risk and its management throughout the project 
lifecycle is essential if objectives are going to be delivered and cost and schedule over-
runs avoided (or minimised).   

Page 22



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

wolverhampton.gov.uk 

4.6.4 Supplier A, as the project managers, included contingency assessments in their high-level 
costing of options with 10% on design costs, 10% for risk and 2% for enhancements 
(possibly scope creep or change- this is unclear).  The derivation of these uplifts is not 
evident in the documentation reviewed.  The link between the contingency setting and any 
risk registers, assumptions log or clearly defined project objectives is not present in the 
evidence reviewed.

Lesson learnt 10: Risks and assumptions must be documented and assessed throughout 
the project lifecycle to support clear communication, targeted and appropriate 
management of uncertainty, the management and understanding of change, and 
ultimately to support project assurance and decision-making.   

5 Where we are now
5.1 At the time of this review the contract had been awarded to supplier H based on a contract 

value of £4.9 million. Supplier H started on site at the end of October 2017 with an expected 
completion date at the end of May 2018.

Page 23



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

wolverhampton.gov.uk                                                                                                                                                        

6 Lessons Learnt - Action Plan

No Lessons Learnt Responsibility Proposed action to be taken Target date

1 For future projects 
considerations around 
options appraisals should be 
formally recorded so there is 
an audit trail of discussions 
and decisions made.

Senior 
Responsible 
Officer

Options appraisals will be undertaken as part of the feasibility 
phase of a project and recorded in Verto using the standard 
templates.

The Senior Responsible Officer is to ensure that the options are 
discussed at a board meeting. The minuting of the discussion 
will create an audit trail and the decision of which option to 
pursue must be recorded in the decisions log on Verto. 

With immediate 
effect

2 Changes in project 
completion dates should be 
reported to the Cabinet 
(Resources) Panel detailing 
the reasons for the change 
and any risk implications this 
may have.

Senior 
Responsible 
Officer

Director of 
Governance

The Senior Responsible Officer will ensure that decisions and 
reporting in relation the project are made in accordance with the 
Council’s Constitution.

The relevant sections of the Council’s Constitution to be 
reviewed and amended if required through the Constitution 
Review Group process.

With immediate 
effect

P
age 24



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

wolverhampton.gov.uk                                                                                                                                                        

No Lessons Learnt Responsibility Proposed action to be taken Target date

3 Either the project’s SRO or 
Project Manager should be 
requested to attend future 
Project Assurance Group 
meetings to provide updates 
on the project.

Chair of Project 
Review Group

The Project Assurance Group, chaired by the Director of 
Finance or the Strategic Director for Place, will provide officer 
oversight and challenge for major capital projects and 
programmes.

There is a standing item on Project Assurance Group meeting 
agenda to provide an update on all major capital programmes 
through Verto performance dashboard reporting.

The Programme Director or Project Manager will provide an 
update to Project Assurance Group when required and include 
regular updates as part of project planning.

With immediate 
effect

4 A quality control process 
should be implemented to 
ensure all outstanding 
matters, discussed at Project 
Assurance Group, are 
promptly followed up.

Chair of Project 
Review Group

Projects and Programmes Team is to assess and review the 
controls in place for feeding back to Project Assurance Group. 

There is a standing item on Project Assurance Group meeting 
agenda to provide an update on all major capital programmes 
through Verto performance dashboard reporting.

With immediate 
effect

P
age 25



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

wolverhampton.gov.uk                                                                                                                                                        

No Lessons Learnt Responsibility Proposed action to be taken Target date

5 The Council’s project 
management system (Verto) 
should be kept up to date 
throughout the lifecycle of the 
project. An escalation 
process should be 
established where non-
compliance has been 
identified i.e. reported to the 
Project Assurance Group.

Senior 
Responsible 
Officer

Projects and 
Programmes 
Manager

The Senior Responsible Officer and Project Manager will ensure 
adequate project support to maintain Verto.

A monthly “highlight report” is produced by the Projects and 
Programmes Team which sets out the status of each project or 
programme is presented to Directorate Leadership, Wider 
Leadership team meetings and provided to the Audit team.

A performance dashboard has recently been developed that 
highlights non-compliance and areas of risk which in addition is 
present to the Project Assurance Group. 

With immediate 
effect

Implemented

6 All project documentation 
should be stored under the 
Council’s project folder to 
ensure a full audit trail of 
decisions is kept and 
assuring business continuity.

Senior 
Responsible 
Officer

Projects and 
Programmes 
Manager

The Senior Responsible Officer and Project Manager will agree 
at the start of a project how document storage and management 
will be undertaken. This will be recorded in the minutes of the 
Board. 

The Projects and Programmes Team provides advice on 
document storage and management as part of its Project 
Management Training.

With immediate 
effect

With immediate 
effect

P
age 26



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

wolverhampton.gov.uk                                                                                                                                                        

No Lessons Learnt Responsibility Proposed action to be taken Target date

7 Anyone that is allocated an 
assurance role in the project 
team should be given full 
access to all information 
needed to fulfil their role. If 
they are unable to fulfil the 
project role that they have 
been given this should be 
escalated and appropriate 
action taken.

Head of Audit Senior Responsible Officer and Project Manager will conduct 
regular reviews of roles and responsibilities in the Terms of 
Reference document and hold people to account for the 
responsibilities that have been set by the board. If the role is 
deemed to no longer be required, or the person assigned is not 
carrying out the responsibilities, then a new assurance 
representative should be sought. 

Any issues will be raised with the Head of Audit. If this is not 
resolved at first instance then it will be raised at Project 
Assurance Group for resolution.

With immediate 
effect

P
age 27



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

wolverhampton.gov.uk                                                                                                                                                        

No Lessons Learnt Responsibility Proposed action to be taken Target date

8 To support a robust risk 
management process, it is 
essential that the objectives 
of a project are fully defined 
at an early stage – these 
objectives should take 
account of stakeholder 
aspirations to assure that the 
objectives are 
complementary.   

Projects and 
Programmes 
Manager

Senior Responsible Officer and Project Manager will ensure that 
when creating the business case for the project, risks, objectives 
scope etc. are clearly defined. Within the development of the 
business case, the Project Manager should carry out a 
stakeholder analysis. The Project Manager should liaise with 
subject matter experts to support completion of this work. The 
Project Manager should subsequently ensure that the business 
case and objectives etc. are part of a board meeting for board 
members to review and agree. This should be recorded in the 
minutes and noted in the objectives that everyone has agreed to 
the objectives. Any reservations will be considered by the Chair 
of the Board (Project Senior Responsible Officer) who has the 
ultimate decision as they are ultimately accountable for that 
project. 

The Projects and Programmes Team provides advice on risk 
management as part of its Project Management Training in line 
with PRINCE2 methodologies.

With immediate 
effect

P
age 28



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

wolverhampton.gov.uk                                                                                                                                                        

No Lessons Learnt Responsibility Proposed action to be taken Target date

9 The identification of risk and 
its management throughout 
the project lifecycle is 
essential if objectives are 
going to be delivered and 
cost and schedule over-runs 
avoided (or minimised).

Senior 
Responsible 
Officer

The Senior Responsible Officer is responsible, at the earliest 
stage possible, to create a risk workshop with key project 
members. This will identify key risks and start the risk register, 
which is held within Verto. The Senior Responsible Officer and 
Project Manager are to agree regular intervals, where 
independent review of the risk register and its management are 
undertaken. This can be done by internal audit or, for major 
schemes, an external risk management company should be 
sought. Project Manager to ensure that risks are a high agenda 
item at board meetings and major risks are covered at every 
meeting.

The Projects and Programmes Team provides advice on risk 
management as part of its Project Management Training in line 
with PRINCE2 methodologies.

There is a standing item on Project Assurance Group meeting 
agenda to provide an update on all major capital programmes 
through Verto performance dashboard reporting.
 

With immediate 
effect

P
age 29



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

wolverhampton.gov.uk                                                                                                                                                        

No Lessons Learnt Responsibility Proposed action to be taken Target date

10 Risks and assumptions must 
be documented and 
assessed throughout the 
project lifecycle to support 
clear communication, 
targeted and appropriate 
management of uncertainty, 
the management and 
understanding of change, and 
ultimately to support project 
assurance and decision-
making.

Senior 
Responsible 
Officer

Projects and 
Programme 
Manager

The Senior Responsible Officer will ensure that Verto is utilised 
and updated throughout the life of a project.

A monthly “highlight report” is produced by the Projects and 
Programmes Team which sets out the status of each project or 
programme is presented to Directorate Leadership, Wider 
Leadership team meetings and provided to the Audit team.

A performance dashboard has recently been developed that 
highlights non-compliance and areas of risk which in addition is 
present to the Project Assurance Group. 

With immediate 
effect

Implemented

P
age 30



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

wolverhampton.gov.uk                                                                           

APPENDIX A – Markets Relocation - timeline of key events

Date Timeline Event
January 2016 Feasibility study produced by supplier A outlining the various options for the 

relocation of the City’s market. The costings provided were for an aspirational 
scheme (£4.8 million), middle scheme (£3.3 million) and basic scheme (£2.1 
million).

February 2016 Supplier A procured under the Council’s approved framework for the provision 
of asset management, surveying and design services for specific projects 
such as the markets regeneration project.

November 2016 Supplier in conjunction with their architects produce a Market Feasibility 
Strategy and Vision document. Outlining proposed plan to relocate markets 
by May 2018.

December 2016 Executive Team endorse the approach for relocating the retail market at 
Westside to the Snow Hill site at Southside to secure a date for achieving 
Vacant Possession of Westside. 

January 2017 Cabinet approve the strategy to relocate the retail market to the Snow Hill site 
at Southside and approve a capital budget of £2.5 million. 

February 2017 Cabinet approve capital programme which included £2.5 million for the 
relocation of the retail market to Southside.

March 2017 Cabinet (Resources) Panel approve the award of the contract to supplier A for 
project management and design.

April 2017 Cabinet (Resources) Panel approve delegated authority to the Cabinet 
Member for City Environment, in consultation with the Director of 
Governance, to approve the award of a contract for the works required to 
relocate the markets. 

May 2017 Invitation to tender published on procurement portal.
June 2017 Supplier H are the only company to return a tender in respect of the scheme 

amounting to £4.9 million.
June 2017 A request is submitted to Cabinet (Resources) Panel proposing an increase to 

the capital budget of £4.9 million, based on the tender that had been received. 
June 2017 Supplier A hold a post tender review with supplier H. 
July 2017 Full Council is asked to note that capital budget (increase from £2.9 million to 

£4.9 million) required to instruct a contractor to commence the market 
relocation project will not be released until a further paper is considered by 
Cabinet (Resources) Panel.

July 2017 Cabinet (Resources) Panel approve the release of the capital budget (as 
detailed in the capital programme which had been agreed by Full Council on 
19 July 2017) for the markets relocation scheme be approved.

October 2017 The appointment of supplier H approved by Cabinet Member for City 
Economy via an Individual Executive Decision Notice.

October 2017 Supplier H start on site.

Page 31



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

wolverhampton.gov.uk                                                                           

Limitations inherent to the internal auditor’s work

This report has been prepared solely for the 
council in accordance with the terms and 
conditions set out in the terms of reference. 
Internal audit does not accept or assume 
any liability of duty of care for any other 
purpose or to any other party. This report 
should not be disclosed to any third party, 
quoted or referred to without prior consent. 
Internal audit has undertaken this review 
subject to the limitations outlined below. 
Internal control
 Internal control systems, no matter how 

well designed and operated, are 
affected by inherent limitations. These 
include the possibility of poor 
judgement in decision making, human 
error, control processes being 
deliberately circumvented by 
employees and others, management 
overriding controls and the occurrence 
of unforeseeable circumstances.

Responsibilities of management and auditors
 It is management’s responsibility to 

develop and maintain sound systems of 
risk management, internal control and 
governance for the prevention and 
detection of irregularities and fraud. 
Internal audit work should not be seen as a 
substitute for management’s 
responsibilities for the design and 
operation of these systems. 

 Internal audit endeavours to plan audit 
work so that it has a reasonable 
expectation of detecting significant control 
weakness and if detected, will carry out 
additional work directed towards 
identification of consequent fraud or other 
irregularities. However, internal audit 
procedures alone, even when carried out 
with due professional care, do not 
guarantee that fraud will be detected. 

 Accordingly, these examinations by 
internal auditors should not be relied upon 
solely to disclose fraud or other 
irregularities which may exist.

Report distribution: Managing Director

All members of the Strategic Executive Board

Head of Business Services

Terms of reference agreed: 4 January 2018

Draft report issued: 2 March 2018

Agreed action plan responses received: 8 June 2018

Final report issued: 11 June 2018

Page 32



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Audit and Risk Committee
25 June 2018

Report title Wolverhampton Interchange (Train Station) – 
Lessons Learned

Accountable director Keith Ireland, Managing Director

Originating service Audit

Accountable employee(s)

Report to be/has been 
considered by

Peter Farrow
Tel
Email

Strategic 
Executive Board

Head of Audit
01902 554460
peter.farrow@wolverhampton.gov.uk

22 May 2018

Recommendations for decision:

The Committee is recommended to:

1. Review and comment on the lessons learned action plans.
 

2. Oversee their implementation over the next 12 months and to receive a quarterly update 
report on progress with implementing the lessons learned.

3. Support the actions taken to date which include: 
a) To improve programme and project management
b) To ensure better financial modelling

Recommendations for noting:

The Committee is asked to:

1. Note the Managing Director’s decision to make the report an open report to ensure 
maximum transparency.

Page 33

Agenda Item No: 4

mailto:peter.farrow@wolverhampton.gov.uk


This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

1.0 Purpose

1.1 That the Audit and Risk Committee review and comment upon the content of the 
Wolverhampton Interchange (Train Station) – Lessons Learned report. 

1.2 The report provides an overview of the Wolverhampton Interchange (Train Station) 
project and the associated lessons learnt and action plan that the City of Wolverhampton 
Council is committed to deliver against. As a learning organisation we act to be open and 
transparent about what we can learn and improve in the future.

1.3 To seek approval of the Audit and Risk Committee to oversee the implementation of the 
lessons learned report over the next 12 months.

2.0 Background

2.1 Wolverhampton is a principal station on the West Coast Mainline handling over 4.75 
million passengers per annum. However, the existing station facilities and capacity are 
no longer fit for purpose. The Wolverhampton Interchange Programme proposes to 
deliver a multi-modal transport hub comprising a new train station, multi-storey car park 
extension and an extended tram connection.

2.2 The Council’s Managing Director commissioned Audit Services to undertake a lessons 
learned review for three capital projects, which included the Interchange project, that 
have been subject to highly publicised overspends. The Wolverhampton Interchange’s 
budget in respect of the train station has increased from £12 million to £19 million. The 
total cost of funding in respect of the whole of the Interchange Programme at the time of 
the audit review amounted to £81.8, which included a capital investment of £16 million 
from the City of Wolverhampton Council. 

2.3 The terms of reference for the review were agreed by the Council’s Strategic Executive 
Team.

2.4 Specialist external support was procured from Equib to assist Audit Services undertake 
this review. The external adviser will be present at the Audit and Risk Committee.

3.0 Progress, options, discussion

3.1 Progress on the implementation of the actions contained within the report will be reported 
back to the Audit and Risk Committee on a quarterly basis over the coming 12 months.

4.0 Financial implications

4.1 There are no direct financial implications arising from the recommendations in this report. 
However, the financial impact of the recommendations will be factored into all projects 
going forward. The implementation of the recommendations will contribute to robust 
financial planning and budgetary control in respect to capital projects.
[CN/13062018/G]

Page 34



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

5.0 Legal implications

5.1 There are no legal implications arising from the recommendations in this report. There 
are however possible significant issues surrounding the impact if the recommendations 
are not implemented in full.

           [TC/13062018/O]

6.0 Equalities implications

6.1 There are no equalities implications arising from the recommendations in this report.

7.0 Environmental implications

7.1 There are no environmental implications arising from the recommendations in this report.

8.0 Human resources implications

8.1 The report outlines the absolute necessity of ensuring that qualified and competent 
people and organisations are employed and/or deployed onto large capital programmes. 

9.0 Corporate landlord implications

9.1 There are no Corporate Landlord implications arising from the recommendations in this 
report.

10.0 Schedule of background papers

10.1 A timeline of reports to Members is contained under section 4.6 of the report.

Page 35



This page is intentionally left blank



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

wolverhampton.gov.uk                                                                             

Internal Audit Report: 
Interchange - Train Station – 
Lessons Learnt (2017-2018) 
This report is Public 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Page 37



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

wolverhampton.gov.uk                                                                             

1 Executive Summary

1.1 Introduction

In January 2018 the Council’s Managing Director commissioned Audit Services to undertake a 
lessons learned review of three high profile projects within the City. One of the projects was the 
demolition and redevelopment of the train station which forms part of the Wolverhampton 
Interchange Programme.
Wolverhampton is a principal station on the West Coast Mainline handling over 4.75 million 
passengers per annum. However, the existing station facilities and capacity are no longer fit for 
purpose. 
The Interchange Programme has been subject to adverse publicity in terms of increased project 
costs from those originally reported and pose a reputational risk to the Council.
At this point to mitigate the risk of further cost escalation on the scheme, a guaranteed maximum 
price of £19.9 million has been approved by Cabinet (Resources) Panel on 14 November 2017 for 
the station contract with supplier M, and negotiations continuing with the objective of securing 
reductions on specific work packages.  At the time of this review the construction phase of the 
train station had not yet started.

1.2 Scope of the review

A terms of reference was provided by the Managing Director outlining the scope of the review. 
This included the following:

 Production of a detailed timeline of events
 The process for determining an “early indication figure” for budgetary purposes and the impact 

this is having on the project
 Establish what caused the project to fail
 Identify the actual changes to the specification, and the resulting increase in costs
 Review the governance arrangements for the project
 Review the resourcing arrangements for the project in terms of effectiveness
 Ascertain whether the project would have benefited from early intervention from various 

sources i.e. political support or external specialists
 Ascertain whether there was any good practice or lessons already being learnt on the project
 Review the procurement arrangements to ensure best practice was followed in the 

procurement of contractors
 Review the project risk management arrangements for the establishment of contingency costs
 Review the surveying arrangements in place for the assessing the condition of the building
 Provide an opinion on how the Council can follow best practice in order to avoid the guestimate 

of the programme being considerably different from the actual budget
 Review external funding arrangements to ensure the Council is maximising its funding 

opportunities
 Review the programme to ascertain whether subsequent issues could have been identified 

earlier
 Seek external advice in terms of how best practice could have been applied to this project

Page 38



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

wolverhampton.gov.uk                                                                             

In order to assist Audit Services with this review specialist external support was obtained from an 
external consultant from supplier B. Who primarily specialise in project risk management. 

For the purpose of this review discussions were held with the following individuals to form the 
findings of this review:

 Project Manager
 Head of City Development
 Projects & Programmes Manager
 Director for Commercial Services
 Finance Business Partner
 Assistant Regeneration Officer
 Solicitor, Legal Services
 Director of Development, Midland Metro Alliance

It should be noted that the Council’s external auditors were invited to provide their opinion of the 
project and provide examples of good practice that could be applied, where appropriate. They 
concluded it would not be appropriate to provide an opinion on this project as to do so, would 
potentially fetter their discretion, as they anticipated reviewing it as part of their future work in 
relation to their value for money conclusion.

1.3 Acknowledgement

A number of employees gave their time and co-operation during the course of this review.  We 
would like to record our thanks to all of the individuals concerned.

Page 39



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

wolverhampton.gov.uk                                                                             

2 Management Summary/Conclusion
2.1 Following a review of the timeline of events (Appendix A), and findings detailed below, we 

have identified a number of issues where lessons should be learnt specific to the train 
station. These are as follows:

 Failure to report to Cabinet an adequate budget from the outset of the scheme. It was 
reported to Cabinet (Resources) Panel on 1 November 2016 that supplier E were 
believed to have an inadequate understanding of how the rail industry operates. This 
resulted in them being removed from the project and the contract being retendered. A re-
tendering exercise resulted in the appointment of an alternative contractor. Subsequent 
Network Rail design approval (F001 approval in principle) for the train station took place, 
allowing design costings and a fixed price design and build contract sum of £19 million 
being agreed.

 The absence of a specific contingency budget for the train station. A shared interchange 
programme contingency of £12.5 million has been set to cover unforeseen cost increases 
on both the train station and the metro extension. However, at the time of this review £4 
million had been expended to cover a funding shortfall. Additionally, there will be a 
number of exclusions and clarifications which sit outside the fixed price design and build 
contract. The financial risk associated with these items has not been accounted for in a 
specific contingency budget for the train station project;

 Failure to include Corporate Procurement at the beginning of the project including 
representation on the steering group. This would have provided in house expertise and 
intervention at key stages of project from Council employees who have rail industry 
experience;

 Failure to follow the Council’s approved project management approach. This was 
highlighted through the underutilisation and updating of the Verto system; 

 Failure to maintain the Council’s project document portal (Sharepoint) with key 
documents to support decisions taken;

 Under estimating the importance of the project from the outset in terms of the risk it posed 
to the Wolverhampton economy and the reputational risk to the Council. This should have 
appeared as a standalone risk on the Council’s Strategic Risk Register;

 Failure to update the Project Assurance Group with issues relating to the train station 
project. 

Page 40



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

wolverhampton.gov.uk                                                                             

3 Background Information
3.1 Project costs reported to Cabinet

3.1.1 As part of the interchange scheme, the train station development is being delivered by a 
partnership including, the City Council, Neptune, Centro, Network Rail, Virgin and Canals 
and River Trust.  In 2014, the partnership business case for the scheme initially set out 
estimated project costs for the interchange project shown in the below table: These costs 
were based on the originally appointed contractor, supplier E’s cost plan.

3.1.2 Extract from the Business Case

Table 1: Outturn scheme cost estimate (£ million)

Scheme 
Element

Preparatory/ 
Advanced

Works Costs
Base Scheme

Costs QRA Total

Metro 1.8 14.2 2.0 18.0
Station & Car 
Park

0.6 19.4 1.4 21.4

Total 2.4 33.6 3.4 39.4

3.1.3 A subsequent report that went to Cabinet on 11 March 2015 reported on these project costs 
as stated below:

Project Costs Total 
(£m)

New Station Building 12.0 
Relocation of Network Rail Communication 
Equipment 

0.6 

Multi-Storey Car Park 8.8 
Tram 18.0 
Total 39.4 

3.1.4 However, it was not made clear to Cabinet that the costs included in the business case 
were estimated, with the report stating: ‘The costs of the scheme are highlighted at 
£39.4 million including £12.0 million for the new station building’.

3.1.5 Enquiries made with the current project manager established that project costs were 
unlikely to have remained at £12 million for the new station building as the project was not 
at detailed design stage at March 2015 when the project costs were presented to Cabinet.

3.1.6 Corporate Procurement have advised that they were not involved with the process for the 
procurement of the contractor, which was undertaken by an externally appointed firm. 
Further, Corporate Procurement did not see any cost reports which were presented to 
Cabinet by the Head of City Development.

Lesson learned 1: All reports taken to Cabinet for internally and externally procured major 
projects should be reviewed by Corporate Procurement for accuracy, feasibility and 
reasonableness of costs.

Page 41



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

wolverhampton.gov.uk                                                                             

4 Detailed Findings
4.1 Procurement of Contractors for the Train Station

4.1.1 Under the 2007 Wolverhampton Interchange Development Agreement, Neptune (the 
Council’s appointed scheme developers now known as ION) were responsible for the 
recruitment and appointment of a contractor for the demolition and redevelopment of the 
station.

4.1.2 The business case for the scheme stated Neptune, in conjunction with Network Rail 
Infrastructure Projects selected those contractors from its framework which had appropriate 
rail industry capability as defined by Network Rail’s Link Up accreditation scheme.

4.1.3 Following a competition for the appointment of the contractor, supplier E were selected. 
However, Corporate Procurement were not involved with the organisation, evaluation or 
selection of the contractor.

4.1.4 A report to Cabinet on 1 November 2016 stated that the interchange project costs had 
increased. However, it was not made clear in the report which costs related directly to the 
train station and which costs were part of the wider Interchange Scheme.

4.1.5 Further it was reported to Cabinet at this meeting that:

 Supplier E were challenged with the increased costs but this only resulted in a further 
escalation of forecast costs. As a result, the Interchange Steering Group agreed in May 
2016 to remove supplier E from the main station construction element of the 
programme and to go back out to tender. This was in order to secure a contractor with a 
better understanding of working with the rail industry as well as greater certainty over 
programme costs.

 Concerns about supplier E included their lack of understanding of how the rail industry 
operates and the contractor increasingly building in large contingencies to compensate 
for their inability to predict or prevent rail-industry related costs. 

4.1.6 The Steering Group minutes of May 2016 state that Neptune advised the Steering Group 
that supplier E had now been removed from the Station Design process. However, this is 
not considered to be sufficient detail to fully evidence the decision which was reported to 
Cabinet some five months after the Steering Group meeting. 

Lesson learnt 2: Project working group meeting minutes should be sufficiently detailed to 
fully evidence and support decisions taken.

Lesson learnt 3: Cabinet should kept informed of key developments on major high-profile 
projects on a timely basis.

Page 42



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

wolverhampton.gov.uk                                                                             

4.1.7 The business case stated that ‘Neptune, in conjunction with Network Rail Infrastructure 
Projects, selected those contractors from its framework which had appropriate rail industry 
capability as defined by Network Rail’s Link Up accreditation scheme’.  This is in 
contradiction with the removal of supplier E from the main station construction project and 
the above reasons reported to Cabinet for this removal.

4.1.8 Enquiries made with Corporate Procurement established that they had no representation on 
the Steering Group and had no involvement in the procurement process of supplier E as 
this was being undertaken by the external consultants Neptune.

4.1.9 Further, evidence was found regarding queries raised by Corporate Procurement which 
were not responded to during the re tendering exercise being undertaken to replace 
supplier E.  The then Head of Procurement raised the following observations after he was 
copied in on an email by the former Council’s Head of Major Projects to ION about the 
tender position paper from supplier M.  

 Supplier M’s tender submission assumed that hoarding could be erected on platform 1 
to provide a physical barrier between the operational railway, the demolition and the new 
build site with works being undertaken without any special protection;

 hoarding on the rail platform would require Network Rail and train operators involvement 
and approvals;

 There did not appear to be any allowance in the supplier M’s management costs for rail 
possessions, isolations of the overhead line, signalling dis/re-connections of platform 
equipment.

 The suitability of the model used for inviting tenders from contractors.

4.1.10 No response was received from the former Head of Major Projects to the above and it is 
unclear if risks around these issues have been managed or mitigated.

Lesson learnt 4: Corporate Procurement should have representation on working groups 
for all externally procured major projects to provide input and intervention at key stages 
of procurement.

Lesson learnt 5: Issues raised by the Corporate Procurement Manager about supplier 
M’s tender submission should be investigated to ensure these have been resolved.

4.2 Contingency Arrangements

4.2.1 It was reported to Cabinet (Resources) Panel on 14 November 2017 that:

‘As with all fixed price design and build construction contracts there will be a number of 
exclusions and clarifications which sit outside the building contract. The financial risk 
associated with these items are covered within the project contingency budget, which sits 
within the overall £81.8 million funding envelope’

Page 43



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

wolverhampton.gov.uk                                                                             

4.2.2 However, enquiries made with the project manager identified that no specific contingency 
had been allocated to the train station, rather a combined shared programme contingency 
of £12.5 million being set for both the train station and metro extension.  Further, due to 
programme constraints the programme funding for the train station was secured ahead of 
fixing the contract value with supplier M and as a result the funding ask was based on a 
contract sum which was only 80% market tested. 

4.2.3 Following the award of the fixed price design & build contract, circa £4 million would be 
required to be drawn down from the shared programme contingency of £12.5 million to 
cover contract award. This would leaving £8.5 million contingiency for potential future cost 
increase on both the train station and metro extension projects. 

  
Lesson learnt 6: Project specific contingencies should be set for each individual project 
to ensure potential project costs increases are covered by dedicated contingencies. 

4.3 Project Governance

4.3.1 At the time of this review governance arrangements were found to be in place, with the 
project organisation governance structure in place. The Senior Responsible Officer for the 
project is stated in Verto as the Strategic Director - Place.  Monthly meetings were 
evidenced for both the Interchange Steering and Working Groups. It was noted, however, 
that whilst the Council’s Legal Services and Transportation departments were represented 
Corporate Procurement were not included in the governance structure.

4.3.2 The following reporting arrangements were in place for the project: 

Monthly 
meetings

Interchange 
Partnership 
Steering 
Group

A monthly Steering Group meets which is chaired by the 
Strategic Director for Place to manage the interchange 
projects including the train station.

Monthly 
meetings

Interchange 
Partnership 
Working 
Group

A monthly Working Group meets which is chaired by the 
Project Manager to manage the interchange projects 
including the train station. 

Monthly 
Meetings

Interchange 
Partnership 
Working 
Group

A monthly highlight report prepared by the Project Manager 
is taken to the working group each month covering:
 Periodic update
 Project status
 Key milestones
 Planned for next period
 Key risks
 Key issues

Fortnightly 
Meetings

Project 
Assurance 
Group 
(PAG)

We were advised by the Project & Resources Manager that 
the train station project has not been presented to the 
Project Assurance Group.

Page 44



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

wolverhampton.gov.uk                                                                             

4.4 Project Management

4.4.1 The externally appointed project managers have not followed the Council’s approved 
project management systems.  From the outset of this project, no information was filed on 
SharePoint. An assistant regeneration officer informed us that in May 2017, some two years 
after project approval, a bulk upload of information to the SharePoint site was transferred 
from the project manager.

4.4.2 However, this did not allow decisions taken prior to this point to be fully evidenced on 
Council systems.  A large volume of documents was uploaded in a file structure that did not 
follow the format of other City Centre Projects. This has resulted in a repository of 
documents that does not provide an audit trail of the project life cycle.  Further, project files 
are still retained by the external project manager and have not been uploaded to the City 
Centre Portfolio sharepoint site. 

Lesson learnt 7: The project’s Senior Responsible Officer should ensure that project 
managers are keeping sharepoint up to date throughout the lifecycle of the project. 

Lesson learnt 8: A dedicated resource for maintaining accurate information should be 
used for major projects. 

4.4.3 A review of an extract of Verto identified:   

 Underutilisation of the Council’s project management system Verto with key issues 
encountered during the project to date not being recorded and managed;

 The Council’s project management system (Verto) is not being regularly updated by the 
external project managers or by Council employees engaged on this project.

 Highlight reports have not been produced as the project has not entered the 
construction stage.

Lesson learnt 9: The project’s Senior Responsible Officer should ensure that project 
managers are keeping Verto up-to-date throughout the lifecycle of the project. 

Lesson learnt 10: An escalation process should be developed where it is identified that 
the Verto system is not being updated in a timely manner.

4.4.4 It is acknowledged that the interchange project predated the formation of the project 
assurance group.  However, the project assurance group has not been updated with issues 
relating to the train station project and has not been included on the Interchange train 
station organisation governance structure.

Lesson learnt 11: The project assurance group should be kept informed of any issues 
relating to the train station project. 

Lesson learnt 12: The project assurance group should be included in the governance 
structure of the Interchange train station.

Page 45



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

wolverhampton.gov.uk                                                                             

4.4.5 Key project risks are included in a monthly Highlight Report which is produced by the 
project manager and presented to the working group.  Further, the interchange project 
including the train station has been included on the Council’s Strategic Risk Register.

Lesson learnt 13: As the train station enters the construction phase, the project will need 
to be kept under review and may need to appear as an individual risk on the Council’s 
strategic risk register. 

4.5 Supplier B’s Assessment of Risk Management

4.5.1 The same broad issues are evident in the budget and contingency setting that were found 
in the other projects reviewed.

4.5.2 The review of the risk management on the interchange project has been limited to 
documentation provided by the audit team and, as a result, is based on assumptions drawn 
from this documentation.  For example, from the early pricing documentation the term 
“QRA” has been used in the definition of contingency requirements detailed in the Business 
Case (August 2014). We have made the assumption that a full quantified risk assessment 
(QCRA) has been carried out and a Monte Carlo simulation run to derive the contingency 
levels quoted.  There is no evidence that at this early stage that there was any interpretation 
or review of the outputs of the assumed QCRA or statement of the levels of confidence 
adopted in the contingency decision-making.

4.5.3 The general reporting and management of risk by advisors through the highlight reports and 
the issues with this and the use of the Council’s project management systems are covered 
elsewhere in this report.

Lesson learnt 14: The analytical methodology and decision-making criteria in 
contingency-setting must be documented to allow for later challenge and change 
management. 

4.5.4 The supplier E pricing of the station assumed a contingency of 5% on construction costs 
and does not reference any formal analysis of the basis of this contingency setting.  There 
does not appear to have been any challenge to this low percentage in the documentation 
reviewed.  

Lesson learnt 15: In the review of project estimates and bids the contingency levels 
adopted or proposed should be challenged based on benchmarking against similar 
projects at the same stage of development. 

4.5.5 As stated above the methodology used to set the contingency across the interchange 
project is not clear in the documentation, the lack of a detailed assessment for each of the 
elements of the project is poor practice given the complexity and value.

Lesson learnt 16: The grouping of projects into a programme does not reduce the 
requirement for detailed risk assessments for each of the constituent projects.  There is 
an additional requirement to overlay a programme-level risk register to capture cross-
cutting risks and interface and dependency risks.

Page 46



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

wolverhampton.gov.uk                                                                             

4.5.6 A QCRA was carried out in May 2017 and is based on standard practice.  The assessment 
incorporated most of the existing documentation available and supports the appointment of 
supplier M.  The QCRA includes estimating uncertainty (the inherent variability in cost and 
quantity in any estimate) and models this both separately to and with the risk.  This is 
aligned with best practice.  The choice of the P50 is highlighted in the report as a low 
percentile at which to set contingency, particularly given that there is no documented 
rationale for using this level of confidence. 

4.5.7 Given the experience with supplier E and their discomfort with the management of the 
interfaces with Network Rail and the cost escalation experienced, it would be prudent to set 
the contingency at a higher level of confidence.

4.5.8 P50 is the confidence level at which a project is as likely to overspend as underspend. 
Given the sensitivity of the project and its complex interfaces, the contingency could have 
defensibly been set at P80 or P90.  The management of risk and the link with the change 
control process is the mechanism through which the contingency can be effectively 
managed.

Lesson learnt 17: If a detailed QCRA is carried out to support the setting of project 
contingency levels, advice should be sought from a risk specialist about the appropriate 
confidence level from the analysis to use.

Page 47



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

wolverhampton.gov.uk                                                                             

4.6 Reporting to Elected Members

4.6.1 A review of Cabinet Reports (detailed in the table below) has confirmed that elected 
members of the Council have been kept informed of the train station project to date. 
However, lessons learned have been stated to ensure accurate and complete information is 
reported to elected members and senior officers of the Council. 

Date of 
Report Meeting Nature of Report

11/03/2015 Cabinet Project costs presented to Cabinet at £39.4 
million (including £12 million for the new station 
building) CoWC contribution £1 million.

31/03/2015 Cabinet Member 
Briefing- City assets

Interchange update on railway and interchange 
development work

27/01/2016 Council State of the City Address 2015/16, highlighted of 
the railway and interchange development work

27/10/2016 Cabinet Member Briefing 
– City Economy

To note the appointment of new contractors for 
the station demolition/ reconstruction; to note the 
approval, in principle of additional funding from 
HS2 Connectivity funding for the programme; 
and to authorise the acceptance of grant of £10.1 
million from Centro/West Midlands Combined 
Authority towards the programme

01/11/2016 Cabinet (Resources) 
Panel

To note that additional estimated costs have 
increased by £12.4 million on the Project and 
that sources of funding have been identified to 
address some or all of the additional funding 
required and that actions are underway to secure 
the appropriate levels of funding.
To note the developer’s decision to terminate the 
agreement with the current building contractor 
and appoint a new contractor to demolish and 
redevelop Wolverhampton Rail
Station. To note that a separate report will be 
presented to Council to seek approval to the 
Authority underwriting additional costs of up to 
£8.1 million.

9/11/2016 Council To resolved that the Council underwrites 
additional costs of £8.1 million initially funded 
through prudential borrowing with the 
expectation that external funding would be 
secured in due course be approved. To resolved 
that the capital programme was updated to 
reflect the additional budget required be 
approved.

28/02/2017 Cabinet (Resources) 
Panel

Resolved that the Council enter into a 
Supplemental Agreement with the delivery 

Page 48



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

wolverhampton.gov.uk                                                                             

Date of 
Report Meeting Nature of Report

partners for the Wolverhampton Interchange 
programme.

25/07/2017 Cabinet (Resources) 
Panel

The principle of the Council bidding on the Corn 
Hill site based on its strategic importance in the 
context of the Interchange masterplan be 
endorsed.  Cabinet is being requested to 
potentially ‘underwrite’ the cashflow on the 
Station component of the Interchange project. 

18/09/2017 Cabinet Member Briefing Interchange update  

14/11/2017 Cabinet (Resources) 
Panel

To ensure there is no further cost escalation on 
the programme Ion / CWC have agreed a 
guaranteed maximum price of £19.9 million for 
the station contract with supplier M. Negotiations 
are continuing with the objective of securing 
reductions on specific work packages.

That financial expenditure associated with both 
awards of the station contract and limits/caps 
agreed in the Letter of Intent (LOI) with supplier 
M be authorised.

Expenditure in respect of preliminary works for 
the construction of the City of Wolverhampton 
Railway Station be authorised.

To enable the Council to let the contract to 
supplier M ahead of the WMCA completing their 
final funding approvals a letter be sought from 
the Section 151 officer at the WMCA confirming 
they are content that the Council now enter into 
the contract with supplier M.

27/01/2016 Council State of the City Address 2015-2016, highlighted 
of the railway and interchange development work

27/10/2016 Cabinet Member Briefing 
– City Economy

To note the appointment of new contractors for 
the station demolition/ reconstruction; to note the 
approval, in principle of additional funding from 
HS2 Connectivity funding for the programme; 
and to authorise the acceptance of grant of £10.1 
million from Centro/West Midlands Combined 
Authority towards the programme

Page 49



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

wolverhampton.gov.uk                                                                             

4.7 Due Diligence

4.7.1 A Dun and Bradstreet report was commissioned by Audit Services on 21 February 2018 to 
assess the current financial status of the company.  Whilst it was noted that the overall 
business risk was stated to be ‘low – moderate’, the Dun and Bradstreet report included a 
link to recent online media articles highlighting the effect of the fallout from the collapse of 
the construction company Carillion about supplier M, and the company’s plans to raise £150 
million of capital to bolster its balance sheet due to additional financial obligations in the 
wake of projects linked to the collapse of construction.
 
Lesson learnt 18: On going monitoring of the financial status of supplier M should be 
undertaken.  

Page 50



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

wolverhampton.gov.uk                                                                             

5 Where we are now
5.1 It was reported to Cabinet (Resources) Panel on 14 November 2017 that, ‘to ensure there is 

no further cost escalation on the scheme ION agreed to guaranteed a maximum price of 
£19.9 million for the station contract with supplier M with negotiations continuing with the 
objective of securing reductions on specific work packages’.  However, the current project 
manager has advised that the contract is a fixed price design and build not a “guaranteed 
maximum price”. As with all fixed priced contracts, whilst the contract reflects the approved 
scheme designs at a point in time, there are mechanisms under the contract to claim 
variations for any unforeseen events which should be covered by contingencies.

5.2 On 14 November 2017 Cabinet (Resources) Panel subsequently agreed a recommendation 
that financial expenditure associated with the award of the station contract and limits/caps 
agreed in the letter of intent with supplier M be authorised.  It is understood from the Head of 
City Development that construction is due to start on the 1 June 2018.

Page 51



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

wolverhampton.gov.uk 

6 Lessons Learnt – Action Plan

No Lessons Learnt Responsibility Proposed action to be taken Target date
1 All reports taken to Cabinet 

for internally and externally 
procured major projects 
should be reviewed by 
Corporate Procurement for 
accuracy, feasibility and 
reasonableness of costs

Head of 
Procurement

All awards of contract reports are now submitted to Cabinet 
(Resources) Panel through the Procurement report unless 
Procurement has advised otherwise. This ensures 
Procurement oversight of all awards of contract.

The Director of Commercial Services now sits on Place 
Leadership Team which has oversight of reports going to 
Cabinet. 

Procurement representation will be a standard role on Terms 
of Reference (TOR) for projects. 

The Senior Responsible Officer will ensure the TOR are 
approved in accordance with the relevant governance and 
that a Procurement representative is a member of the Board.

Implemented

P
age 52



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

wolverhampton.gov.uk 

No Lessons Learnt Responsibility Proposed action to be taken Target date
2 Project working group 

meeting minutes should be 
sufficiently detailed to fully 
evidence and support 
decisions taken.

Senior 
Responsible 
Officer

The Senior Responsible Officer and Project Manager will 
agree what project support resources will be required. This 
will be recorded in the minutes of the Board meeting.

The Board members will review the minutes of previous 
meetings as to their adequacy and content.

Any key decisions from the minutes will be transferred to the 
Decisions Log within Verto.

The Projects and Programmes Team provides advice on 
minuting and tracking decisions as part of its Project 
Management Training in line with PRINCE2 methodologies.

With immediate 
effect

3 Cabinet should kept informed 
of key developments on 
major high-profile projects on 
a timely basis.

Senior 
Responsible 
Officer

The Senior Responsible Officer will ensure that decisions and 
reporting in relation to the project are made in accordance 
with the Council’s Constitution.

The Senior Responsible Officer will be brief the relevant 
Cabinet Member as needed and as a minimum on a monthly 
basis.

With immediate 
effect

4 Corporate Procurement 
should have representation 
on working groups for all 
externally procured major 
projects to provide input and 
intervention at key stages of 
procurement.

Projects and 
Programmes 
Manager

Senior 
Responsible 
Officer

Procurement representation will be a standard role on Terms 
Of Reference (TOR) for projects. 

The Senior Responsible Officer will ensure the TOR are 
approved in accordance with the relevant governance and 
that a Procurement representative is a member of the Board.

With immediate 
effect

P
age 53



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

wolverhampton.gov.uk 

No Lessons Learnt Responsibility Proposed action to be taken Target date
5 Issues raised by the 

Corporate Procurement 
Manager about supplier M’s 
tender submission should be 
investigated to ensure these 
have been resolved.

Senior 
Responsible 
Officer

Head of 
Procurement

The Senior Responsible Officer will meet with Procurement to 
ensure that all concerns raised as part of the tender 
submission are resolved and arising risks are suitably 
managed.

All awards of contract reports are now submitted to Cabinet 
(Resources) Panel through the Procurement report unless 
Procurement has advised otherwise. This ensures that issues 
raised by Procurement are captured within any tender.

The formation of the Project Assurance Group also ensures 
Procurement oversight of major projects. 

Issues raised by any external adviser will be flagged on the 
Issues Log by the Project Manager and captured in the 
minutes at Board to provide an audit trail.

With immediate 
effect

Implemented

P
age 54



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

wolverhampton.gov.uk 

No Lessons Learnt Responsibility Proposed action to be taken Target date
6 Project specific contingencies 

should be set for each 
individual project to ensure 
potential project costs 
increases are covered by 
dedicated contingencies.

Chief Accountant External specialist project and risk assurance consultancy has 
been procured to support the delivery of projects and 
programmes.

In addition, a Commercial Business Partner and Audit 
Business Partner have been provided training to be able to 
undertake peer reviews of major projects. This will provide an 
additional opportunity to challenge proposed contingencies 
and robustness of plans

Finance are represented on all major capital programmes and 
are members of the Board and working groups. This provides 
assurance and challenge around contingencies and 
programme budgets. All formal reports to require sign-off from 
Finance and therefore Finance comments and approval must 
be sought before submission.

Implemented

7 The project’s Senior 
Responsible Officer should 
ensure that project managers 
are keeping sharepoint up to 
date throughout the lifecycle 
of the project.

Senior 
Responsible 
Officer

Projects and 
Programmes 
Manager

The Senior Responsible Officer and Project Manager will 
agree at the start of a project how document storage and 
management will be undertaken. This will be recorded in the 
minutes of the Board. 

The Projects and Programmes Team provides advice on 
document storage and management as part of its Project 
Management Training

With immediate 
effect

P
age 55



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

wolverhampton.gov.uk 

No Lessons Learnt Responsibility Proposed action to be taken Target date
8 A dedicated resource for 

maintaining accurate 
information should be used 
for major projects.

Senior 
Responsible 
Officer

The Senior Responsible Officer and Project Manager will 
agree what project support resources will be required. This 
will be recorded in the minutes of the Board meeting.

The Senior Responsible Officer and Programme Manager will 
seek advice and support to recruit the appropriate project 
support resources and to ensure that budget is available for 
external assurance if required.

With immediate 
effect

9 The project’s Senior 
Responsible Officer should 
ensure that project managers 
are keeping Verto up-to-date 
throughout the lifecycle of the 
project.

Senior 
Responsible 
Officer

Projects and 
Programme 
Manager

The Senior Responsible Officer and Project Manager will 
ensure adequate project support to maintain Verto.

A monthly “highlight report” is produced by the Projects and 
Programmes Team which sets out the status of each project 
or programme is presented to Directorate Leadership, Wider 
Leadership team meetings and provided to the Audit team.

A performance dashboard has recently been developed that 
highlights non-compliance and areas of risk which in addition 
is present to the Project Assurance Group. 

With immediate 
effect

Implemented

10 An escalation process should 
be developed where it is 
identified that the Verto 
system is not being updated 
in a timely manner.

Projects and 
Programmes 
Manager

A monthly “highlight report” is produced by the Projects and 
Programmes Team which sets out the status of each project 
or programme is presented to Directorate Leadership, Wider 
Leadership team meetings and provided to the Audit team.

A performance dashboard has recently been developed that 
highlights non-compliance and areas of risk which in addition 
is present to the Project Assurance Group. 

Implemented

P
age 56



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

wolverhampton.gov.uk 

No Lessons Learnt Responsibility Proposed action to be taken Target date
11 The project assurance group 

should be kept informed of 
any issues relating to the 
train station project.

Projects and 
Programmes 
Manager

Projects and Programmes will review all major capital 
programmes. Development work is being done with 
Performance team to improve visibility of performance of 
projects.

Project Manager to provide update to Project Assurance 
Group when required and build in regular updates as part of 
project planning.

Project Assurance Group will include a standing item for 
major capital programmes which will include the train station.

With immediate 
effect

12 The project assurance group 
should be included in the 
governance structure of the 
Interchange train station.

Chair of Project 
Assurance Group

The Project Assurance Group, chaired by the Director of 
Finance or the Strategic Director for Place, will provide officer 
oversight and challenge for major capital projects and 
programmes.

There is a standing item on Project Assurance Group meeting 
agenda to provide an update on all major capital programmes 
through Verto performance dashboard reporting.

The Programme Director or Project Manager will provide an 
update to Project Assurance Group when required and 
include regular updates as part of project planning.

With immediate 
effect

P
age 57



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

wolverhampton.gov.uk 

No Lessons Learnt Responsibility Proposed action to be taken Target date
13 As the station enters the 

construction phase, the 
project will need to be kept 
under review and may need 
to appear as an individual risk 
on the Council’s strategic risk 
register.

Head of Audit The strategic risk register will include an entry for major 
capital programmes which will include the train station.

Projects and Programmes team report monthly and share all 
significant project “red” risks i.e. with a score of 15 and above, 
to the Directorate Leadership Teams, Project Assurance 
Group and Corporate Risk team.

With immediate 
effect

14 The analytical methodology 
and decision-making criteria 
in contingency-setting must 
be documented to allow for 
later challenge and change 
management.

Senior 
Responsible 
Officer

The project risk management process is already established, 
and risks are managed and monitored using Verto.

The Senior Responsible Officer will ensure that decisions and 
supporting evidence is recorded in the minutes of the Board 
meeting.

With immediate 
effect

P
age 58



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

wolverhampton.gov.uk 

No Lessons Learnt Responsibility Proposed action to be taken Target date
15 In the review of project 

estimates and bids the 
contingency levels adopted or 
proposed should be 
challenged based on 
benchmarking against similar 
projects at the same stage of 
development.

Chief Accountant External specialist project and risk assurance consultancy has 
been procured to support the delivery of projects and 
programmes.

In addition, a Commercial Business Partner and Audit 
Business Partner have been provided training to be able to 
undertake peer reviews of major projects. This will provide an 
additional opportunity to challenge proposed contingencies 
and robustness of plans

Finance are represented on all major capital programmes and 
are members of the Board and working groups. This provides 
assurance and challenge around contingencies and 
programme budgets. All formal reports to require sign-off from 
Finance and therefore Finance comments and approval must 
be sought before submission.

With immediate 
effect

16 The grouping of projects into 
a programme does not 
reduce the requirement for 
detailed risk assessments for 
each of the constituent 
projects.  There is an 
additional requirement to 
overlay a programme-level 
risk register to capture cross-
cutting risks and interface 
and dependency risks.

Projects and 
Programmes 
Manager

Within Verto Projects and Programmes are built within a 
hierarchy. Any programme or project both has access to a 
risk register within the system. 

During the concept and feasibility phases of a programme or 
project the scope, complexity and risks will be assessed and 
identified. These will be presented to the Project Assurance 
Group where, as part of the approval to progress, the 
resources required to successfully manage the programme 
will be considered. 

Implemented

P
age 59



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

wolverhampton.gov.uk 

No Lessons Learnt Responsibility Proposed action to be taken Target date
17 If a detailed QCRA is carried 

out to support the setting of 
project contingency levels, 
advice should be sought from 
a risk specialist about the 
appropriate confidence level 
from the analysis to use.

Head of Audit External specialist project and risk assurance consultancy has 
been procured to support the delivery of projects and 
programmes.

In addition, a Commercial Business Partner and Audit 
Business Partner have been provided training to be able to 
undertake peer reviews of major projects.

3 September 2018

18 Close on going monitoring of 
the financial status of supplier 
M should be undertaken.

Head of 
Procurement

The Dun and Bradstreet report will continue to be monitored 
by Procurement to ensure continued monitoring of supplier 
M’s financial status. Procurement will receive alerts should 
there be a deterioration and will advise the SRO.

Procurement also conducts market and intelligence into 
companies involved in large scale capital programmes.

Implemented

P
age 60



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

wolverhampton.gov.uk                                                                              

APPENDIX A - Interchange train station - timeline of key events

Date Timeline Event

April 2014 Supplier E’s cost report produced

August 2014 A business case was produced the project

March 2015 Project costs were presented to Cabinet at £39.4 million (including £12 million 
for the new station building). The report included a Council contribution £1 
million.

March 2015 Cabinet Member Briefing - City Assets. Interchange update on railway and 
interchange development work.

January 2016 A report presented to Council. State of the City Address 2015-2016, 
highlighted of the railway and interchange development work.

October 2016 Cabinet Member Briefing – City Economy. To note the appointment of new 
contractors for the station demolition/ reconstruction; to note the approval, in 
principle of additional funding from HS2 Connectivity funding for the 
programme; and to authorise the acceptance of grant of £10.1 million from 
Centro/West Midlands Combined Authority towards the programme.

November 2016 A report to Cabinet (Resources) Panel. To note that additional estimated 
costs have increased by £12.4 million on the Project and that sources of 
funding have been identified to address some or all of the additional funding 
required and that actions are underway to secure the appropriate levels of 
funding. The also noted the developer’s decision to terminate the agreement 
with the current building contractor and appoint a new contractor to demolish 
and redevelop Wolverhampton Rail.

November 2016 A report to Council. Resolving that the Council underwrites additional costs of 
£8.1 million initially funded through prudential borrowing with the expectation 
that external funding would be secured in due course be approved. It was 
also resolved that the capital programme was updated to reflect the additional 
budget required be approved.

February 2017 A report to Cabinet (Resources) Panel. It was resolved that the Council enter 
into a Supplemental Agreement with the delivery partners for the 
Wolverhampton Interchange programme.

May 2017 Risk workshop held including representatives from supplier N, supplier M, City 
of Wolverhampton Council and Network Rail.

July 2017 A report to Cabinet (Resources) Panel. The principle of the Council bidding on 
the Corn Hill site based on its strategic importance in the context of the 
Interchange masterplan be endorsed.  Cabinet is being requested to 
potentially ‘underwrite’ the cashflow on the Station component of the 
Interchange project.

September 2017 Cabinet Member briefing providing an update on the Interchange programme. 

Page 61



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

wolverhampton.gov.uk                                                                              

Date Timeline Event

November 2017 A report to Cabinet (Resources) Panel. To ensure there is no further cost 
escalation on the programme Ion / CWC have agreed a guaranteed maximum 
price of £19.9 million for the station contract with supplier M. Negotiations are 
continuing with the objective of securing reductions on specific work 
packages.

That financial expenditure associated with both awards of the station contract 
and limits/caps agreed in the Letter of Intent (LOI) with supplier M be 
authorised.

Expenditure in respect of preliminary works for the construction of the City of 
Wolverhampton Railway Station be authorised.

To enable the Council to let the contract to supplier M ahead of the WMCA 
completing their final funding approvals a letter be sought from the Section 
151 officer at the WMCA confirming they are content that the Council now 
enter into the contract with supplier M.

Page 62



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

wolverhampton.gov.uk                                                                             

Limitations inherent to the internal auditor’s work

This report has been prepared solely for the 
council in accordance with the terms and 
conditions set out in the terms of reference. 
Internal audit does not accept or assume 
any liability of duty of care for any other 
purpose or to any other party. This report 
should not be disclosed to any third party, 
quoted or referred to without prior consent. 
Internal audit has undertaken this review 
subject to the limitations outlined below. 
Internal control
 Internal control systems, no matter how 

well designed and operated, are 
affected by inherent limitations. These 
include the possibility of poor 
judgement in decision making, human 
error, control processes being 
deliberately circumvented by 
employees and others, management 
overriding controls and the occurrence 
of unforeseeable circumstances.

Responsibilities of management and auditors
 It is management’s responsibility to 

develop and maintain sound systems of 
risk management, internal control and 
governance for the prevention and 
detection of irregularities and fraud. 
Internal audit work should not be seen as a 
substitute for management’s 
responsibilities for the design and 
operation of these systems. 

 Internal audit endeavours to plan audit 
work so that it has a reasonable 
expectation of detecting significant control 
weakness and if detected, will carry out 
additional work directed towards 
identification of consequent fraud or other 
irregularities. However, internal audit 
procedures alone, even when carried out 
with due professional care, do not 
guarantee that fraud will be detected. 

 Accordingly, these examinations by 
internal auditors should not be relied upon 
solely to disclose fraud or other 
irregularities which may exist.

Report distribution: Managing Director

All members of the Strategic Executive Board

Director for Regeneration

Head of City Development

Terms of reference agreed: 4 January 2018

Draft report issued: 2 March 2018

Agreed action plan responses received: 8 June 2018

Final report issued: 11 June 2018

Page 63



This page is intentionally left blank



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Audit and Risk Committee
25 June 2018

Report title Civic Halls Refurbishment – Lessons Learned

Accountable director Keith Ireland, Managing Director

Originating service Audit

Accountable employee(s)

Report to be/has been 
considered by

Peter Farrow
Tel
Email

Strategic 
Executive Board

Head of Audit
01902 554460
peter.farrow@wolverhampton.gov.uk

22 May 2018

Recommendations for decision:

The Committee is recommended to:

1. Review and comment on the lessons learned action plans. 

2. Oversee their implementation over the next 12 months and to receive a quarterly update 
report on the progress made in implementing the lessons learned.

3. Support the actions taken to date which include: 
a) To improve programme and project management
b) To ensure better financial modelling
c) To ensure partners deliver their commissions to the right quality and specification
d) To ensure the right people are appointed to the right roles including appropriate 

project managers and/or a programme director for large scale capital projects

Recommendations for noting:

The Committee is asked to:

1. Note the Managing Director’s decision to make the report an open report to ensure 
maximum transparency.

Page 65

Agenda Item No: 5

mailto:peter.farrow@wolverhampton.gov.uk


This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

1.0 Purpose

1.1 That the Audit and Risk Committee review and comment upon the content of the Civic 
Halls Refurbishment – Lessons Learned report. 

1.2 The report provides an overview of the Civic Halls programme and the associated 
lessons learnt and action plan that City of Wolverhampton Council is committed to deliver 
against. As a learning organisation we act to be open and transparent about what we can 
learn and improve in the future.

1.3 To seek approval of the Audit and Risk Committee to oversee the implementation of the 
lessons learned report over the next 12 months.

2.0 Background

2.1 The Civic Halls (consisting of the main Civic Hall and Wulfrun Hall) were constructed 
around 1938 and are Grade II listed. The building is predominantly used for concerts, 
exhibitions and in recent years has staged an annual major darts tournament. The Civic 
Halls is the largest business in the Black Country’s creative and entertainment sector, 
generating £4.3 million of Gross Value Added in the local Wolverhampton economy.

2.2 The Council’s Managing Director commissioned Audit Services to undertake a lessons 
learned review for three capital projects, which included the Civic Halls Refurbishment, 
that have been subject to highly publicised overspends. The Civic Halls Refurbishment 
Programme’s budget has increased from £10.4 million to £38.1 million. The additional 
budget of £27.7 million was approved by Council on 31 January 2018. 

2.3 The terms of reference for the review were agreed by the Council’s Strategic Executive 
Team.

2.4 Specialist external support was procured from Equib to assist Audit Services undertake 
this review. The external adviser will be present at the Audit and Risk Committee.

3.0 Progress, options, discussion

3.1 Progress on the implementation of the actions contained within the report will be reported 
back to Audit and Risk Committee on a quarterly basis over the coming 12 months.

4.0 Financial implications

4.1 There are no direct financial implications arising from the recommendations in this report. 
However, the financial impact of the recommendations will be factored into all projects 
going forward. The implementation of the recommendations will contribute to robust 
financial planning and budgetary control in respect to capital projects.
[CN/13062018/G]

Page 66



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

5.0 Legal implications

5.1 There are no legal implications arising from the recommendation in this report. There are 
however possible significant issues surrounding the impact if the recommendations are 
not implemented in full.

           [TC/13062018/C]

6.0 Equalities implications

6.1 There are no equalities implications arising from the recommendation in this report.

7.0 Environmental implications

7.1 There are no environmental implications arising from the recommendation in this report.

8.0 Human resources implications

8.1 The report outlines the absolute necessity of ensuring that qualified and competent 
people and organisations are employed and/or deployed onto large capital programmes. 

9.0 Corporate landlord implications

9.1 The significant implications in respect of Corporate Landlord’s management of Civic Halls 
are outlined in the report.

10.0 Schedule of background papers

10.1 A timeline of reports to Members is contained under section 4.6 of the report.

Page 67



This page is intentionally left blank



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

wolverhampton.gov.uk                                                                                       

Internal Audit Report: 
Civic Halls Refurbishment – 
Lessons Learnt (2017-2018) 
This report is Public 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

2016/17

Page 69



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

wolverhampton.gov.uk                                                                                       

1 Executive Summary

1.1 Introduction

On 4 January 2018 the Council’s Managing Director commissioned Audit Services to undertake a 
lessons learnt review of three high profile projects within the City. These three projects have been 
subject to adverse publicity in terms of implementation delays and overspends and therefore pose 
a reputational risk to the Council. This report specifically relates to the Civic Halls refurbishment.
The Civic Halls (consisting of the main Civic Hall and Wulfrun Hall) were constructed around 1938 
and are Grade II listed. The building is predominantly used for concerts, exhibitions and in recent 
years has staged an annual major darts tournament. The Civic Halls is the largest business in the 
Black Country’s creative and entertainment sector, generating £4.3 million of Gross Value Added 
(GVA) in the local Wolverhampton economy.

Based on a recent report by supplier A they stated that the Civic Halls have suffered from 
insufficient funding to maintain the building fabric and internals to modern day requirements with 
backlog maintenance estimated by the Council’s Property Services Strategic Partner to be in the 
region of £7 million.

1.2 Scope of the review

A terms of reference was provided by the Managing Director outlining the scope of the review. 
This included the following:

 Production of a detailed timeline of events
 The process for determining an “early indication figure” for budgetary purposes and the impact 

this is having on the project
 Establish what caused the project to fail
 Identify the actual changes to the specification, and the resulting increase in costs
 Review the governance arrangements for the project
 Review the resourcing arrangements for the project in terms of effectiveness
 Ascertain whether the project would have benefited from early intervention from various 

sources i.e. political support or external specialists
 Ascertain whether there was any good practice or lessons already being learnt on the project
 Review the procurement arrangements to ensure best practice was followed in the 

procurement of contractors
 Review the project risk management arrangements for the establishment of contingency costs
 Review the surveying arrangements in place for the assessing the condition of the building
 Provide an opinion on how the Council can follow best practice in order to avoid the guestimate 

of the programme being considerably different from the actual budget
 Review external funding arrangements to ensure the Council is maximising its funding 

opportunities
 Review the programme to ascertain whether subsequent issues could have been identified 

earlier
 Seek external advice in terms of how best practice could have been applied to this project
 Assess the progress made in implementing the recommendations of the audit report issued in 

June 2017

Page 70



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

wolverhampton.gov.uk                                                                                       

In order to assist Audit Services with this review specialist external support was obtained from an 
external consultant from supplier B. Who primarily specialise in project risk management.
For the purpose of this review discussions were held with the following officers to help form the 
findings of this review:

 Construction Projects Officer
 Projects and Programmes Manager
 Current Project Manager
 Head of Corporate Landlord
 Strategic Director People (Director of Finance until 31 March 2017)
 Strategic Director Place
 Former Service Director for City Economy
 Service Director for Commercial Services

It should be noted that the Council’s external auditors were invited to provide their opinion of the 
project and provide examples of good practice that could be applied, where appropriate. They 
concluded it would not be appropriate to provide an opinion on this project as to do so, would 
potentially fetter their discretion, as they anticipated reviewing it as part of their future work in 
relation to their value for money conclusion.

In addition to the above the following documents were used to support the findings of this review. 
These were as follows:

 Supplier C’s report entitled ‘options for the future of Wolverhampton’s culture and 
entertainment offer’ – June 2013

 The previous project manager’s due diligence report of the Civic Halls Refurbishment Project – 
August 2016

 The current project manager’s due diligence report of the Civic Halls Refurbishment Project – 
June 2017

 Supplier A’s independent project health check of the Civic Halls – December 2017
 Supplier D’s due diligence report of the project’s mechanical, electrical, plumbing, and 

structural design – January 2018

1.3 Acknowledgement

A number of employees gave their time and co-operation during the course of this review.  We 
would like to record our thanks to all of the individuals concerned.

Page 71



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

wolverhampton.gov.uk                                                                                       

2 Management Summary/Conclusion
2.1 Following a detailed review of the timeline of events and findings in this report, it is our 

opinion that the project principally failed due to an unrealistic capital budget and a robust 
risk-based contingency not being established from the outset of the project. This resulted in 
the contingency budget being reduced and surveys being compromised in order to keep the 
project within the initial budget envelope. The Council’s Property Services Strategic Partner 
was being asked to design a scheme based on the structural condition of the building being 
unknown and an unrealistic budget being set. This was highlighted by the failure to appoint a 
construction contractor within budget, following the first round of tenders. The supply of all 
technical advice and costings was the responsibility of Corporate Landlord, as confirmed in 
Cabinet Resources Panel Report October 2014.  It should be noted for the purpose of this 
report that initial decisions were made by officers from Property Services who left the Council 
prior to the implementation of the new Corporate Landlord delivery model at the end of 2015. 
Neither the Senior Responsible Officer (SRO) or Board were made aware that the budget 
was unrealistic, although, a year later, at the point that a construction contractor was being 
procured they were advised it would be challenging. The Board was also not made aware 
that surveys had, or were, been compromised at the start of the project and trusted the 
Corporate Landlord’s technical judgement of what was required to meet their own 
responsibilities i.e. management and upkeep of the building.

2.2 The project faltered due to delays in the Council’s Property Services Strategic Partner failing 
to deliver their designs. There is no evidence throughout the review that the Council’s 
Property Services Strategic Partner owed a duty of care to the client (the Council) in failing to 
point out what they were being asked to design, within the budget envelope provided, was 
unrealistic.

2.3 Throughout the project officers from Corporate Landlord operated under the impression that 
there was no flexibility around the budget.  However, when a strong business case was put 
forward for additional resources, the request was acted upon. For example, in 2016 
Corporate Landlord advised the SRO, Strategic Project Board, and City Centre Programme 
Board there needed to be a substantial redesign of the project and an additional capital 
budget of £2.6 million would be required. Throughout the project Corporate Landlord failed to 
advise on adequate additional capital resources, or funding, and failed to advise on the future 
implications of not addressing substantial maintenance items outside of the original scope of 
the scheme. Another example of this was, English Heritage Funding could have potentially 
been secured for repairs to the leaking roof. Therefore, the scheme was continually 
compromised in order to drive down costs and deliver the project within its original budget.

2.4 The delays in the design process led to decisions being rushed as the project was being 
driven by the constraints of the Local Growth funding which required £1.5 million to be spent 
during the first year of the agreement and there was no flexibility or renegotiation around this 
requirement. However, this funding could be spent on design fees and enabling work, much 
of which was originally programmed for this period of the project.  A key reason for the 
project being put under pressure was due to the Corporate Landlord’s decision to procure 
their own surveys, which resulted in delays in design specifications by the Council’s Property 
Services Strategic Partner.  In order to reduce the risk of losing some funding, Corporate 
Landlord proposed that the site should be cleared of asbestos as part of the enabling works 

Page 72



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

wolverhampton.gov.uk                                                                                       

under a separate contract.  Based on a review of the Strategy Board minutes on 25 July 
2015 the Board supported this decision. It should be noted that additional Local Growth 
Funding, of a further £0.4 million, was secured for the removal of asbestos.  The building was 
certified as being fully clear of asbestos on completion of these works, and the Project 
Strategy Board were given assurances that the asbestos removal had been successfully 
completed and independently certified, although, subsequently, it has been identified that 
considerable levels of asbestos remained within the building. The issues identified in respect 
of asbestos have been a contributing factor in the delays to the project.

2.5 The former Service Director City Economy was made the Senior Responsible Officer (SRO) 
for the project following approval by Cabinet Resources Panel in 2014 that the project should 
go ahead.  According to the roles and responsibilities outlined in the Project Execution Plan 
(PEP), produced by the former project managers, in 2016, the Senior Responsible Officer 
provides sponsorship to, and takes overall responsibility for successful project delivery. In the 
latest terms of reference approved by the Council’s Strategic Executive Board (SEB), in June 
2017, the roles of SRO was defined as having responsibility for providing senior level 
leadership for the delivery and implementation of the project. It should be recognised that 
SRO, is not  a technical role, and and the success of the project was heavily dependent on 
the supply of expert technical advice.  The current Civic Halls Project terms of reference also 
states that the Members of the Board are collectively and individually accountable to the 
SRO for their areas of responsibility and delivery within the project. The report to Cabinet 
Resources Panel in October 2014 stated that the Corporate Landlord was repsonsible for 
leading the in-house techncial team.  The SRO believed the Corporate Landlord’s 
responsibilities included the client and project management functions for the design and 
construction, in line with the established responsibilities that Corporate Landlord hold for the 
Council’s property portfolio.  In respect of the City’s cultural venues, these responsibilities 
were reaffirmed in a schedule received by the Service Director in 2014, at the same time the 
business case for investment in the Civic Halls was being finalised.  The Cabinet 
(Resources) Panel Report in July 2016 is more explicit, and included the following: 
‘Corporate Landlord are responsible for ensuring the main Construction work is designed, 
procured and delivered on site within the agreed budget and timescale. This includes 
enabling works, surveys and ensuring the design and construction work is carried out in 
compliance with statutory regulations. Corporate Landlord are also responsible for the 
construction contract management and site supervision of the construction work’. 

2.6 At critical times in the project, the SRO felt that she and the Project Strategy Board did not 
have full control of the project as they were not fully informed of decisions being made by 
Corporate Landlord.  In addition, it is her view that other Project Board members failed to 
keep her, and the Project Board, fully informed of critical decisions that had serious 
implications for the project.  For example, she was not made aware that £1.9 million of 
funding had been removed from the project by Strategic Finance to support the Local 
Enterprise Partnership (LEP) and replaced with additional borrowing.

Page 73



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

wolverhampton.gov.uk                                                                                       

2.7 Other key findings of the review were as follows:

 The importance of the project was underestimated from the outset, in terms of the risk it 
posed to the Wolverhampton economy and the reputational risk to the Council. This 
should have appeared as a standalone risk on the Council’s Strategic Risk Register.

 Failure to have adequate and effective project management resources (project 
management and project support) in place. From the outset of the project it was 
identified that additional project management was needed, over and above that which 
was to be provided internally by the Corporate Landlord.  Therefore, an additional eight 
days of project management, per month, was procured to support a team of three officers 
within the Corporate Landlord who had detailed knowledge of the building and would be 
supported by the Council’s Property Services Strategic Partner.  Subsequently, the 
Corporate Landlord was restructured in 2015, and two of the three officers left the 
organisation and were not directly replaced. 

 Failure to follow the Council’s approved project management approach. This was 
highlighted through the underutilisation and updating of the Verto system.

 The continual opening and closing of the building contributed to the non-delivery of the 
project. There was no evidence of any cost benefit analysis to make an informed 
decision on this.

 Failure to have effective, transparent, and accurate reporting arrangements in place to 
inform the Civic Halls Strategy Board, Strategic Executive Board (SEB), and City 
Portfolio Board of key blockages effecting the delivery of the project. This was evidenced 
in the fact that the majority of highlight reports produced from Verto were showing the 
overall status as green.

All the lessons learned from this review are summarised under section six of this report.

2.8 On a positive note it is evident that lessons are already being learnt in respect of the project 
in that a suite of surveys have been completed to minimise risk to the client in preparation for 
the revised scheme. Also, a realistic budget and contingency have been set to mitigate risks 
associated with the project. 

Page 74



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

wolverhampton.gov.uk                                                                                       

3 Background Information
3.1 The need for expanding the capacity of the Civic Halls was initiated back in 2011 when the 

Strategic Director for Regeneration, who has subsequently left, asked the former Head of 
Visitor Economy to look at options for the Civic Halls in order to expand the current visitor 
economy offering. The need to generate savings was the main driver for this decision.  The 
former Service Director for City Economy commissioned a review from supplier C. The 
review entailed undertaking a detailed economic assessment of the city’s visitor attractions, 
which Civic Halls form part of, and an initial options appraisal. The findings of this review 
would form part of a business case for capital investment in the Civic Halls.

3.2 This report entitled ‘options for the future of Wolverhampton’s culture and entertainment offer’ 
was presented to the Council’s Executive Team on 11 November 2013. The meeting minutes 
indicated that it was agreed ‘that a progress report be submitted to the Executive Team on 
14 January 2014 to include an update on the appetite for the private sector to be involved in 
the opportunities to grow the culture and creative industries in the city’. It was confirmed from 
minutes of this meeting that members from the Council’s Strategic Executive Board were 
present and were therefore aware of the options being proposed. Based on a review of 
minutes around this period there was no evidence of further reports being presented to the 
Executive Team following this meeting, or the Council’s Strategic Executive Board.

3.3 A report that went to Cabinet (Resources) Panel on 29 July 2014 providing details of supplier 
C’s report and made reference to the inclusion of various options for the physical 
improvement of the Civic Halls. These options were as follows:

Option 
No. Proposal

1 No investment

2 Consolidate options with catch up repairs and maintenance

3 Invest in the existing venue in order to improve facilities and expand its offer

4a Build a new arena with significantly greater capacity

4b Develop a site for temporary use for events that require much greater capacity, 
alongside investment in the existing facilities

Lesson learnt 1: Options appraisals should be challenged on all future refurbishment 
projects to ensure they address long term maintenance issues and future proof the 
building.

Page 75



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

wolverhampton.gov.uk                                                                                       

3.4 The report included the following statement ‘the findings were presented to the Council’s 
Executive Team meeting in September 2013 which concluded that option 3 was the 
preferred option, but substantial external funding would need to be secured in order to take 
the project forward’. However, it is important to note that there was no evidence of this 
decision in the Executive Team’s minutes. Under this option the planned work would fall 
under four categories:

 increased seating capacity and improved catering and hospitality offer: This 
included 390 additional seats for the Wulfrun Hall, 400 additional seats for the Civic 
Hall, plus additional accommodation for wheelchair users. Development of multipurpose 
spaces includes improved bar and hospitality spaces, conference break out spaces. 
There will be a complete refurbishment and modernisation of the kitchens and catering 
facilities.

 Improved customer facilities: This included new and replacement toilet facilities for 
both Halls, at all floor levels.

 Improved customer experience and access: This included the construction of new 
lifts, improved access to Wulfrun Hall entrance, improved staircases, new ventilation 
and redecoration.

 Modernisation of staging, supporting technologies and facilities for performers, 
conference organisers and training facilities: This included private lifts, new 
dressing rooms, raised fly tower providing improved training facilities and wider range of 
backdrops.

3.5 The report estimated the programme would cost £10.4 million. However, the report produced 
by supplier C estimated the capital cost of this option would be £11.3 million. Both these 
figures were based on detailed costings provided from Property Services (now known as 
Corporate Landlord). It should be noted that a condition survey of the Civic Halls had been 
undertaken in April 2014, therefore the condition of the building was known prior to the 
Cabinet (Resources) Panel report being produced. Based on a review of the condition 
assessment survey it appears this was performed based on a visual check of the building 
and the total cost of work was estimated at £1.4 million. It should be noted that the survey did 
not make any reference to the risk of asbestos or made any assessment on the structural 
nature of the building. Based on discussions with the Head of Corporate Landlord it was 
established that there was no proactive programme of repairs and maintenance for the City’s 
assets. A more reactive approach was followed.
 
Lesson learnt 2: The repairs and maintenance programme should be reviewed so a 
proactive approach is taken to futureproof the City’s assets.

3.6 At the Cabinet (Resources) Panel meeting on 29 July 2014 the following recommendation 
was made ‘To agree that the project can proceed to a final detailed business case, which will 
be submitted for final consideration by the Black Country Joint Committee and Local 
Enterprise Partnership (LEP) Board in September 2014.’ This was subsequently approved.

Page 76



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

wolverhampton.gov.uk                                                                                       

3.7 A further report was presented to Cabinet on 1 October 2014 seeking approval for the 
following recommendations:

 Agree that the project can proceed, and to delegate authority to the Cabinet Members for 
Communities and Leisure and Resources, the Strategic Director for Education and 
Enterprise, the Assistant Director for Finance and the Chief Legal Officer to for finalise 
the grant funding agreement with the Black Country Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP) 
and Walsall Metropolitan Borough Council, who will be acting as the accountable body 
for the Black Country Growth Deal funding on behalf of the LEP. 

 Approve a capital programme budget for the civic halls improvements of £10.4 million 
funded from an external grant of £6.2 million and £4.2 million as a virement from the 
capital allocation for regeneration priorities. 

Lesson learnt 3: For future projects, where the structural condition of a site or building is 
unknown a realistic capital budget, which contains a robust risk managed contingency, 
should be established.

3.8 These recommendations were subsequently approved by Cabinet on 1 October 2014 and 
the project initiation process began. 

3.9 It should be noted that in both the Cabinet (Resources) Panel and Cabinet reports specific 
reference was made to Corporate Landlord leading on the construction element of the 
programme.

3.10 The report also included the following assertion:

In order to achieve sufficient control over the design, and also meet the spending profile 
required by the Black Country LEP and Growth Deal, a traditional procurement route will be 
used. In order to achieve the necessary levels of spends between April 2015 and March 
2016, OJEU notices will need to be issued in January 2015, with the shortlisted tendering 
process commencing June 2015, and start on site January 2016.

Page 77



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

wolverhampton.gov.uk                                                                                       

4 Detailed Findings
4.1 Design Process

4.1.1 The following was contained in the Cabinet report on 1 October 2014: A one stop technical 
design team is being appointed through the Property Services Strategic Partnership 
commissioning process, based on their local knowledge of the city and the Civic Halls 
buildings, as well as bringing significant experience in high profile commercial leisure and 
entertainment venues development and refurbishment. 

4.1.2 Based on discussions with several officers as part of this review it was established that the 
then Assistant Director for Central Services, who has now left the Council, recommended 
the use of the Council’s Property Services Strategic Partner for this scheme. In November 
2014 the Council’s Property Services Strategic Partner were commissioned to undertake a 
feasibility study to determine the priorities and budgets associated with the Civic Halls 
project. During November 2014 a series of workshops were held with key stakeholders to 
understand their roles and responsibilities, challenges of the current facility, priority of work 
to be carried out if the budget were restricted, criteria of the funding award, activities to be 
planned, and the risk that may impact on the project. The outcomes of these workshops 
would help form a design brief from which the Council’s Property Services Strategic Partner 
could base their design on. In December 2014 a design brief was agreed with members of 
the Council’s delivery team.

4.1.3 A draft feasibility report was presented by the Council’s Property Services Strategic Partner 
reflecting the key aspirations of the brief. However, the budget assessment for the works 
was in the order of £13.3 million, which was significantly over the approved capital budget 
of £10.4 million.

Lesson learnt 4: Where a scheme cannot be delivered within the initial budget an options 
report should be submitted to the Council’s Strategic Executive Board seeking a decision 
on whether to rescope the scheme within the approved budget envelope or seek an 
additional budget for an uncompromised scheme.

4.1.4 A meeting was held in January 2015, between the Council’s Property Services Strategic 
Partner and technical officers from the Council to discuss the electrical works, condition 
issues, level of fees, preliminaries and contingency included in the original budget estimate 
of £13.3 million. At this meeting it was agreed that £0.3 million of electrical and conditions 
work would be undertaken prior to the project from the maintenance budget. It was also 
agreed that preliminaries were reduced from 15% to 13.5% and the contingency would be 
reduced from 10% to 7.5% (2.5% design risk and 5% construction risk). This resulted in the 
budget reducing to £12.6 million. As this was still over budget the Council’s Property 
Services Strategic Partner were asked to explore options to reduce the budget.

4.1.5 At the end of January 2015, a revised feasibility study was issued by the Council’s Property 
Services Strategic Partner to members of the Council’s technical team with three options of 
reducing costs in order to bring it closer to the budget of £10.4. Included in the executive 
summary of the feasibility study the Council’s Property Services Strategic Partner 
recommended option three as being the best option for the Council, which would reduce the 
budget by a further £1.75 million, leaving a shortfall of £416,000. A summary of which is 
provided below:

Page 78



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

wolverhampton.gov.uk                                                                                       

OMIT Reduce specification of seating to £150 per chair £100,000

OMIT Reduce scope of works to Civic Halls bar and toilet access £870,000

OMIT Reduce budget for Client Project Manager £100,000

OMIT Toilets to 2nd floor of Civic Hall – reduce in size by 50% £110,000

OMIT Wulfrun bar and kitchen area (full refurbishment) £438,000

OMIT Toilets to Wulfrun bar and add lower spec office space £232,000

ADD Services and area made ready for catering kitchen £100,000

4.1.6 Both the Council’s Property Services Strategic Partner and officers from Corporate Landlord 
agreed that the budget envelope of £10.4 million could be achieved as a result of the 
tendering process.

4.1.7 At the Civic Halls Improvement weekly update meeting on 4 February 2015 option three 
was recommended by the Council’s Property Services Strategic Partner subject to a 
discussion with English Heritage. It is important to note no structural or asbestos surveys 
had been carried out on the Civic Halls at this point and therefore the structural condition of 
the building was unknown.

4.1.8 From the point this decision was made it took until September 2015 for Stage E design 
(technical design that can be used to build off for technical purposes) to be completed. 
Based on information provided by officers from Projects & Works these delays were caused 
due to four main issues, which are as follows:

Design staff
the Council’s Property Services Strategic Partner used several designers throughout the 
design stage, which led to continuity issues. It is the opinion of officers from Corporate 
Landlord that the designers used did not have the experience of designing a scheme in 
respect of a grade II listed concert venue.

3D survey
The 3D survey of the building was commissioned directly by the Council instead of using 
the Council’s Property Services Strategic Partner. This was done with best intentions as the 
Council’s Property Services Strategic Partner initially quoted £50,000 for this survey, 
whereas the Council could get a survey completed for £13,000 using the contractors who 
were surveying the Civic Centre. However, the completed survey could not be used as the 
software was not compatible with the Council’s Property Services Strategic Partner’s design 
software. It is important to note that this supplier was not paid for these surveys. In the end 
the Council’s Property Services Strategic Partner procured a 3D survey from their preferred 
supplier for £18,000 (£32,000 less than originally quoted).

Structural surveys
The structural surveys were commissioned by the Council and were dependent on a 
structural investigation design specification being provided by the Council’s Property 
Services Strategic Partner. Based on a detailed timeline of events there was evidence that 
the Council’s Property Services Strategic Partner took two months to produce their 
specifications. Between both parties it took over seven months to procure surveys from 

Page 79



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

wolverhampton.gov.uk                                                                                       

three different suppliers. Due to the time taken to procure the surveys, full and timely 
surveys could not be undertaken as the Civic Halls had to be reopened for a darts 
tournament, which the Council were contractually obliged to host. It should be noted that 
one of the suppliers were only paid £20,866 for this work compared to the original order 
value of £31,150.

Ventilation and heating system
The initial scheme was designed with new full length two storey vertical extensions to the 
two side wings of the Civic Hall. These vertical extensions located above the existing 
balcony corridors were required to form new corridors to serve the new horseshoe balcony 
on one level with a new ventilation plant housed on the second level. These extensions 
required substantial strengthening of the existing frame to provide support for the additional 
load. As this initial scheme came substantially above budget, major revisions to the design 
took place in order to bring it within budget. The main changes were a reduction in the size 
and shape of the new balcony, utilising the existing boilers and ventilation ductwork, and 
decreasing the size of the plant on the roof drastically. These changes consequently 
reduced the size of the extensions and strengthening of the existing frame. The reduction in 
the ventilation plant, and resulting ventilation rates, was a compromise agreed with Building 
Control in order to reduce costs. 

Lesson learnt 5: For future projects, the risk for design and structural surveys should be 
adequately assessed to ascertain the best delivery approach. This should then be 
supported by a robust contract with a realistic budget to deliver a full suite of surveys to 
mitigate unknown risks and cost increases.

4.1.9 As part of the tendering process supplier E undertook their own structural investigations and 
also received the results of the intrusive survey from one of the suppliers who undertook 
structural surveys. The results of these investigations meant that the existing frame had to 
be strengthened resulting in supplier E submitting a stage two tender of £16 million. In light 
of this tender being £7 million over the Council’s Property Services Strategic Partner’s 
estimate of £9 million for construction, advice was sought.  It was recommended by the 
initial project managers, and Corporate Procurement to review the contract in terms of 
splitting it into fixed-price elements (known elements of the design that could be tendered 
against) and risk-based/target cost elements. However, it is understood that a decision was 
taken by the former Interim Head of Projects & Works to value engineer the scheme, which 
supplier E helped facilitate. Certain parts of the design could not be rescoped as this would 
affect the outputs defined in the grant agreement and could, therefore, result in the loss of 
funding. The main scope of work that was compromised was reducing the new ventilation 
plant, reusing old boilers, only rewiring the areas affected, and omitting door entry systems. 
There was little evidence from Project & Works’ officers conveying the future consequences 
and risks of omitting these areas from the scope of the design. While the term value 
engineering was used in reality this was an exercise of cost-cutting through removing areas 
from the original scope in order for it be delivered within the original budget envelope. 
Following this exercise, a stage three tender of £11.2 million was provided by supplier E, 
which was still £2 million over the Council’s Property Services Strategic Partner’s estimate 
for construction costs.

Lesson learnt 6: A formal change management process should be in place for all 
projects which record the consequences, and risks, of omitting items from the original 
scheme design in order that informed decisions can be made by the Project Board, who 
are in a position to escalate issues upwards, if necessary.

Page 80



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

wolverhampton.gov.uk                                                                                       

4.1.10 The current Head of Corporate Landlord, who joined the Council at the end of March 2016, 
first became aware of the issues around the Civic Halls when the decision was taken not to 
proceed with supplier E’s tender and the decision to re-tender the scheme. His opinion was 
that the Council’s Property Services Strategic Partner had underperformed on this project 
and not placed their most experienced team on this design. Based on discussions with 
various officers throughout this review it was understood that meetings had been held with 
the Council’s Property Services Strategic Partner to discuss their performance and they 
responded by placing stronger officers on this design. It is important to note that the 
Council’s Property Services Strategic Partner were not helped by the need of the Council 
(the client) to deliver the project within a tight budget envelope which meant the continually 
questioning of surveys to support their design. However, at no point did the Council’s 
Property Services Strategic Partner stop and clearly communicate they were unable to 
deliver their design without a full suite of surveys. Instead a number of assumptions were 
made about the structural condition of the building in the design thus transferring the risk to 
the contractor to establish the structural condition of the building.

4.1.11 This assertion was supported by a recent independent due diligence review of the 
structural, electrical, mechanical and plumbing elements of the design by supplier D. The 
report stated ‘it is noted (drawing 2002) that surveys of the building are incomplete and that 
numerous assumptions have been made in respect of the existing structure. The additional 
‘notes for cost purposes’ also identifies that there are several areas where the nature and 
condition of the existing structure is unknown and once surveys are undertaken the 
assumptions may be found to be inaccurate.’ 

Lesson learnt 7: The Council’s strategic partnership should be reviewed to ensure it has 
delivered value for money on this scheme. For all future projects alternative design 
approaches should be assessed which are supported by a robust contract.

4.2 Procurement of the construction contractor

This section of the report highlights the conflicting views between Corporate Landlord and 
Procurement. These views were not escalated to the Senior Responsible Officer and 
Project Board to collectively resolve.  According to the Senior Responsible Officer she was 
not made aware of the level of dispute between Corporate Landlord and Corporate 
Procurement Team. She believed that this reinforced the Senior Responsible Officer’s view 
at critical points in the project she, and the Project Board, were not fully in control.

4.2.1 Due to the delays in completing the design process, the initial projects managers for the 
scheme recommended procuring a construction contractor through the Constructing West 
Midlands framework contract in order to clawback time on the programme. The former 
Director of Finance, in his assurance role, chaired the Civic Halls Project Improvement 
Board on 25 July 2015, which the Head of Procurement attended.  The minutes state that a 
detailed discussion took place over the proposed route to procurement. Following the 
presentation on CWM framework there was general agreement by the Board to progress 
with the CWM framework. This was on the basis of the following and was also subject to the 
following actions being put in place:

 It was considered vital that a contractor is engaged at the earliest opportunity to work 
alongside the team particularly when taking into consideration the complexity of the 
scheme and the logistics for delivery around opening dates for pre-booked events.

Page 81



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

wolverhampton.gov.uk                                                                                       

 The Project Manager to issue a report on the final recommendation for procurement via 
CWM

 Asbestos removal contract to be procured separately alongside main project to 
safeguard against any slippage

 The Council’s Managing Director to be notified of proposed procurement route to ensure 
approval to potentially use supplier F

 Detailed programme of key dates/milestones going forward to be produced. The 
Council’s Property Services Strategic Partner to produce a project plan showing how 
they can pull back slippage

 Planning submission is made in July 2015

4.2.2 A report was presented to Cabinet (Resources) Panel on 28 July 2015 recommending: 
‘Delegating authority to the Cabinet Member for City Economy, in consultation with the 
former Service Director for City Economy and former Director of Finance to appoint the 
main contractor following a mini competition under the Construction West Midlands (CWM) 
framework.’ The explanation provided in the report for adopting this approach was the 
project’s grant agreement, which required a spend of £1.5 million during the 2015-2016 
financial year. Given the complexities of the project and the requirement to meet the 2015-
2016 spend target, the Council’s Corporate Procurement team and Corporate Landlord 
advised that this would be the most appropriate procurement route.

Lesson learnt 8: Sufficient time should be built into future project plans to allow for a 
thorough, and most appropriate, procurement process to take place. 

4.2.3 Following this decision, the Stage E design and tender documentation was completed by 
the Council’s Property Services Strategic Partner in August 2015 and issued by CWM in 
September 2015 under the framework.  Based on the evaluated tenders supplier E was 
selected via the framework based on their overheads, preliminaries and design fees. Based 
on initial structural investigations it was established that the existing frame for the balcony 
had to be strengthened which led to supplier E submitting a stage two tender of £16 million 
in January 2016.

4.2.4 In February 2016 advice was provided by the initial project manager and Corporate 
Procurement to review the contract in terms of splitting it into fixed-price elements (known 
elements of the design that could be tendered against) and risk-based/target cost elements. 
This advice was based on the risk that retendering the scheme could have potentially 
added a further six months to the programme. However, it is understood the former Interim 
Head of Project & Works took the decision to value engineer the scheme. In reality reducing 
the cost of the scheme through the omission of items. Following this process, a stage three 
tender was provided by supplier E at the end of May 2016, amounting to £11.2 million. At 
this point supplier E expressed concerns that they did not have sufficient time to start on 
site before demobilising for the scheduled darts tournament. As supplier E were still £2 
million over the construction budget, estimated by the Council’s Property Services Strategic 
Partner, a decision was taken by the former Interim Head of Projects & Works not to 
proceed with supplier E and go back out to tender on the new value engineered scheme via 
an open OJEU restricted tender. This decision was formalised in a report to Cabinet 
(Resources) Panel on 19 July 2016. It should be noted that Corporate Procurement did not 
support this decision and believed the Council should have persisted with the supplier E 
tender.

Page 82



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

wolverhampton.gov.uk                                                                                       

4.2.5 A post tender review meeting was held on 6 July 2016 with supplier E as they were 
proposing to initiate legal proceedings to recover the costs of the tender submission and 
their work during value engineering process. Their claim amounted to £100,000. Following 
ongoing discussions and meetings a final settlement of £40,000 (exc. VAT) was reached 
based on advice provided by the Director of Governance. 

4.2.6 Following the commencement of the OJEU restricted tendering process in August 2016, 
nine contractors returned the procurement pre-qualification questionnaires (PQQs). 
Following an assessment of the PQQs, four contractors were invited to tender for the 
contract. In December 2016 three tenders were returned and following an evaluation of the 
tenders, the contract was awarded to supplier G as it met the existing budget. In 
accordance with the delegated authority sought in the Cabinet (Resources) Panel report on 
28 July 2015, both the Cabinet Member for City Economy and the Service Director for City 
Economy signed off the appointment of supplier G via an Individual Executive Decision 
Notice (IEDN) on 20 December 2016. The final contract with supplier G was signed off by 
the Strategic Director Place in early 2017.

4.2.7 Based on discussions with the Service Director Commercial Services it was established that 
throughout the project Corporate Procurement was not adequately engaged. This was 
evidenced by the fact they were not invited to the Strategy Board meetings until June 2017 
However, it should be noted that the Procurement Team were members of both the main 
Project Board and supporting Operational Board, chaired by Corporate Landlord throughout 
2015, a formative period for the design and procurement of the project.  This is captured in 
monthly minutes of meetings. It appears that their membership ceased in 2016. This also 
coincided with a recommendation made in the internal audit report at that time. During the 
retendering stage, which supplier G were subsequently successful, Corporate Procurement 
met with supplier H (who are currently refurbishing the Civic Centre) to seek their advice on 
whether the design information they were provided contained sufficient information to 
tender against. It was their view that there were too many unknown risks around asbestos 
and the structural condition of the building.

4.2.8 It was the view of the Service Director Commercial Services that Corporate Procurement’s 
advice was ignored throughout the project. This was evidenced in the signing off of the 
IEDN on 20 December 2016. The final financial implications within the notice contained the 
following wording: ‘whilst the contract will be very closely monitored and managed, 
unknown factors may lead to additional costs as the scheme progresses’. However, the 
following wording provided by Corporate Procurement was excluded: ‘whilst the contract will 
be very closely monitored and managed, unknown factors may lead to additional costs as 
the scheme progresses. In the worst case scenario, the final cost of the project could 
significantly outstretch the available budget’. The Director of Commercial Services believes 
this was taken out of the notice by the former Interim Head of Projects & Works as it was 
deemed too negative. 

4.2.9 The Service Director Commercial Services stated that he was concerned about the 
competency of the Interim Head of Projects & Works based on some of the decisions being 
made. Particularly in respect of the appointment of suppler I as the scheme’s project 
managers which did not follow the Council’s Contract Procedure Rules. This was raised on 
several occasions with the Head of Corporate Landlord.  

Lesson learnt 9: For future projects of this nature Corporate Procurement should be 
engaged earlier in the project and be represented on the Board. 

Page 83



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

wolverhampton.gov.uk                                                                                       

Lesson learnt 10: Where the advice of Corporate Procurement is not followed there 
should be a clear audit trail to support this decision. 

4.3 Identification and removal of asbestos

4.3.1 In the summer of 2015, the Council’s term asbestos consultants were commissioned to 
undertake an asbestos survey of the Civic Halls prior to the commencement of 
refurbishment works. Initial survey results identified the plenums to the balcony ventilation 
ducts and other areas of the building which required immediate action. The council’s term 
contractor was asked to remove the asbestos and encapsulate the affected areas deemed 
as high risk.

4.3.2 In light of the findings of the asbestos survey results, and the decision taken by the Civic 
Halls Project Improvement Board on 25 July 2015, a report was presented to Cabinet 
(Resources) Panel on 28 July 2015 recommending ‘delegated authority to the Cabinet 
Member for City Economy, in consultation with the Service Director for City Economy and 
Director of Finance to appoint the asbestos contractor’ and ‘approve a virement of £483,000 
from the regeneration priorities budget to the Civic Hall Improvement budget to meet the 
cost of the asbestos removal’. These recommendations were subsequently approved.

4.3.3 The decision to undertake this work and clear asbestos from the site in preparation for a 
contractor being appointed was driven by the grant agreement as there was a requirement 
to spend £1.5 million during 2015-16. Therefore, the commissioning of this work would help 
achieve that target. Based on the age of the building and the uncertainty around how the 
asbestos had been applied, the management of risk around asbestos removal should have 
been transferred to the contractor. Based on information provided by the Service Director 
City Economy there was no flexibility in the funding agreement around the first year spend. 
Therefore, it was not possible to renegotiate the terms of the grant agreement to prevent 
poor and risky decisions being made as a result of needing to spend the expenditure by a 
certain deadline.

Lesson learnt 11: For future projects of this nature, the risk for the removal of asbestos 
should be adequately assessed to ensure it resides with the appropriate party. 

4.3.4 In January 2016, following a procurement exercise, supplier J were appointed as the 
contractor to remove asbestos to the areas specified in the term asbestos consultant’s 
survey. They were also asked to undertake additional removal work to the side walls which 
had an acoustic insulation coating. All of supplier J’s work was monitored and cleared by 
the term asbestos consultant. 

Page 84



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

wolverhampton.gov.uk                                                                                       

4.3.5 Supplier G were appointed as the construction contractors in January 2017. In February 
2017 the current construction contractors found traces of asbestos on the rear wall which 
had been signed off as clear by the term asbestos consultant. Following an inspection from 
the term asbestos consultant and the identification of asbestos traces the current 
construction contractors were unwilling to allow supplier J on site to rectify the issue. In the 
meantime, the current construction contractors commissioned their own asbestos 
consultants to inspect the area and take samples which proved to contain traces of 
asbestos fibres. Concerns were expressed by the Council and the term asbestos consultant 
as to the validity of the current construction contractor’s surveys as no plan was provided of 
where samples were taken from. The current construction contractor concluded the whole 
wall must be contaminated. However, the Council’s term asbestos consultants argued that 
traces of asbestos fibres would always be found but it was well under legal limits. Based on 
these findings the current construction contractor closed the site in March 2017 due to 
health and safety grounds, which was within their legal rights to do so. 

4.3.6 Based on concerns raised by the current construction contractor over the work undertaken 
by both supplier J and the Council’s term asbestos consultant, the current construction 
contractor were unwilling to allow both contractors on site to rectify these issues. Therefore, 
it is unlikely the Council will be able to fully or part recover the cost of this work. To date we 
have paid the Council’s term asbestos consultant £78,030 and supplier J £732,258.  

4.3.7 Due to the level on downtime arising from this issue it was agreed that the current 
construction contractor should undertake the removal of asbestos going forward. On 12 
December 2017 an Individual Executive Decision Notice was signed approving a contract 
variation with the current construction contractor for £700,000 for the removal of asbestos 
throughout the Civic Halls. This decision was in accordance with the delegated authority 
already provided.

4.4 Project Management

4.4.1 It is important to note that this project had commenced prior to the Council implementing the 
approved project management approach for the Council’s projects and programmes. 
Therefore, retrospective project management information had to be entered on to the 
Council’s project management information system (Verto). 

4.4.2 A report went to the Cabinet (Resources) Panel on 20 January 2015 recommending: 
‘Delegating authority to the Cabinet Member of Economic Regeneration and Prosperity, in 
consultation with the Strategic Director Place to use the Eastern Shires Purchasing 
Organisation (ESPO) Framework for selecting a Project Manager for the Civic Hall 
refurbishment scheme’. A total of £200,000 was allocated to project management, which 
was reported under the financial implications section of the report.

Page 85



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

wolverhampton.gov.uk                                                                                       

4.4.3 Following a procurement exercise supplier K were appointed as the project managers in 
July 2015 eight months after the Council’s Property Services Strategic Partner were 
commissioned to produce their design. It was evident from an audit review of the scheme’s 
project management arrangements that supplier K were not providing effective project 
management and were not using the Council’s Project Management system (Verto). 
However, it is important to note that on average the Council were only paying for eight days 
of project management per month. The calculation was based on the fact that three officers 
within the Corporate Landlord were also allocated to the project, and had detailed 
knowledge of the building.  Subsequently, the Corporate Landlord was restructured in 2015, 
and two of the three officers left the organisation and were not directly replaced.  

4.4.4 The Interim Head of Projects & Works, who has subsequently left the Council, who was 
commissioned to oversee the scheme in January 2016, raised concerns about the 
performance of supplier K due to the fact they were missing from a number of meetings and 
their record keeping was poor. This was supported in the findings of an Internal Audit 
report, which had reviewed the programme’s project management arrangements. In June 
2016, the former Interim Head of Projects & Works decided to terminate the contract with 
supplier K, by mutual consent, and appoint supplier I as the scheme’s project managers. 
The scheme had expended a total of £89,280 in respect of supplier K’s services.

4.4.5 Both Audit Services and Corporate Procurement expressed concerns that the appointment 
of supplier I by the Interim Head of Projects & Works was not undertaken in accordance 
with the Council’s contract procedure rules. This was reported as a red recommendation in 
the Internal Audit report. However, due to the urgent need for effective project 
management, no further action was taken as it was believed that this could derail the 
project. 

4.4.6 As part of the handover process, supplier I produced a due diligence report of the project, 
which made the following recommendations:

 The creation of a formal project execution plan (PEP);
 Maintaining a master schedule in Microsoft Project with continued ownership by the 

Project Manager;
 A formal risk management plan is introduced with a dedicated risk management owner 

for the process; and
 A clear communication plan is developed and embedded in the PEP.

4.4.7 Based on information provided by Projects & Works there was evidence that these 
documents were produced by supplier I. However, due to the lack of detail contained within 
the purchase order to supplier I, and their subsequent invoices, it was not possible to 
ascertain the number of project management days that were provided to the project.

Page 86



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

wolverhampton.gov.uk                                                                                       

4.4.8 Following the on-going issues in respect of the asbestos removal concerns were expressed 
by the Strategic Director Place and the Service Director Commercial Services on how the 
project was being managed. This was evidenced in the minutes of the Strategy Board 
meeting on 6 June 2017 where a flash report was produced showing the overall progress of 
the project as amber. This assertion was challenged by the Finance Business Partner 
stating that due to the issues surrounding the identification of asbestos, and the fact there 
was no work progressing on site, the project should be categorised as a red risk. In June 
2017 the decision was taken to terminate the contract with supplier I and appoint supplier L 
as the new Project Manager. The Project Manager was known to the Service Director 
Commercial Services and was known to have previous experience of working on a grade II 
listed building, which was converted into an entertainments venue. At the time of handover, 
the scheme had expended £118,470 in respect of supplier I.

4.4.9 In June 2017 Audit Services issued a limited assurance audit report in respect of the 
scheme’s project management arrangements. The report identified the following issues:

 Non-compliance with the Council’s Contract Procedure Rules regarding engagement of 
externally provided project management services (red). 

 Lack of clarification and documentation of project governance and management 
arrangements and associated roles and responsibilities. 

 Lack of demonstration of governance/project management activities, business 
undertaken, decisions made and compliance through document retention, the definition 
of meeting frequency and establishment of meeting quorums. 

 The limited engagement of key stakeholders and client-side technical expertise. 
 Insufficient client side project management arrangements and resources. 
 Underutilisation of the Council’s project management system, Verto. 
 Inadequate identification and allocation of dedicated project support resource. 
 The absence of embedded risk management processes and consistently recorded risks. 
 Lack of formal change control procedures covering both strategic and operational 

changes. 
 Insufficient use of project tracking logs to record and manage assumptions, decisions, 

dependencies, issues and lessons learnt. 
 Limited reporting arrangements for both management and financial information. 
 Insufficient identification of support resource and development of monitoring 

mechanisms to support the Project Assurance role. 
 Lack of regular review and update of the project Communications Plan. 
 Non-completion of an Equality and Diversity impact assessment for the project. 
 Absence of procedures for benefits realisation management. 

It should be noted that the report only covered the project management arrangements up 
until June 2016. On the receipt of the report the Service Director City Economy and the 
former Director of Finance (in his project assurance role), conducted a health check with all 
officers responsible for the different aspects of the project to identify whether there were 
remaining issues an agreed plan of action was put in place to address them.

4.4.10 The findings of this review have been used to form our opinion of the programme’s project 
management arrangements. Since this report has been issued there was evidence to 
support the continual monitoring of the report’s recommendations. A review of the report’s 
findings (see Appendix B of this report) identified the following recommendations remained 
outstanding:

Page 87



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

wolverhampton.gov.uk                                                                                       

 The Council’s project management system (Verto) is not being regularly updated;
 No quorum requirements for decision making have been set for each meeting;
 There was no central repository for all programme documentation. During the course of 

our review information had to be obtained from several different sources, therefore 
making it difficult to evidence decisions;

 At the time of this review, the programme was using a risk register established by 
supplier I. However, it should be noted that the current Project Manager was in the 
process of organising a risk workshop to revise the register; and

 There is currently no designated project support. The Construction Project Officer is 
having to undertake some of these duties in addition to her current role.

Lesson learnt 12: The Council’s project management system should be kept up to date 
throughout the lifecycle of the project. An escalation process should be established where 
non-compliance has been identified i.e. reported to the Project Assurance Group. 

Lesson learnt 13: For future projects quorum requirements should be set for each meeting 
to ensure all decisions are agreed by key stakeholders.

Lesson learnt 14: At the beginning of each programme/project a document storage 
directory should be established where all documentation is filed in order to support a clear 
and transparent audit trail of decisions. This requirement should be communicated to all 
members of the programme and formalised in the terms of reference. 

Lesson learnt 15: For future projects appropriate project support should be budgeted for 
so that members of the project team can undertake their roles effectively. 

4.4.11 In addition to the above findings an analysis of the monthly highlight reports, produced from 
Verto, was undertaken from October 2016. This analysis identified that up to May 2017 the 
project was being reported as green and then changed to amber up to July 2017. From July 
2017 onwards the overall status of the project has been reported as red, which coincides 
with the introduction of the new Project Manager.

Lesson learnt 16: The highlight reports produced from Verto should provide a true and 
honest assessment of the project. Where it is deemed that this is not the case, there 
should be a robust process in place to challenge the status being reported.

4.4.12 Based on the fact the project was initiated prior to the Council adopting its approved 
approach to project/programme management the project has not been subject to the same 
level of scrutiny as newly initiated projects. Therefore, to date, no update reports have been 
presented to the Project Assurance Group, which is chaired by the Strategic Director for 
Place.

Lesson learnt 17: Going forward the Civic Halls project should be subject to project 
gateway reviews which are reported to the Project Assurance Group and the Civic Halls 
Strategy Board. 

Page 88



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

wolverhampton.gov.uk                                                                                       

4.5 Project Governance

4.5.1 During the course of the project the governance structure changed. A revised structure was 
approved by SEB in June 2017.

4.5.2 Each element of the governance structure above was supported by clear terms of 
reference. As illustrated above, the Civic Halls Project Strategy Board is required to give 
updates to both the City Centre Portfolio Board and the Council’s Strategic Executive Board 
(SEB). 

4.5.3 A review of the meeting minutes for SEB identified the only updates provided to the Board 
before 20 June 2017, were about the presentation of Cabinet reports. From 20 June 2017 
there was evidence of regular updates being presented to SEB in respect of the Civic Halls, 
which coincided with the new Project Manager’s recommendation for a series of detailed 
surveys to be undertaken to determine the full condition of the building, as reported to 
Cabinet (Resources) Panel on 25 July 2017, and a series of options going forward were still 
being considered.  

4.5.4 A review of the meeting minutes for the City Centre Portfolio Board, which is chaired by the 
Strategic Director Place, confirmed that regular updates in respect of the Civic Halls were 
presented. It was noted that the former Service Director City Economy (the Senior 
Responsible Officer for the project) is a member of the City Centre Portfolio Board. 

4.5.5 The Civic Halls Development Manager, who replaced the Head of Major Projects, was 
responsible for supporting the Senior Responsible Officer in maintaining effective 
governance. In addition, the Civic Halls Development Manager was responsible for 
reporting arrangements at the Strategic Board level from the beginning of 2016 until 2017.  
This included ensuring effective reporting to City Centre Performance Board and externally 
to the Black Country LEP.  Given unforeseen changes to the Visitor Economy services, she 
was unable to fully undertake this function, and considerable support in this role has 
continued to be provided by an officer from Corporate Landlord.

4.5.6 In terms of project governance there were four key roles in the programme which were as 
follows:

Senior Responsible Officer (SRO)
According to the former Service Director City Economy she assumed the role of the 
programme’s SRO in 2015. However, no evidence was available to confirm this.  In the 
latest terms of reference approved by the Council’s Strategic Executive Board (SEB), in 
June 2017, the role of SRO was defined as having responsibility for providing senior level 
leadership for the delivery and implementation of the project.  The SRO’s role was defined 
as ensuring that the project is focused throughout its lifecycle on achieving its objectives 
and delivering products that will achieve the projected benefits. The SRO was required to 
ensure that the project provided value for money, ensured a cost-conscious approach to the 
project, balanced the demands of business, user and supplier.  Throughout the programme, 
the SRO ‘owns’ the planned benefits to be realised.  

From the outset of the project the former Director of Finance, in his assurance role, was 
responsible for chairing the Project Strategy Board, and the former Civic Halls Project 
Improvement Board), as requested by the Managing Director.  However, the SRO 
increasingly assumed this role, because of the former Finance Director’s other corporate 
priorities. This was evidenced in a review of the Strategy Board’s meeting minutes. 

Page 89



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

wolverhampton.gov.uk                                                                                       

The former Service Director for City Economy stated that although she had oversight of the 
programme she was clear that Corporate Landlord took on the client role around the 
construction element of the programme. While she was ultimately accountable for the 
programme she was not always kept appraised of some of the decisions made by 
Corporate Landlord, for example, the decision to value engineer the scheme with supplier E 
following their stage two tender submission. The former Service Director for City Economy 
stated that, at critical points, she did not feel in control of the project as there were decisions 
being made in respect of the programme which she had no knowledge of. An example 
being the removal of £1.9 million of the programme’s funding to the LEP. 

The former Service Director for City Economy also added that when she took on the role of 
SRO, the organisation was then subject to a series of Senior Officer restructures which 
resulted in her taking on additional areas of responsibility and therefore had to place 
reliance on various members of the Civic Halls Strategy Board keeping her appraised on 
the project’s progress.

Lesson learnt 18: An escalation process should be developed whereby Senior 
Responsible Officers can raise concerns regarding their ability to govern the 
project/programme effectively.   

Lesson learnt 19: For major programmes of this nature a full-time Programme Director 
should be appointed to support the SRO in the management and delivery of the 
programme.  

The former Service Director for City Economy stated she and the Strategic Director for 
Place were keen to obtain some independent assurance on how the project was 
progressing and an audit of the project was therefore included in the 2015-16 audit plan. 
However, the audit was not started until July 2016. Once underway additional time was 
spent on dealing with procurement related non-compliance issues and in pursuing a 
number of external reports and information sources in order to complete the draft report. 
While earlier feedback was provided, these matters delayed the issue of the draft report 
until March 2017. The report was given a limited assurance rating and was subsequently 
agreed and finalised in June 2017. The former Director of City Economy indicated that 
whilst the report presented some useful findings, its impact had been diluted due to the 
length of time taken before its issue. 

Also, there was no process in place for limited assurance reports and any outstanding 
recommendations to be presented to SEB.

Lesson learnt 20: Where matters arise that result in the delay of the completion of audit 
reviews, Audit Services should issue an interim/holding report in order to provide a 
position statement at a point in time. Such a report can then be updated and reissued 
once outstanding matters have been resolved.  Audit Services should also make every 
attempt to ensure that reviews are completed within their original agreed timescales.

Lesson learnt 21: All limited assurance audit reports along with a schedule of any 
outstanding recommendations not implemented by their agreed dates should be 
presented to SEB on a regular basis.

Page 90



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

wolverhampton.gov.uk                                                                                       

Project Assurance
The then Director of Finance was appointed to a project assurance role by the Council’s 
Managing Director in 2015. This role was defined as providing an independent view of how 
the project was progressing.  The assurance role was about checking that the project 
remains viable in terms of costs and benefits (business assurance), checking that the users' 
requirements were being met (user assurance) and that the project is delivering a suitable 
solution (specialist or technical assurance).

At the time that the former Director of Finance was appointed to undertake this role, the 
Council was also playing a key role in the formation of the West Midlands Combined 
Authority, including the Director taking on an interim role as their Director of Finance with 
effect from 1 April 2017. This impacted upon the time they were able to commit to the 
Strategy Board and an ongoing conflict of meetings meant that they were unable to attend 
most of the Strategy Board meetings. However, they were represented at the Strategy 
Board by a former Finance Business Partner who they believed kept them up to date on the 
outcome of each meeting as well as challenging, where appropriate, any decisions made.

Throughout the programme the former Director of Finance stated that they were in regular 
dialogue with the former Finance Business Partner, the Director for Commercial Services, 
and the former Interim Head of Project and Works who often used them as a sounding 
board for decisions being made. 

In April 2017, following a Senior Management Restructure, the former Director of Finance 
ceased this role and commenced his Director of Finance role on a part time and interim 
basis at the Combined Authority and therefore ended his Project Assurance role.  He then 
became the Strategic Director for People on 1 September 2017. It was assumed that the 
project assurance role on the Strategy Board would be the responsibility of the new Director 
of Finance with effect from 1 April 2017. However, there was no formal hand over process.

Lesson learnt 22: Where a project role cannot be fully fulfilled due to other conflicting 
commitments, the role should be formally delegated to an alternative officer.  

Lesson learnt 23: The role of project assurance should either be undertaken by an 
external consultant or someone who has no direct involvement with the 
project/programme, to ensure complete independence is achieved. 

Page 91



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

wolverhampton.gov.uk                                                                                       

Service User (previously referred to as Senior User)
The role of Service User was jointly undertaken by the then Head of Visitor Economy and 
the Civic Halls Development Manager. The service user role is defined as being responsible 
for the specification of the business needs of all those who will use the final product(s).  
They are also responsible for liaison with users and communicating their requirements 
through the Project Board. They work with the project team and direct monitoring to ensure 
that the solution meets user requirements within the constraints of the benefits, in terms of 
quality, functionality and ease of use.

The role represents the interests of all those who use the final product(s) of the project.  
Those for whom the product will achieve an objective or those who will use the product to 
deliver benefits. The Senior User role commits user resources and monitors products 
against requirements. 

Based on a review of the Strategy Board meeting minutes there was evidence that there 
was adequate representation from a service user perspective. There was also service user 
representation on the Project Delivery Board which oversees the operational delivery of the 
programme. However, there was evidence of concerns being expressed from the Civic 
Halls Development Manager that she was not being kept informed of design changes. An 
example of the this was the design of the new heating and ventilation system for the Civic 
Halls which required a considerable number of new columns throughout all levels of the 
building, which would have affected audience views.

Lesson learnt 24: A change control procedure should be implemented whereby all 
proposed design changes are signed off and approved by the Service/Senior User for the 
project.  

Corporate Landlord (previously referred to as Senior Supplier)
In terms of the programme officers from Corporate Landlord represent the interests of those 
designing, developing, facilitating, procuring, implementing and possibly operating and 
maintaining the project products. The Senior Supplier is accountable for the quality of 
products delivered by the supplier(s). The Senior Supplier role has the authority to commit 
or acquire required supplier resources. 

Corporate Landlord, have overall responsibility for the condition and upkeep of the building, 
and therefore identify additional works that could be included in the scheme to ensure the 
building remains in good condition.  This includes the statutory responsibility for the upkeep 
of a grade II listed building in a conservation area. 

In terms of the governance of the project officers from Corporate Landlord were actively 
involved in the Project Delivery Board which oversaw the operational delivery of the project. 
The Head of Corporate Landlord chaired the Delivery Board but was also a member of the 
Strategy Board.

Based on discussions with the Head of Corporate Landlord he stated that there was no 
cohesion between strategy board and the delivery board as key information regarding the 
delivery of the project was reported at the strategy board level. This was evidenced in the 
meetings as there was no evidence of the minutes of the Delivery Board being presented at 
the Strategy Board.  

Page 92



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

wolverhampton.gov.uk                                                                                       

Lesson learnt 25: High-risk projects and programmes should be periodically called in by 
PAG and should also be subject to gateway reviews.  

4.6 Reporting to Elected Members

4.6.1 This review and a timeline of events has confirmed that elected members of the Council 
were kept appraised of the Civic Halls project. This is highlighted in the table below:

Date of 
Report Meeting Nature of Report

11/11/2013 Executive Team Options report presented by supplier C

29/07/2014 Cabinet (Resources) 
Panel

Presentation of supplier C’s report and approval 
to proceed with finalising the detailed business 
case based on option three.

01/10/2014 Cabinet Approval sought for project to proceed and a 
capital budget of £10.4 million.

20/01/2015 Cabinet (Resources) 
Panel

Delegated authority sought to use the Eastern 
Shire Purchasing Organisation (ESPO) 
Framework to procure a project manager.

23/06/2015 Cabinet Approval sought to vire £436k from Corporate 
Asset Management for reinstatement works.

28/07/2015 Cabinet (Resources) 
Panel

Delegated authority sought to appoint an 
asbestos removal contractor and appoint a 
construction contractor from the Construction 
West Midlands (CWM) Framework. Approval was 
also sought for an additional £483k of capital 
resources for the removal of asbestos.

19/07/2016 Cabinet (Resources) 
Panel

Approval sought for an additional £2.6 million of 
capital resources to reflect re-engineered 
scheme and the costs associated with procuring 
via the OJEU tendering process.

20/12/2016 Individual Executive 
Decision Notice

Signed by Cabinet Member for City Economy for 
the appointment of supplier G as the construction 
contractors. It should be noted this was reported 
to Cabinet (Resources) Panel under the 
schedule of executive decisions.

03/07/2017 Audit and Risk 
Committee

A limited assurance review of the “Civic Halls 
Refurbishment - Project Management” was 
included in the Annual Internal Audit Report 
presented to the Council’s Audit and Risk 
Committee along with an update position 
statement on what action was being taken as a 
result of the report. The committee indicated the 
importance of ensuring the recommendations 
were implemented and the minutes indicate that 
no further queries or concerns were raised.

Page 93



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

wolverhampton.gov.uk                                                                                       

Date of 
Report Meeting Nature of Report

25/07/2017 Cabinet (Resources) 
Panel

Approval sought for an additional £150k sought 
for essential maintenance and repairs following 
anti-terrorism recommendations. 

12/12/2017 Individual Executive 
Decision Notice

Signed jointly by the Cabinet Member for City 
Economy and the Cabinet Member for City 
Assets & Housing approving a contract variation 
with supplier G to the value of £700,000 in 
respect of the removal asbestos within the Civic 
Halls.

16/01/2018 Cabinet (Resources) 
Panel

Approval sought to rescope the programme to a 
full refurbishment scheme. Approval also sought 
for an additional £23.7 million.

4.6.2 The former Service Director City Economy stated the Cabinet Member for City Economy 
was regularly briefed on the status of the project. In addition, the Director of Finance briefed 
the Cabinet Member for Resources in respect of any budget implications affecting the 
project.

4.7 Project Financing

4.7.1 In July 2013 an independent report was produced by supplier C entitled ‘Options for the 
future of Wolverhampton’s culture and entertainment offer’. This report was commissioned 
by Services Director City Economy. In the report were a number of options for the future of 
the Civic Halls. The conclusion of the report was to upgrade the Civic Halls and expand its 
offering (increased capacity). The report contained a capital cost estimate of £11.3 million 
based on information provided by two officers from Property Services (now known as 
Corporate Landlord), who have subsequently left the Council.  However, it is important to 
stress there was a caveat in the report which stated ‘As highlighted earlier in this report, 
these figures are initial working estimates at this stage.  The capital costs will need to be 
revisited in significantly greater detail and confirmed in due course - based on the evolving 
specification and associated designs – by a QS. It has not been within our scope of works 
nor have we at this stage sought to challenge the capital cost information that has been 
prepared by third parties and is summarised in this Annex’. 

4.7.2 Following the presentation of this report to the Council’s Executive Team a Cabinet Report 
on 29 July 2014 was produced which gave an initial budget estimate of £10.4 million for this 
option. This included £0.1 million for enabling works (surveys etc.).

4.7.3 A further report was presented to Cabinet on 1 October 2014 seeking approval for the 
following:

Approve a capital programme budget for the civic halls improvements of £10.4 million 
funded from an external grant of £6.2 million and £4.2 million as a virement from the capital 
allocation for regeneration priorities. 

Page 94



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

wolverhampton.gov.uk                                                                                       

4.7.4 All cost estimates were provided by Corporate Landlord, which at the time included an 
experienced qualified Architect and a Quantity Surveyor.  

4.7.5 On 23 June 2015, a report was presented to Cabinet approving a virement of £436,000 
which increased the budget to £10.836 million. 

4.7.6 On 28 July 2015, a report was presented to Cabinet (Resources) Panel seeking approval of 
an additional budget of £483,000 for the removal of asbestos following the survey carried 
out by the Council’s approved asbestos term contractor. This then resulted in the budget 
increasing to £11.319 million. It should be noted that an additional £400,000 of external 
funding from the Black Country LEP was secured by the supplier K’s Project Manager 
towards these costs.

4.7.7 On 19 July 2016, a report was presented to Cabinet (Resources) Panel seeking an 
additional £2.6 million of capital resources to fund the project following a decision to go 
back out to an OJEU procurement process following the tender submission from supplier E 
being declined. Review of the commercial income projections by the Head of Visitor 
Economy and Strategic Finance Manager confirmed that this could be covered by the 
additional income that would be generated by the scheme.  It should be noted that the most 
recent independent commercial assessment by supplier C was that this uplift was very 
modest.

4.7.8 It is evident from the above that the true condition of the building was not known at the point 
the initial £10.4 million budget was set, as no detailed surveys had been carried out. Based 
on the independent advice provided by supplier B, who have supported us with this review, 
they would have expected a 60% optimism bias for the setting of the contingency. This 
contingency could have then been managed down once the structural suite of building 
surveys had been completed and the condition of the building known.  Based on the initial 
budget set this would have resulted in an overall capital budget of £16 million which 
coincides the stage two tender submitted by supplier E.

4.7.9 Based on the advice of supplier B, even if the structural nature of the building had been 
known they would have expected a contingency of 25% based on the Civic Hall’s being a 
grade II listed building.

Lesson learnt 26: For all future projects the initial capital budget should be subject to an 
independent risk assessment process in order to determine the level of contingency 
required to manage the future risks of the project.  

Page 95



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

wolverhampton.gov.uk                                                                                       

4.7.10 It is the assertion of the project’s SRO that other than the reports to Cabinet she was never 
requested to secure additional funding for the project. This was highlighted by the fact that 
English Heritage Funding could have been secured in respect of repairs to a leaking roof. 
The SRO was pro-active in seeking to secure additional resources for the current scheme, 
and instructed the Strategic Project Funding Manager to explore all potential external 
funding for the scheme, as it had been scoped.   As a result, a bid was submitted for the 
removal and safe storage of the Civic Halls organ to the Heritage Lottery Fund, which 
proved unsuccessful.  The Strategic Project Funding Manager was also a member of the 
Project Board between 2014 and 2015 providing ample opportunity for the Corporate 
Landlord to put forward other requests, particularly for items beyond the scope of the 
original scheme such as roof repairs and repairs to the fabric of the building, which were 
required. It is the view of the SRO that there was greater likelihood of securing Heritage 
Lottery Funding in respect of these repairs if she had been made aware of them at the start 
of the project and during the design stage.  As part of the business case for the 
fundamentally widened and extended scope of the new scheme, approved in January 2018, 
around £5 million costs have been identified as potentially eligible from external funding 
sources.  However, it should be noted that at this late stage it will be much harder to meet 
grant conditions, given the procurement process that has been followed.

Lesson learnt 27: Financing and funding requirements should be a standard agenda item 
for all Strategy Board meetings to ensure all funding opportunities are explored 
throughout the lifecycle of the project.  

4.7.11 In July 2017 a request was made for resources to fund a series of in-depth and intrusive 
surveys.  As a result of the findings, a new business case was approved by Cabinet 
(Resources) Panel and endorsed by full Council in January 2018.  It should be noted that 
the scope of this scheme is substantially wider than the original scheme.  It is driven by the 
Corporate Landlord requirement to achieve a full 25 year lifecycle on all aspects of the 
building, as well as fulfil new statutory requirements that were not communicated to the 
Project Board or SRO during the development and delivery of the new project.

4.8 Supplier B’s Assessment of Risk Management

4.8.1 At the time of this review the Civic Halls refurbishment project was not contained as a 
specific risk on the Council’s risk register. Civic Halls were covered under risk nine which 
related to City Centre regeneration. In light of the fact that the Civic Halls generates £4.3 
million of Gross Value Added (GVA) to the local Wolverhampton economy and the recent 
press reports this should stand as its own risk in order to for SEB to monitor its progress.

Lesson learnt 28: The Civic Halls refurbishment project should stand as its own specific 
risk on the Council’s Strategic Risk Register.   

4.8.2 Risk Management, expectations of the review

The current widely adopted standards are clear about the process required for effective risk 
management and the steps to the achievement.  In ISO 31000 Risk Management, risk is 
defined as the effect of uncertainty on objectives, it goes on to say…”Risk Management 
should, if implemented and supported by the organisation:

 increase the likelihood of achieving objectives;
Page 96



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

wolverhampton.gov.uk                                                                                       

 encourage proactive management;
 increase awareness of the need to identify and treat risk throughout the organization;
 improve the identification of opportunities and threats;
 comply with relevant legal and regulatory requirements and international norms;
 improve mandatory and voluntary reporting;
 improve governance;
 improve stakeholder confidence and trust;
 establish a reliable basis for decision making and planning;
 improve controls;
 effectively allocate and use resources for risk treatment;
 improve operational effectiveness and efficiency;
 enhance health and safety performance, as well as environmental protection;
 improve loss prevention and incident management;
 minimise losses;
 improve organisational learning”

The Management of Risk: Guidance for Practitioners (MoR) sets out four simple principles 
for the development and maintenance of good risk management practice, these are 
informed by corporate governance principles and ISO31000 (2009).  MoR states that these 
principles are at a high level and universally applicable to provide guidance for 
organisations in the development of an appropriate risk management process as a part of 
their internal controls:

Identify

Assess

Plan

Implement

Figure 1: MoR Principles

MoR provides simple and useful definitions to introduce the purpose and characteristics of 
risk management.  The MoR defines the term “Risk Management” as the systematic 
application of the principles, an approach and a process to the tasks of identifying ans 
assessing risks and then planning and implementing risk responses.  This provides a 
disciplined environment for proactive decision-making.

For risk management to be effective and what we should be able to evidence in this review 
is the following:

 That risks have been identified and the uncertainties that would affect the achievement 
of objectives within the context of the project considered.

 That the risks have been assessed to define their probability, impact and proximity and 
the overall exposure that they represent. 

 That the risks have been controlled and that appropriate mitigation strategies have 
been identified and action planning carried out and is sufficiently evidenced.

Page 97



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

wolverhampton.gov.uk                                                                                       

In support of the above simple principles the following documentation/ evidence should be 
in place and reviewed regularly:

 Risk Management Plan
 Risk register
 Risk reporting at a periodicity appropriate for the project 
 SMART mitigation action planning and action progress monitoring
 Records of the risk reviews carried out

The process and context of risk management should be clearly defined in the Project 
Execution Plan.

Lesson learnt 29: The Council should adopt a standard for project risk management to 
clarify requirements and lead the management of risk on its projects.

4.8.3 Optimism bias and budget setting

The documentation and timeline show that the budget that was set for the project was set 
on very limited information about the condition of the building and the potential construction 
risks associated with a project involving significant changes to a listed building with a clear 
backlog of maintenance. 

The Green Book indicates that the level of optimism bias appropriate at the initiation of the 
project should have been between 24% and 51% based on the range suggested as a high-
level assessment for buildings (standard and non-standard), and in the absence of a well-
defined scope and the lack of information on the condition and construction history of the 
building this is arguably too low at the point that the initial budget was set. 

Benchmarking and the use of reference data from other projects should be used to validate 
the budget and contingency derived either using an optimism bias approach or a detailed 
quantitative risk analysis.

There is no evidence that a robust assessment of the risk was carried out in support of the 
budget. In the final scheme, the contingency setting methodology is unclear in the 
documentation and appears to have been based on a rule-of-thumb application of 
contingencies to elements of the works.  There is no risk register or assumptions 
assessment to inform the contingency setting.

There is, therefore, no evidence that the approach to the budget setting has improved 
based on the early experience in the project.  The contingency should be backed by a 
detailed and quantified risk register and the full disclosure of the assumptions base for the 
re-pricing, to allow estimating uncertainty to be fully understood.  It is important to 
understand whether the rates used in the re-pricing are risk inclusive or exclusive (e.g. 
based on previous actual costs or supply-chain quoted rates).  The absence of a detailed 
plan for the works also meant that the schedule-related risk was not well defined and 
optimism bias in the project duration was not taken into account in the budget-setting.

  
4.8.4 Contingency management, exposure assessment and change control

Page 98



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

wolverhampton.gov.uk                                                                                       

The management of change and its relationship to the management of contingency is 
unclear.  There is no evidence of assessment of risk against change, for example, the 
changes in scope and budget and the assessment of the risk imported by the value 
engineering proposals.  The implementation of value engineering necessarily carries with it 
risk, assumptions have been made as to the efficacy of the VE proposals in reducing 
overall cost, and these are inherently uncertain.  There is a danger in presenting value 
engineering as providing simple, deterministic outcomes.

There is no evidence that the exposure of the project to overspend (and over-run) has been 
systematically re-assessed through the progress of the project and the initial or tender/post 
tender stages.  It is clear from supplier E’s Stage 3 tender return that the exposure (risk) 
profile was different from that at earlier project stages.  Despite this and a detailed set of 
tender exclusions and assumptions provided by supplier E, there is no evidence of any 
attempt to robustly assess the implications on the key cost and time objectives of the 
project.

There is a close link between risk, change control and contingency management, and each 
is integral to the successful delivery of the project.  In this case, there is little evidence that 
the risk has been identified and assessed robustly, change control has been managed or 
that there is a contingency setting or management process in place.  

Lesson learnt 30:  Change must be managed in the context of a clearer understanding of 
the impact of change on the risk profile of the project.  Contingency management should 
be carried out in the context of a clear understanding of the current risk exposure, and the 
change process should facilitate the reassessment and communication of contingency 
requirements through the project lifecycle.

4.8.5 Verto Highlights Report and risk management evidence

The Verto Highlights Reports have been reviewed in detail as discussed above; they 
appear to be the only tangible evidence of risk reporting and mitigation capture on the 
project.  

 The Verto reporting appears to be the main CoWC risk reporting (communication) and 
escalation mechanism for the project.

 There do not appear to be robust action plans to deliver the mitigations as described in 
the reports.

 The risks do not appear to have been reviewed (given the lack of any evidence for 
changes in scoring or descriptions month-on-month).  Verto reporting does not report 
the last review date against the risks reported.

 The general status section of the Verto Highlights is not reflective of the project status- 
most of the key criteria are “green”.

 There are gaps in the Verto Highlights reporting evidence (e.g. Jan 2016 to November 
2016).  

There is a note in the Highlights Report that on the 8th November 2016 a risk workshop was 
held, with all stakeholders and that the output was awaiting quantification to provide an 
assessment of the contingency requirements. (Verto Highlights Report Nov 2016); the 
evidence for the output of the workshop and the subsequent analysis for contingency 
setting has not been seen as a part of this review.  

Page 99



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

wolverhampton.gov.uk                                                                                       

The audit report (2016/17) states that the supplier K’s risk register from 2016 was used as 
the main risk management tool and that supplier K did not utilise the Verto system.  It is 
unclear what was happening in the Verto system during this period given that there were 
reports produced including risk information with some evidence that updates to the data 
were occurring.

It should be noted that the scoring of the risks also does not appear to give the true risk 
profile for the project with low probabilities assigned to risks that were fairly clearly 
crystallising.

Lesson learnt 31:  The use of Verto for project management, risk management and 
reporting, should be mandatory for all Council projects and managed to assure the 
Council and supply chain engagement. 

4.8.6 Risk Registers

As a part of the review, three risk registers have been looked at. In all cases, there is an 
absence of clear evidence (which should be present, e.g. last review date, action updates 
etc.) of systematic ongoing review and update.  The risk descriptions are poorly expressed, 
and the scoring and assessment of the risk are not explained on the registers.  The scoring 
scheme adopted has changed through the job with the supplier I’s register a development 
on supplier K’s approach in which the probability assessment was very poor.

Supplier I’s register has been costed and assessed poorly, and the approach does not align 
with best (or any) accepted practice.  Additionally, there are a number of risks that have 
probabilities of 100% (a risk may or may not happen so 100% is incorrect as the 
assessment of a risk probability). Supplier I’s risk register is not logically laid out to lead the 
user in the development of robust understanding and description of the risk.  Terms like 
“resolution” to implies that a risk can be, in all cases, mitigated.  This is not the case. 

The Audit report (2016/17) also states that in future that supplier I’s developed risk register 
should be used as the template.  This register is not a well-developed risk register format, 
particularly for action tracking and assessment of the effects of mitigation.  

Lesson learnt 32:  The Council should have standard process documentation, 
requirements, and templates that are used across all capital projects. This will provide a 
consistent approach and drive the adoption of best practice and allow a simple upload to 
the Verto system.

4.8.7 General- Risk and the Project Execution Plan(s)

There are two versions of the PEP that have been reviewed, one produced by supplier I 
and a second produced by the current project manager that builds on supplier I’s document.  
There is an update due imminently from the current project manager on the areas that have 
been duplicated from supplier I’s PEP. The project execution plans are light on detail on the 
implementation of risk management on the project despite the statement “the project shall 
be subject to a formal risk management which will be implemented and managed by the 
project manager on behalf of the project leader”.  There needs to be a clear and 
unambiguous risk management process, backed up with a RACI and with the right level of 
support from senior management. 

Page 100



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

wolverhampton.gov.uk                                                                                       

4.8.8 Current Position

At the time of this review it was understood that the current project manager was proposing 
to undertake a risk management process alongside the current construction contractors in 
an attempt to better define the project status and potential outturn/completion date.  It was 
agreed that this risk analysis work would be independently reviewed by supplier B in order 
to provide some assurance around its robustness. 

To date Audit Services have not seen any evidence of this analysis and a copy was never 
provided to supplier B to independently review. 

Page 101



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

wolverhampton.gov.uk                                                                                       

5 Where we are now
5.1 A new Project Manager was appointed to the project in June 2017. As part of the handover 

process, the Project Manager undertook a review of the current project. The report identified 
the following issues:

 Funding timelines were likely to be compromised.
 Contractor scope and omitted works to reduce costs.
 High level of unmitigated risks remains with the client.
 Full risk pot (contingency) not included in the current cost plan/budget.
 Risk allocation to the contractor is unclear
 Lack of understanding of building from a structural perspective. There is no complete 

structural survey, hence the design is incomplete.
 Significant backlog of maintenance works not being addressed.
 The electrical system requires full replacement. Under the scope of the contract there is 

partial replacement.
 Retained services at ‘end of life’ on contract completion.
 Clarity on stakeholder requirements sought.
 The heating, ventilation, and air-conditioning system is not aligned to the thermal model.
 The facilities management provision within current contract appears inadequate.
 Technical fees to up to the point of completion need to be addressed.
 Revenue budget to be assessed to confirm appropriate.
 The current budget is insufficient to deliver the current scheme.
 Programme closures require assessment.

5.2 Following this report, it is understood a decision was taken by the Strategic Director Place 
that the project should be revisited to ensure it captured all essential works and ensured that 
the building was future-proofed for the next 25 years. From this point forward regular updates 
were provided to the Council’s Strategic Executive Board.

5.3 On 25 July 2017 a report was presented to the Cabinet (Resources) Panel seeking the 
following approval:  

 £150,000 expenditure towards the estimated cost of additional technical surveys to 
identify if future maintenance and repairs can be minimised for the longer term and 
following recent national incidents, towards a review of the need for any additional public 
safety requirements that should be included in the improvement scheme.

 a draw down for the required funding from the Budget Contingency reserve, as additional 
unbudgeted expenditure is required.

5.4 Following the subsequent approval of this report, a suite of surveys has been commissioned 
to minimise future risks to the project. Also, an independent Project Health Check was 
commissioned from supplier A in December 2017 to assess the scope, cost and delivery of 
the proposed restoration scheme. An independent due diligence review of the structural, 
electrical, mechanical and plumbing elements of the design has also been commissioned 
from supplier B.

Page 102



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

wolverhampton.gov.uk                                                                                       

5.5 Following this work a report was presented to Cabinet (Resources) Panel on 16 January 
2018 seeking the following approval:

 Approve the scope of construction and associated works for the comprehensive 
restoration of both Wulfrun and Civic Halls;

 Approve the additional capital resources of £23.7 million required to deliver the Civic Halls 
project;

 Approve the development of a ticket levy to support the proposed scheme
 Delegate authority to the Cabinet Member for City Economy, in consultation with the 

Strategic Director for Place, to agree the contract variation with the current construction 
contractor when the negotiation process is complete.

The report was also asked to note:

 The revised business case for the Civic Halls;
 The approach to seeking additional grant funding from external sources, to reduce the 

cost to the Council.

5.6 These recommendations were approved by Cabinet (Resources) Panel and then full Council 
on 31 Janaury 2018. It was noted from the report that the total budget for the project has now 
increased from £14.4 million to £38.1 million, with the contingency increasing from £1.05 
million to £6.4 million.

5.7 The new Project Manager’s remit is limited to the design and construction workstream, under 
the direction of the Head of Corporate Landlord. Therefore, the Project Manager is not 
responsible for the delivery of the other programme workstreams, which are also substantial, 
and on which the final successful outcomes of the project depends. This includes: substantial 
new visitors to the city, safeguarding and creating new jobs, additional training and 
apprenticeship opportunities, increased GVA and substantial new levels commercial income 
to enable the savings proposals in the MTFS to be achieved.  

5.8 Following the approval of the substantially new Civic Halls Restoration scheme, the new 
SRO and Programme Board have instigated a new project governance structure.  This 
elevates the Civic Halls Restoration from a project to a full programme. There has been a 
new Programme Director appointed with a dedicated Programme support officer.  This 
means that the design and construction element of the programme is one of a number of 
projects within a large programme.  The other projects are – business continuity, business 
development, economic (including local business support, skills and employment) and 
Finance.

5.9 The contract with the current construction contractor will require renegotiation to correspond 
with the relevant revised scope of works and contracting approach. Re-procuring the contract 
would result in an estimated one year delay to the programme and therefore, would not meet 
the revised programme deadlines. This exposes the Council to non-compliance with OJEU 
procurement procedures as the new value of the contract is more than the permitted 50% 
contract variation threshold.

Page 103



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

wolverhampton.gov.uk                                                                                       Page 104



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

wolverhampton.gov.uk 

6 Lessons Learnt – Action Plan

No Lessons Learnt Responsibility Proposed action to be taken Target date

1 Options appraisals should be 
challenged on all future 
refurbishment projects to ensure 
they address long term 
maintenance issues and future 
proof the building.

Head of 
Corporate 
Landlord

Lifecycle assessments of all proposed capital projects to be 
undertaken as an integral element of options 
appraisals/business cases.  

With immediate 
effect

2 For each future project the 
repairs and maintenance 
programme should be reviewed 
so a proactive approach is taken 
to futureproof the City’s assets.

Head of 
Corporate 
Landlord

The repairs and maintenance programme is proactively 
managed and works prioritised accordingly to align and make 
best use of available resources. Periodic condition surveys are 
the basis of the repairs and maintenance programme of works. 
The condition surveys will be supplemented by lifecycle 
assessments for each project to provide informed capital 
investment and revenue budgets.

With immediate 
effect

3 For future projects, where the 
structural condition of a site or 
building is unknown a realistic 
capital budget, which contains a 
robust risk managed 
contingency, should be 
established.

Head of 
Corporate 
Landlord

Risks associated with a lack of critical information will be 
managed through commissioning surveys and investigations 
during the project feasibility phase and an appropriate 
contingency will be identified. A standard operating procedure 
will be put in place that evidences and records the basis of 
assumptions used to identify contingencies. Reference will be 
made to industry benchmark data, relevant past projects, 
market conditions and external advisors.

With immediate 
effect

P
age 105



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

wolverhampton.gov.uk 

No Lessons Learnt Responsibility Proposed action to be taken Target date

4 Where a future scheme cannot 
be delivered within the initial 
budget this will be discussed 
with the Director of Finance 
immediately and where it is 
deemed necessary an options 
report should be submitted to 
the Council’s Strategic 
Executive Board seeking a 
decision on whether to rescope 
the scheme within the approved 
budget envelope or seek an 
additional budget for an 
uncompromised scheme.

Senior 
Responsible 
Officer

Senior Responsible Office and Project Manager will complete 
an options report drawing on Subject Matter Experts (Finance 
and Commercial) to ensure the adequate detail is sought and 
decisions are made. 

With immediate 
effect

5 For future projects, the risk for 
design and structural surveys 
should be adequately assessed 
to ascertain the best delivery 
approach. This should then be 
supported by a robust contract 
with a realistic budget to deliver 
a full suite of surveys to mitigate 
unknown risks and cost 
increases.

Head of 
Corporate 
Landlord

Ownership of project risks will be assessed and allocated to the 
most appropriate party with an appropriate contingency 
identified.

With immediate 
effect

P
age 106



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

wolverhampton.gov.uk 

No Lessons Learnt Responsibility Proposed action to be taken Target date

6 A formal change management 
process should be in place for 
all projects which record the 
consequences, and risks, of 
omitting items from the original 
scheme design in order that 
informed decisions can be made 
by the Project Board, who are in 
a position to escalate issues 
upwards, if necessary.

Projects and 
Programmes 
Manager

The Projects and Programme Manager will ensure a change 
management log is established and that relevant request for 
change documentation is produced. All changes will be 
approved in line with each project’s governance around change 
management.

With immediate 
effect

7 The Council’s strategic 
partnership should be reviewed 
to ensure it has delivered value 
for money on this scheme. 

For all future projects alternative 
design approaches should be 
assessed which are supported 
by a robust contract.

Head of 
Corporate 
Landlord

Head of 
Corporate 
Landlord

The framework contract under the strategic partnership expired 
at end of March 2018 and no new work is being awarded to 
them.

A new operating model for project delivery will be implemented 
based on Royal Institute of British Architects plan of work which 
will consider the alternative design approaches during the 
concept and feasibility stages.

Implemented

1 December 2018

8 Sufficient time should be built 
into future project plans to allow 
for a thorough, and most 
appropriate, procurement 
process to take place.

Senior 
Responsible 
Officer

The Senior Responsible Officer will ensure a detailed plan is 
developed at the feasibility stage in conjunction with the Head 
of Procurement. The plan should then be approved in 
accordance with the project’s governance process. 

With immediate 
effect

P
age 107



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

wolverhampton.gov.uk 

No Lessons Learnt Responsibility Proposed action to be taken Target date

9 For future projects of this nature 
Corporate Procurement should 
be engaged earlier in the project 
and be represented on the 
Board.

Senior 
Responsible 
Officer

Procurement representation will be a standard role on Terms of 
Reference (TOR) for projects. 

The Senior Responsible Officer will ensure the TOR are 
approved in accordance with the relevant governance and that 
a Procurement representative is a member of the Board.

Implemented 

10 Where the advice of Corporate 
Procurement is not followed 
there should be a clear audit trail 
to support this decision.

Head of 
Procurement

The Head of Procurement will ensure that all decisions and 
issues relating to procurement are raised and minuted at Board 
or working groups. This will also be noted in the decision log on 
Verto.

Implemented

11 For future projects of this nature, 
the risk for the removal of 
asbestos should be adequately 
assessed to ensure it resides 
with the appropriate party.

Head of 
Corporate 
Landlord

The risk of asbestos contamination and will be assessed during 
the feasibility phase of a project and relevant surveys 
undertaken. 

Where removal is the appropriate treatment measure then the 
contracting strategy for this will be produced and agreed by the 
Board in accordance with the relevant governance process.

With immediate 
effect

P
age 108



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

wolverhampton.gov.uk 

No Lessons Learnt Responsibility Proposed action to be taken Target date

12 The Council’s project 
management system should be 
kept up to date throughout the 
lifecycle of the project. An 
escalation process should be 
established where non-
compliance has been identified 
i.e. reported to the Project 
Assurance Group.

Senior 
Responsible 
Officer

Project and 
Programmes 
Manager

The Senior Responsible Officer and Project Manager will 
ensure adequate project support to maintain Verto.

A monthly “highlight report” is produced by the Projects and 
Programmes Team which sets out the status of each project or 
programme is presented to Directorate Leadership, Wider 
Leadership team meetings and provided to the Audit team.

A performance dashboard has recently been developed that 
highlights non-compliance and areas of risk which in addition is 
present to the Project Assurance Group. 

With immediate 
effect

Implemented

13 For future projects quorum 
requirements should be set for 
each meeting to ensure all 
decisions are agreed by key 
stakeholders.

Senior 
Responsible 
Officer

The initial Board meeting will approve the Terms of Reference 
which will include the required quorum for respective meetings 
and decision making. 

Implemented

14 At the beginning of each 
programme/project a document 
storage directory should be 
established where all 
documentation is filed in order to 
support a clear and transparent 
audit trail of decisions. This 
requirement should be 
communicated to all members of 
the programme and formalised 
in the terms of reference.

Senior 
Responsible 
Officer

Projects and 
Programmes 
Manager

The Senior Responsible Officer and Project Manager will agree 
at the start of a project how document storage and 
management will be undertaken. This will be recorded in the 
minutes of the Board. 

The Projects and Programmes Team provides advice on 
document storage and management as part of its Project 
Management Training.

With immediate 
effect

P
age 109



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

wolverhampton.gov.uk 

No Lessons Learnt Responsibility Proposed action to be taken Target date

15 For future projects appropriate 
project support should be 
budgeted for in order that 
members of the project team 
can undertake their roles 
effectively.

Senior 
Responsible 
Officer

The Senior Responsible Officer and Project Manager will agree 
what project support resources will be required. This will be 
recorded in the minutes of the Board meeting.

The Senior Responsible Officer and Programme Manager will 
seek advice and support to recruit the appropriate project 
support resources and to ensure that budget is available for 
external assurance if required.

With immediate 
effect

16 The highlight reports produced 
from Verto should provide a true 
and honest assessment of the 
project. Where it is deemed that 
this is not the case there should 
be a robust process in place to 
challenge the status being 
reported.

Senior 
Responsible 
Officer

Senior Responsible Officers on all projects and programmes 
will encourage a culture of honest and open reporting. 

The Project Assurance Group, chaired by the Director of 
Finance or the Strategic Director for Place, will provide officer 
oversight and challenge for major capital projects and 
programmes.

There is a standing item on Project Assurance Group meeting 
agenda to provide an update on all major capital programmes 
through Verto performance dashboard reporting.

Implemented

P
age 110



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

wolverhampton.gov.uk 

No Lessons Learnt Responsibility Proposed action to be taken Target date

17 Going forward the Civic Halls 
project should be subject to 
project gateway reviews which 
are reported to the Project 
Assurance Group and the Civic 
Halls Strategy Board.

Senior 
Responsible 
Officer

A new governance arrangement has been established for the 
Civic Halls project and a Programme Director appointed. 

External assurance consultants have been engaged to provide 
an independent review to the Board of progress at each stage 
of the project prior to authorisation to proceed to the next 
stage.

Authorisation will be recorded in the minutes of the Board 
meetings.

Implemented

18 An escalation process should be 
developed whereby Senior 
Responsible Officers can raise 
concerns regarding their ability 
to govern the project/programme 
effectively.   

Senior 
Responsible 
Officer

The Chair of the Project Assurance Group has been 
designated as the point of contact for Senior Responsible 
Officers to raise these concerns.

The Chair of the Project Assurance Group will discuss these 
concerns to the relevant Director, Strategic Director or 
Strategic Executive Board as appropriate.

With immediate 
effect

19 For major programmes of this 
nature a full-time Programme 
Director should be appointed to 
support the SRO in the 
management and delivery of the 
programme.

Projects and 
Programmes 
Manager

During the concept and feasibility phases of a project the 
scope, complexity and risks will be assessed and identified. 
These will be presented to the Project Assurance Group where, 
as part of the approval to progress, the requirement as to 
whether to appoint a Programme Director should be decided. 

With immediate 
effect

P
age 111



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

wolverhampton.gov.uk 

No Lessons Learnt Responsibility Proposed action to be taken Target date

20 Where matters arise that result 
in the delay of the completion of 
audit reviews, Audit Services 
should issue an interim/holding 
report in order to provide a 
position statement at a point in 
time. Such a report can then be 
updated and reissued once 
outstanding matters have been 
resolved.  Audit Services should 
also make every attempt to 
ensure that reviews are 
completed within their original 
agreed timescales.

Head of Audit The Audit Services Team has been instructed to comply with 
this requirement. Throughout the review any issues or findings 
that may result in a red or amber recommendation will be 
communicated with the audit.

Implemented

21 All limited assurance audit 
reports along with a schedule of 
any outstanding 
recommendations not 
implemented by their agreed 
dates should be presented to 
SEB on a regular basis.

Head of Audit All limited reports are now presented to the next available SEB 
meeting.

Implemented

22 Where a project role cannot be 
fully fulfilled due to other 
conflicting commitments the role 
should be formally delegated to 
an alternative officer.

Senior 
Responsible 
Officer

The Senior Responsible Officer will regularly review project 
resources and project roles and propose any changes to the 
Board for approval.

The adequacy of project resources will be assessed as part of 
the review at prior to the authorisation to proceed to the next 
stage of the project.

Implemented

P
age 112



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

wolverhampton.gov.uk 

No Lessons Learnt Responsibility Proposed action to be taken Target date

23 The role of project assurance 
should either be undertaken by 
an external consultant or 
someone who has no direct 
involvement with the 
project/programme, to ensure 
complete independence is 
achieved.

Senior 
Responsible 
Officer

The Senior Responsible Officer will be responsible for ensuring 
that appropriate and independent project assurance 
arrangements are in place. 

External specialist project and risk assurance consultancy has 
been procured to support the delivery of projects and 
programmes.

In addition, a Commercial Business Partner and Audit Business 
Partner have been provided training to be able to undertake 
peer reviews of major projects.

With immediate 
effect

24 A change control procedure 
should be implemented whereby 
all proposed design changes are 
signed off and approved by the 
Service/Senior User for the 
project.

Senior 
Responsible 
Officer

The Senior Responsible Officer shall ensure that the 
Programme Director / Project Manager will establish 
appropriate change management processes which record and 
provide an audit trail of changes and reasons. 

The Terms of Reference will include which changes are 
delegated to the programme team and which are reserved to 
be decided by the Board.

3 September 
2018

P
age 113



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

wolverhampton.gov.uk 

No Lessons Learnt Responsibility Proposed action to be taken Target date

25 High risk projects and 
programmes should be 
periodically called in by Project 
Assurance Group and should 
also be subject to gateway 
reviews.

Chair of Project 
Assurance 
Group

The Project Assurance Group, chaired by the Director of 
Finance or the Strategic Director for Place, will provide officer 
oversight and challenge for major capital projects and 
programmes.

There is a standing item on Project Assurance Group meeting 
agenda to provide an update on all major capital programmes 
through Verto performance dashboard reporting.

The Programme Director or Project Manager will provide an 
update to Project Assurance Group when required and include 
regular updates as part of project planning.

With immediate 
effect

26 For all future projects the initial 
capital budget should be subject 
to an independent risk 
assessment process in order to 
determine the level of 
contingency required to manage 
the future risks of the project.  

Chief 
Accountant

External specialist project and risk assurance consultancy has 
been procured to support the delivery of projects and 
programmes.

In addition, a Commercial Business Partner and Audit Business 
Partner have been provided training to be able to undertake 
peer reviews of major projects. This will provide an additional 
opportunity to challenge proposed contingencies and 
robustness of plans

Finance are represented on all major capital programmes and 
are members of the Board and working groups. This provides 
assurance and challenge around contingencies and 
programme budgets. All formal reports to require sign-off from 
Finance and therefore Finance comments and approval must 
be sought before submission.

1 August 2018

P
age 114



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

wolverhampton.gov.uk 

No Lessons Learnt Responsibility Proposed action to be taken Target date

27 Financing and funding 
requirements should be a 
standard agenda item for all 
Strategy Board meetings to 
ensure all funding opportunities 
are explored throughout the 
lifecycle of the project.

Senior 
Responsible 
Officer

The Senior Responsible Officer will ensure that a standing 
agenda item for finance and funding in included for all Board 
meetings.

Implemented

28 The Civic Halls refurbishment 
project should stand as its own 
specific risk on the Council’s 
Strategic Risk Register.

Head of Audit Civic Halls is now shown as its own risk on the Council’s 
Strategic Risk Register (risk 30/01/18)

Implemented

29 The Council should adopt a 
standard for project risk 
management to clarify 
requirements and lead the 
management of risk on its 
projects.

Projects and 
Programmes 
Manager

The project risk management process is already established, 
and risks are managed and monitored using Verto.

Projects and Programmes team report monthly and share all 
significant project “red” risks i.e. with a score of 15 and above, 
to the Directorate Leadership Teams, Project Assurance Group 
and Corporate Risk team.

Implemented

P
age 115



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

wolverhampton.gov.uk 

No Lessons Learnt Responsibility Proposed action to be taken Target date

30 Change must be managed in the 
context of a clearer 
understanding of the impact of 
change on the risk profile of the 
project.  Contingency 
management should be carried 
out in the context of a clear 
understanding of the current risk 
exposure, and the change 
process should facilitate the 
reassessment and 
communication of contingency 
requirements through the project 
lifecycle.

Senior 
Responsible 
Officer

The Senior Responsible Officer shall ensure that the 
Programme Director / Project Manager will establish 
appropriate change management processes which record and 
provide an audit trail of changes and reasons. 

The Terms of Reference will include which changes are 
delegated to the programme team and which are reserved to 
be decided by the Board.

3 September 
2018

31 The use of Verto for project 
management, risk management 
and reporting, should be 
mandatory for all Council 
projects and managed to assure 
the Council and supply chain 
engagement.

Senior 
Responsible 
Officer

Projects and 
Programmes 
Manager

The Senior Responsible Officer will ensure that Verto is utilised 
and updated throughout the life of a project.

A monthly “highlight report” is produced by the Projects and 
Programmes Team which sets out the status of each project or 
programme is presented to Directorate Leadership, Wider 
Leadership team meetings and provided to the Audit team.

A performance dashboard has recently been developed that 
highlights non-compliance and areas of risk which in addition is 
present to the Project Assurance Group. 

With immediate 
effect

P
age 116



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

wolverhampton.gov.uk 

No Lessons Learnt Responsibility Proposed action to be taken Target date

32 The Council should have 
standard process 
documentation, requirements, 
and templates that are used 
across all capital projects. This 
will provide a consistent 
approach and drive the adoption 
of best practice and allow a 
simple upload to the Verto 
system.

Senior 
Responsible 
Officer

Head of 
Corporate 
Landlord

The Verto system includes standard templates which will be 
utilised for projects. Any deviation from these will be agreed in 
advance with the Project and Programmes team and recorded 
in the minutes of Board meetings.

Standard operating procedures, documentation and templates 
are being reviewed, as part of the implementation of a new 
operating model for project delivery.

Implemented

1 December 2018 

P
age 117



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

wolverhampton.gov.uk                                                                                         

APPENDIX A - Civic Halls Refurbishment - timeline of key events

Date Timeline Event

June 2013 Following a commission from the former Service Director for City Economy 
supplier C produce a report entitled ‘options for the future of Wolverhampton’s 
culture and entertainment offer’

November 2013 Supplier C’s report is presented to the Council’s Executive Team outlining the 
options for the improvement of the Civic Halls

April 2014 A condition survey of the building was undertaken by the Council’s Property 
Services Team (now known as Corporate Landlord).

July 2014 A report is presented to Cabinet (Resources) Panel seeking approval for the 
project to progress to a final detailed business case Black Country LEP. 

October 2014 A report is presented to Cabinet seeking approval to proceed with the project 
and approval of a capital programme budget of £10.4 million. 

November 2014 The Council’s Property Services Strategic Partner are engaged as the 
projects architects and commissioned to prepare a feasibility report.

January 2015 A draft feasibility report is presented by the Council’s Property Services 
Strategic Partner indicating a budget estimate of £13.3 million. Following a 
number of meetings this was reduced to £10.9 million through the omission of 
items from the scope.

January 2015 A report was presented to Cabinet (Resources) Panel where approval was 
sought to select a Project Manager through the ESPO framework.

February 2015 A condition survey undertaken by the Council’s asbestos term contractor, 
identified asbestos in the Civic Halls.

April 2015 The detailed stage D design for the Civic Halls Improvement was issued by 
the Council’s Property Services Strategic Partner.

June 2015 The grant agreement between the Council and Walsall Council (Accountable 
Body) is signed securing £6.6 million funding from the Black Country Growth 
Fund. 

July 2015 Supplier K were appointed to oversee project management

July 2015 A report was presented to Cabinet (Resources) Panel seeking approval to 
appoint an asbestos contractor, appoint a main contractor following a mini 
competition exercise under the CWM framework contract, and vire £483,000 
to meet the cost of the asbestos removal work.

September 2015 Stage one tender design is completed and uploaded onto the Council’s E-
Tendering System (Due North). 

September 2015 A decision was made to procure asbestos works separately and tenders for 
this work are returned for evaluation.

November 2015 Following the evaluation of returned tenders supplier E were selected via the 
CWM Framework.

January 2016 Supplier J are selected for the removal of asbestos and commence work on 
stripping out asbestos from the Civic Halls.

Page 118



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

wolverhampton.gov.uk                                                                                         

Date Timeline Event

January 2016 Supplier E stage two tender returned at £16 million following the findings of 
structural surveys.

February 2016 The Council’s Property Services Strategic Partner recommend supplier E’s 
price does not deliver value for money and recommends value engineering 
the scheme in order to get it within the initial budget envelope.

March 2016 Supplier J complete their asbestos stripping

March 2016 The current Head of Corporate Landlord is appointed.

June 2016 A decision is taken by the former Interim Head of Project & Works to 
terminate the contract with supplier K and appoint supplier I as the new 
project managers.

June 2016 A decision is taken not to accept supplier E’s stage three tender and go back 
out to tender via an OJEU restricted tender.

July 2016 A report is presented to Cabinet (Resources) Panel seeking approval for 
additional capital resources of £2.6 million for the Civic Halls Improvement 
Scheme. 

August 2016 Supplier I produce a due diligence report of Civic Halls refurbishment project

September 2016 Pre-Qualification Questionnaire tenders returned from nine interested 
contractors. Based on an assessment of the PQQs four contractors were 
invited to tender via the OJEU restricted tender route.

December 2016 An Individual Executive Decision Notice is signed awarding the contract to 
supplier G.

January 2017 Supplier G take possession of the Civic Halls site.

February 2017 Supplier G report the identification of asbestos fibres whilst undertaking their 
work.

March 2017 Supplier G close the site on health and safety grounds due to concerns 
around asbestos contamination.

June 2017 Audit Services issue a limited assurance report in respect of the project 
management arrangements for the Civic Halls 

June 2017 Supplier I contract for project management is terminated and the current 
project manager is appointed to oversee the project management of the Civic 
Halls.

June 2017 The current project manager producex a report on the assessment of the 
project to date and makes a series of recommendations. 

August 2017 Following the current project manager’s report a decision is taken to utilise the 
project’s contingency fund and redesign the scheme.

December 2017 Supplier A produce a project health check of the Civic Halls

December 2017 An Individual Executive Decision Notice is signed approving a £700,000 
contract variation for the current construction contractor in respect of the 
removal of asbestos from the Civic Halls.

Page 119



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

wolverhampton.gov.uk                                                                                         

Date Timeline Event

January 2018 A report is presented to Cabinet (Resources) Panel Report seeking approval 
for the following:
1. Approve the scope of construction and associated works for the 

comprehensive restoration of both Wulfrun and Civic Halls.
2. Approve the additional capital resources of £23.7 million required to 

deliver the Civic Halls project.
3. Approve the development of a ticket levy to support the proposed scheme.
4. Delegate authority to agree the contract variation with the current 

construction contractor when the negotiation process is complete.

January 2018 Supplier D issue a due diligence report on the mechanical, electrical, 
plumbing and structural design produced by the Council’s Property Services 
Strategic Partner.

Page 120



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

wolverhampton.gov.uk                                                                                         

APPENDIX B – Current assessment of the implementation status 
of recommendations made in Audit Services Report – issued 
June 2017

Rep. 
Ref. Recommendation Risk 

Rating

Has the 
recommendation 

been implemented?
2.1 All procurement exercises undertaken directly by the 

Council or by a third party must be undertaken in 
accordance with the Council’s Contract Procedure Rules 
and ensures compliance with Public Contracts 
Regulations / OJEU requirements as applicable. 
 

Red

2.1 In accordance with the Council’ Contract Procedure 
Rules, commencement of services must only be 
permitted once an official purchase order and / or signed 
contract is issued. 

Red

2.1 The contract value and spend against the contract should 
be closely monitored in liaison with Procurement to 
ensure that appropriate remedial action is taken 
regarding potential variations / exceeding Contract 
Procedure Rules / OJEU thresholds.

Red

N/A – this issue 
related to the 
appointment of 
supplier I as project 
managers. However, 
it is noted that 
Corporate 
Procurement are now 
represented on the 
Strategy Board to 
advise on 
procurement matters.

2.2 Appropriate governance arrangements should be clearly 
defined for the project covering both strategic and 
operational levels, supported by a client led project team 
with clearly defined roles and responsibilities, and clear 
reporting and escalation procedures up to Strategy Board 
and City Centre Programme Board level. 

Amber

2.2 An appropriately detailed Terms of Reference should be 
established for the Project and reviewed on a regular and 
sufficiently frequent basis to ensure that it remains up to 
date and accurately reflects the governance 
arrangements for the Project.

Amber

2.2 The City Centre Programme Board Terms of Reference 
should be revised to accurately reflect the organisational 
and governance structure for the Project.
 

Amber

2.2 The Terms of Reference should be formally presented to 
the appropriate Board for review and evidenced as 
approved by the Board within minutes and on the version 
control section of the terms of reference itself.

Amber

2.2 Where significant changes are made to the governance 
and project management arrangements for the Project or 

Amber

Yes – a new 
governance structure 
has been established 
with roles and 
responsibilities clearly 
defined in the PEP. 
This governance 
structure was 
presented to SEB in 
June 2017

Page 121



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

wolverhampton.gov.uk                                                                                         

Rep. 
Ref. Recommendation Risk 

Rating

Has the 
recommendation 

been implemented?
there are changes in roles / responsibilities, the Terms of 
Reference should be amended and presented to the 
Board for review / approval when they occur.

2.3 Frequency, quorums and membership of each meetings 
to be held in accordance with governance and project 
management arrangements should be clearly defined, 
documented and assurance sort that these are adhered 
to. 
 

Amber Partly – whilst the 
frequency and 
membership of 
meetings has been 
established. Quorums 
have not be set for 
decision making 
purposes.

2.3 All meeting related documentation i.e. minutes, agendas 
and presented reports should be stored within the 
Council’s records in a central and consistent manner as a 
true record of the business and decisions undertaken as 
part of project governance and management. 

Amber No – this review 
identified there is no 
central repository for 
the project. 
Therefore, a 
complete of meetings 
could not be located.

2.3 Appropriate standing items should be identified and 
included on agendas for both strategic and project level 
meetings including but not limited to risk management, 
communications, equality / diversity and health and 
safety.

Amber Yes – set agenda 
items were evidenced 
for each meeting.

2.4 All key stakeholders and / or technical experts / advisors, 
and specifically Corporate Procurement should be 
appropriately engaged as part of the governance and 
project management arrangements (e.g. within the 
project team). 

Amber Yes - Representation 
from procurement 
was included in the 
Terms of Reference 
approved by SEB in 
July 2017.  There 
was evidence in 
meeting minutes to 
support their 
attendance.

2.4 The Civic Halls Strategic Project Board and City Centre 
Performance Board action log / notes should be 
enhanced to ensure attendance is suitably recorded to 
demonstrate whether quorate.

Amber Yes – this was 
evidenced in meeting 
minutes.

2.5 Project management arrangements should be clearly 
defined, documented and embedded at both board and 
project level. 

Amber Yes – these are now 
included in new PEP.

Page 122



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

wolverhampton.gov.uk                                                                                         

Rep. 
Ref. Recommendation Risk 

Rating

Has the 
recommendation 

been implemented?
2.5 Gap analysis should be undertaken of the governance 

and project management arrangements in operation to 
ensure that any potential gaps between project 
management undertaken by Project and Works (as 
commissioned by the Board) and fulfilled by supplier I, 
and that undertaken by the client side.

Amber

2.5 Appropriate measures should be taken to ensure that 
client side and construction side governance and project 
management arrangements are appropriately integrated 
and any dependencies effectively managed.

Amber

No - A gap analysis 
of the longer-term 
project management 
arrangements 
required for delivering 
the Full Improvement 
and Restoration 
scheme is being 
undertaken by the 
new Interim Project 
Board, chaired by the 
Strategic Director 
Place.

2.6 The Council’s Project Management system Verto should 
be utilised to support project management arrangements 
at Board and project level. Where third party 
arrangements are used to deliver project management 
services, related documentation and reports should be 
incorporated within the Verto system and / or retained 
within Council records for consistency and to ensure that 
the Council holds all pertinent information and documents 
relating to the delivery of the project.
 

Amber No – since the audit 
was issued in June 
2017 the updating of 
Verto has been 
sporadic. As there is 
no designated project 
support in place.

2.7 Project planning at the business case and / or project 
initiation stage should include timely identification of 
project support resource consummate with the potential 
complexity, duration and financial magnitude of the 
project. 
 

Amber

2.7 Specifically, the specialist project support role should be 
clearly established and sufficiently resourced for the 
project to ensure project management processes and 
personnel are effectively supported. 

Amber

2.7 Assistant project management resource should be clearly 
identified and the role explicitly assigned to ensure that 
the appropriate level and quality of support is provided to 
supplier I, to avoid any additional costs due to poor 
performance.

Amber

No – at the time of 
this review no 
designation project 
support resource was 
in place. This was 
illustrated by the fact 
there was no 
maintained central 
repository for project 
documentation and 
the sporadic updating 
of Verto.

2.8 Risk management arrangements should be established 
to ensure that risks and mitigating actions are fully 
identified, clearly assigned to risk owners and regularly 
reviewed so that appropriate and timely mitigating action 
can be taken to treat those risks. 
 

Amber Yes - Risks are now 
being updated 
regularly in on the 
Verto Project 
Information System.  

Page 123



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

wolverhampton.gov.uk                                                                                         

Rep. 
Ref. Recommendation Risk 

Rating

Has the 
recommendation 

been implemented?
2.8 A risk register should be established and periodically 

presented for review at the Board and project teams 
respectively and evidenced within minutes. 

Amber Yes - the Project 
Delivery Board and 
Project Strategy 
Board receive a 
updated dashboard 
summarising key 
risks and mitigation 
measures, at each 
meeting.  

2.8 The three existing risk registers should be reviewed and 
a decision taken regarding development of an 
appropriately detailed risk register that meets the different 
needs of the project i.e. strategic and operational. 

Amber Yes – there is one 
risk register for the 
whole project that 
captures all risks.

2.8 Key risks should be regularly reported on in accordance 
with the levels of governance and project management 
established with the register periodically reviewed in its 
entirety i.e. quarterly as a minimum. 

Amber

2.8 Risk management should be a standing item on agendas 
for the Board and key operational project level meetings 
established within the governance and project 
management arrangements.

Amber

Yes - the Project 
Delivery Board and 
Project Strategy 
Board receive a 
updated dashboard 
summarising key 
risks and mitigation 
measures, at each 
meeting.  

2.9 A formal change control process should be established 
covering both strategic, operational and contractual 
changes to identify, record, appraise and approved any 
changes proposed. Specifically, the change control 
process should: 

 Clearly define approval levels through a compliant 
scheme of delegation, escalation routes and definition 
/ criteria regarding changes that should be reviewed 
and approved through the Council’s process. 

 Define instances where there is a need to seek 
approval of contract changes over and above 
approval specified by any contracts in place for 
delivery of the project. 

 Address wider project changes. 

Amber Yes - Change control 
documents were set 
up by supplier I in 
July 2016. Changes 
to the capital scheme 
that either require a 
decision, or are for 
noting, are reported 
formally through the 
project dashboard.  

2.10 Logs should be maintained on an on-going basis through 
the life of the project as well as at closure to provide a 
clear and effective audit trail, and a suitable mechanism 
for tracking project progress / delivery, by ensuring that: 

Amber Partly – an officer has 
been assigned for 
updating Verto. 
However, due to 
there being 
insufficient project 

Page 124



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

wolverhampton.gov.uk                                                                                         

Rep. 
Ref. Recommendation Risk 

Rating

Has the 
recommendation 

been implemented?
 Actions are clearly recorded, assigned to responsible 

individuals and progress monitored. 
 Assumptions, issues, decisions and dependencies are 

clearly recorded so that their impact can be effectively 
managed within governance and project management 
arrangements and through appropriate mitigating 
action. 

 Lessons learnt are logged on an on-going basis so 
that areas for improvement are addressed and past 
successes applied to future delivery. 

support resources in 
place detailed action 
logs have not been 
maintained. This will 
be addressed once 
the new project 
resources are in 
place.

2.11 Governance and project management arrangements 
should include robust but proportionate reporting and 
performance monitoring / management. Consequently, 
suitably detailed project activity / progress and financial 
reports should be established and presented at each 
level of governance / project management. 
Responsibilities for producing reports, frequency and 
intended recipients should be clearly defined and 
documented. 

Amber Yes – it was noted 
that supplier I 
produced project 
manager flash reports 
for each meeting. It is 
proposed this will be 
continued by the 
current project 
manager.

2.12 As part of effective governance and project management 
arrangements, the project assurance role should be 
clearly defined and proportionate resource identified and 
allocated to effectively support this role. 

Amber

2.12 Suitable mechanisms to help facilitate the project 
assurance role and ensure progress is reviewed / 
monitored should be established as part of the 
governance and project management arrangements 
including (but not limited to) the following: 

 Continuous assurance reporting to the Board. 
Strategic / operational point reviews at key stages in 
the project’s lifecycle. 

 Presentation of accurate and reliable management 
information to the Board on a regular basis. 

 Effective communication regarding project progress 
and activity. 

 Accurate and sufficiently detailed documentation of 
project activity to demonstrate a clear audit trail. 

Amber
Yes - The project 
assurance role is now 
clearly defined in the 
terms of reference 
presented to SEB in 
June 2017. The 
current Director of 
Finance is now 
undertaking this role.

2.13 The project communication plans should be regularly 
reviewed (i.e. quarterly as a minimum) and approved by 
the Board to ensure compliance, progress is made with 

Amber Yes -  the 
communications plan 
was updated in 
August 2017 and 

Page 125



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

wolverhampton.gov.uk                                                                                         

Rep. 
Ref. Recommendation Risk 

Rating

Has the 
recommendation 

been implemented?
any required actions and the plan remains pertinent 
during the lifecycle of the project. 

subsequently 
presented to and 
approved by Project 
Strategy Board.

2.14 An equality and diversity impact assessment should be 
completed for the project and submitted to the Equality 
and Diversity Team. 

Amber

2.14 Subsequently, equality analysis procedures should be 
embedded within governance / project management 
arrangements and analysis undertaken at appropriate 
key stages / achievement of milestones.

Amber

Yes – an initial 
equality impact 
assessment was 
undertaken following 
the audit but needs 
updating to reflect the 
new scheme.

2.15 Benefits mapping and tracking procedures should be 
developed and embedded to support benefits realisation 
management for the project throughout it’ lifecycle. 

Amber Yes - This is now in 
place for the current 
scheme, and a table 
capturing 
performance in 
achieving the planned 
benefits is now 
reported to the Project 
Strategy Board.

Page 126



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

wolverhampton.gov.uk                                                                                         

Limitations inherent to the internal auditor’s work

This report has been prepared solely for the 
council in accordance with the terms and 
conditions set out in the terms of reference. 
Internal audit does not accept or assume 
any liability of duty of care for any other 
purpose or to any other party. This report 
should not be disclosed to any third party, 
quoted or referred to without prior consent. 
Internal audit has undertaken this review 
subject to the limitations outlined below. 
Internal control
 Internal control systems, no matter how 

well designed and operated, are 
affected by inherent limitations. These 
include the possibility of poor 
judgement in decision making, human 
error, control processes being 
deliberately circumvented by 
employees and others, management 
overriding controls and the occurrence 
of unforeseeable circumstances.

Responsibilities of management and auditors
 It is management’s responsibility to 

develop and maintain sound systems of 
risk management, internal control and 
governance for the prevention and 
detection of irregularities and fraud. 
Internal audit work should not be seen as a 
substitute for management’s 
responsibilities for the design and 
operation of these systems. 

 Internal audit endeavours to plan audit 
work so that it has a reasonable 
expectation of detecting significant control 
weakness and if detected, will carry out 
additional work directed towards 
identification of consequent fraud or other 
irregularities. However, internal audit 
procedures alone, even when carried out 
with due professional care, do not 
guarantee that fraud will be detected. 

 Accordingly, these examinations by 
internal auditors should not be relied upon 
solely to disclose fraud or other 
irregularities which may exist.

Report distribution: Managing Director

All members of the Strategic Executive Board

Former Director for City Economy

Head of Corporate Landlord

Terms of reference agreed: 4 January 2018

Draft report issued: 2 March 2018

Agreed action plan responses received: 8 June 2018

Final report issued: 11 June 2018

Page 127



This page is intentionally left blank



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Audit and Risk Committee
25 June 2018

Report title Action Plans – Lessons Learned

Accountable director Keith Ireland, Managing Director

Originating service Audit

Accountable employee(s)

Report to be/has been 
considered by

Peter Farrow
Tel
Email

Strategic 
Executive Board

Head of Audit
01902 554460
peter.farrow@wolverhampton.gov.uk

22 May 2018

Recommendations for decision:

The Committee is recommended to:

1. Review and comment on the lessons learned action plans.

2. Oversee their implementation over the next 12 months and to receive a quarterly update 
report on progress with implementing the lessons learned.

3. Support the actions taken to date which include: 
a) To improve programme and project management
b) To ensure better financial modelling
c) To ensure partners deliver their commissions to the right quality and specification
d) To ensure the right people are appointed to the right roles including appropriate 

project managers and/or a programme director for large scale capital projects

Recommendations for noting:

The Committee is asked to:

1. Note the Managing Director’s decision to make the report an open report to ensure 
maximum transparency

Page 129

Agenda Item No: 6

mailto:peter.farrow@wolverhampton.gov.uk


This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

1.0 Purpose

1.1 That the Audit and Risk Committee review and comment upon the content of the action 
plans with regards to:

a) Markets Relocation – Lessons Learned
b) Train Station – Lessons Learned
c) Civic Halls Refurbishment – Lessons Learned

1.2 The report provides an overview of the Action Plan that City of Wolverhampton Council is 
committed to deliver against for the Markets Relocation, Train Station and Civic Halls 
Refurbishment programmes. As a learning organisation we act to be open and 
transparent about what we can learn and improve in the future.

1.3 To seek approval of the Audit and Risk Committee to oversee the implementation of the 
action plans over the next 12 months.

2.0 Background

2.1 The Council’s Managing Director commissioned Audit Services to undertake a lessons 
learned review for three capital projects, which included the Markets Relocation, Train 
Station and Civic Halls Refurbishment, that have been subject to highly publicised 
overspends. 

2.2 All three lessons learned reports have been submitted to the Audit and Risk Committee 
on 25 June 2018 for comment and review. This includes each associated action plan that 
the Council is committed to deliver against.

2.3 This report brings the three action plans together to provide a holistic overview of the 
Council’s intended actions to improve in the future.

2.4 Specialist external support was procured from Equib to assist Audit Services undertake 
this review. The external adviser will be present at the Audit and Risk Committee.

3.0 Progress, options, discussion

3.1 Progress on the implementation of the actions contained within the report will be reported 
back to the Audit and Risk Committee on a quarterly basis over the coming 12 months.

4.0 Financial implications

4.1 There are no direct financial implications arising from the recommendations in this report. 
However, the financial impact of the recommendations will be factored into all projects 
going forward. The implementation of the recommendations will contribute to robust 
financial planning and budgetary control in respect to capital projects.
[CN/13062018/G]

Page 130



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

5.0 Legal implications

5.1 There are no legal implications arising from the recommendation in this report. There are 
however possible significant issues surrounding the impact if the recommendations are 
not implemented in full.

          [TC/13062018/V]

6.0 Equalities implications

6.1 There are no equalities implications arising from the recommendation in this report.

7.0 Environmental implications

7.1 There are no environmental implications arising from the recommendation in this report.

8.0 Human resources implications

8.1 The report outlines the absolute necessity of ensuring that qualified and competent 
people and organisations are employed and/or deployed onto large capital programmes. 

9.0 Corporate landlord implications

9.1 The significant implications in respect of Corporate Landlord’s management of Civic Halls 
are outlined in the report.

10.0 Schedule of background papers

10.1 None

Page 131



This page is intentionally left blank



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Internal Audit Report – Capital Programmes – Lessons Learnt

Market Relocation

No Programme Lessons Learnt Responsibility Proposed action to be taken Target date
1 Market 

Relocation
For future projects 
considerations around 
options appraisals should be 
formally recorded so there is 
an audit trail of discussions 
and decisions made.

Senior 
Responsible 
Officer

Options appraisals will be undertaken as part 
of the feasibility phase of a project and 
recorded in Verto using the standard 
templates.

The Senior Responsible Officer is to ensure 
that the options are discussed at a board 
meeting. The minuting of the discussion will 
create an audit trail and the decision of which 
option to pursue must be recorded in the 
decisions log on Verto. 

With 
immediate 
effect

2 Market 
Relocation

Changes in project 
completion dates should be 
reported to the Cabinet 
(Resources) Panel detailing 
the reasons for the change 
and any risk implications this 
may have.

Senior 
Responsible 
Officer

Director of 
Governance

The Senior Responsible Officer will ensure 
that decisions and reporting in relation the 
project are made in accordance with the 
Council’s Constitution.

The relevant sections of the Council’s 
Constitution to be reviewed and amended if 
required through the Constitution Review 
Group process.

With 
immediate 
effect

P
age 133



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Market Relocation

No Programme Lessons Learnt Responsibility Proposed action to be taken Target date
3 Market 

Relocation
Either the project’s SRO or 
Project Manager should be 
requested to attend future 
Project Assurance Group 
meetings to provide updates 
on the project.

Chair of Project 
Review Group

The Project Assurance Group, chaired by the 
Director of Finance or the Strategic Director 
for Place, will provide officer oversight and 
challenge for major capital projects and 
programmes.

There is a standing item on Project 
Assurance Group meeting agenda to provide 
an update on all major capital programmes 
through Verto performance dashboard 
reporting.

The Programme Director or Project Manager 
will provide an update to Project Assurance 
Group when required and include regular 
updates as part of project planning.

With 
immediate 
effect

P
age 134



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Market Relocation

No Programme Lessons Learnt Responsibility Proposed action to be taken Target date
4 Market 

Relocation
A quality control process 
should be implemented to 
ensure all outstanding 
matters, discussed at Project 
Assurance Group, are 
promptly followed up.

Chair of Project 
Review Group

Projects and Programmes Team is to assess 
and review the controls in place for feeding 
back to Project Assurance Group. 

There is a standing item on Project 
Assurance Group meeting agenda to provide 
an update on all major capital programmes 
through Verto performance dashboard 
reporting.

With 
immediate 
effect

5 Market 
Relocation

The Council’s project 
management system (Verto) 
should be kept up to date 
throughout the lifecycle of the 
project. An escalation 
process should be 
established where non-
compliance has been 
identified i.e. reported to the 
Project Assurance Group.

Senior 
Responsible 
Officer

Projects and 
Programmes 
Manager

The Senior Responsible Officer and Project 
Manager will ensure adequate project 
support to maintain Verto.

A monthly “highlight report” is produced by 
the Projects and Programmes Team which 
sets out the status of each project or 
programme is presented to Directorate 
Leadership, Wider Leadership team 
meetings and provided to the Audit team.

A performance dashboard has recently been 
developed that highlights non-compliance 
and areas of risk which in addition is present 
to the Project Assurance Group. 

With 
immediate 
effect

Implemented

P
age 135



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Market Relocation

No Programme Lessons Learnt Responsibility Proposed action to be taken Target date
6 Market 

Relocation
All project documentation 
should be stored under the 
Council’s project folder to 
ensure a full audit trail of 
decisions is kept and 
assuring business continuity.

Senior 
Responsible 
Officer

Projects and 
Programmes 
Manager

The Senior Responsible Officer and Project 
Manager will agree at the start of a project 
how document storage and management will 
be undertaken. This will be recorded in the 
minutes of the Board. 

The Projects and Programmes Team 
provides advice on document storage and 
management as part of its Project 
Management Training.

With 
immediate 
effect

With 
immediate 
effect

7 Market 
Relocation

Anyone that is allocated an 
assurance role in the project 
team should be given full 
access to all information 
needed to fulfil their role. If 
they are unable to fulfil the 
project role that they have 
been given this should be 
escalated and appropriate 
action taken.

Head of Audit Senior Responsible Officer and Project 
Manager will conduct regular reviews of roles 
and responsibilities in the Terms of 
Reference document and hold people to 
account for the responsibilities that have 
been set by the board. If the role is deemed 
to no longer be required, or the person 
assigned is not carrying out the 
responsibilities, then a new assurance 
representative should be sought. 

Any issues will be raised with the Head of 
Audit. If this is not resolved at first instance 
then it will be raised at Project Assurance 
Group for resolution.

With 
immediate 
effect

P
age 136



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Market Relocation

No Programme Lessons Learnt Responsibility Proposed action to be taken Target date
8 Market 

Relocation
To support a robust risk 
management process, it is 
essential that the objectives 
of a project are fully defined 
at an early stage – these 
objectives should take 
account of stakeholder 
aspirations to assure that the 
objectives are 
complementary.   

Projects and 
Programmes 
Manager

Senior Responsible Officer and Project 
Manager will ensure that when creating the 
business case for the project, risks, 
objectives scope etc. are clearly defined. 
Within the development of the business 
case, the Project Manager should carry out a 
stakeholder analysis. The Project Manager 
should liaise with subject matter experts to 
support completion of this work. The Project 
Manager should subsequently ensure that 
the business case and objectives etc. are 
part of a board meeting for board members 
to review and agree. This should be 
recorded in the minutes and noted in the 
objectives that everyone has agreed to the 
objectives. Any reservations will be 
considered by the Chair of the Board (Project 
Senior Responsible Officer) who has the 
ultimate decision as they are ultimately 
accountable for that project. 

The Projects and Programmes Team 
provides advice on risk management as part 
of its Project Management Training in line 
with PRINCE2 methodologies.

With 
immediate 
effect

P
age 137



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Market Relocation

No Programme Lessons Learnt Responsibility Proposed action to be taken Target date
9 Market 

Relocation
The identification of risk and 
its management throughout 
the project lifecycle is 
essential if objectives are 
going to be delivered and 
cost and schedule over-runs 
avoided (or minimised).

Senior 
Responsible 
Officer

The Senior Responsible Officer is 
responsible, at the earliest stage possible, to 
create a risk workshop with key project 
members. This will identify key risks and 
start the risk register, which is held within 
Verto. The Senior Responsible Officer and 
Project Manager are to agree regular 
intervals, where independent review of the 
risk register and its management are 
undertaken. This can be done by internal 
audit or, for major schemes, an external risk 
management company should be sought. 
Project Manager to ensure that risks are a 
high agenda item at board meetings and 
major risks are covered at every meeting.

The Projects and Programmes Team 
provides advice on risk management as part 
of its Project Management Training in line 
with PRINCE2 methodologies.

There is a standing item on Project 
Assurance Group meeting agenda to provide 
an update on all major capital programmes 
through Verto performance dashboard 
reporting.
 

With 
immediate 
effect

P
age 138



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Market Relocation

No Programme Lessons Learnt Responsibility Proposed action to be taken Target date
10 Market 

Relocation
Risks and assumptions must 
be documented and 
assessed throughout the 
project lifecycle to support 
clear communication, 
targeted and appropriate 
management of uncertainty, 
the management and 
understanding of change, 
and ultimately to support 
project assurance and 
decision-making.

Senior 
Responsible 
Officer

Projects and 
Programme 
Manager

The Senior Responsible Officer will ensure 
that Verto is utilised and updated throughout 
the life of a project.

A monthly “highlight report” is produced by 
the Projects and Programmes Team which 
sets out the status of each project or 
programme is presented to Directorate 
Leadership, Wider Leadership team 
meetings and provided to the Audit team.

A performance dashboard has recently been 
developed that highlights non-compliance 
and areas of risk which in addition is present 
to the Project Assurance Group. 

With 
immediate 
effect

Implemented

P
age 139



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Train Station - Interchange

No Programme Lessons Learnt Responsibility Proposed action to be taken Target date
1 Train Station All reports taken to Cabinet 

for internally and externally 
procured major projects 
should be reviewed by 
Corporate Procurement for 
accuracy, feasibility and 
reasonableness of costs

Head of 
Procurement

All awards of contract reports are now 
submitted to Cabinet (Resources) Panel 
through the Procurement report unless 
Procurement has advised otherwise. This 
ensures Procurement oversight of all 
awards of contract.

The Director of Commercial Services now 
sits on Place Leadership Team which has 
oversight of reports going to Cabinet. 

Procurement representation will be a 
standard role on Terms of Reference (TOR) 
for projects. 

The Senior Responsible Officer will ensure 
the TOR are approved in accordance with 
the relevant governance and that a 
Procurement representative is a member of 
the Board.

Implemented

P
age 140



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Train Station - Interchange

No Programme Lessons Learnt Responsibility Proposed action to be taken Target date
2 Train Station Project working group 

meeting minutes should be 
sufficiently detailed to fully 
evidence and support 
decisions taken.

Senior 
Responsible 
Officer

The Senior Responsible Officer and Project 
Manager will agree what project support 
resources will be required. This will be 
recorded in the minutes of the Board 
meeting.

The Board members will review the minutes 
of previous meetings as to their adequacy 
and content.

Any key decisions from the minutes will be 
transferred to the Decisions Log within 
Verto.

The Projects and Programmes Team 
provides advice on minuting and tracking 
decisions as part of its Project Management 
Training in line with PRINCE2 
methodologies.

With 
immediate 
effect

P
age 141



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Train Station - Interchange

No Programme Lessons Learnt Responsibility Proposed action to be taken Target date
3 Train Station Cabinet should kept informed 

of key developments on 
major high-profile projects on 
a timely basis.

Senior 
Responsible 
Officer

The Senior Responsible Officer will ensure 
that decisions and reporting in relation to 
the project are made in accordance with the 
Council’s Constitution.

The Senior Responsible Officer will be brief 
the relevant Cabinet Member as needed 
and as a minimum on a monthly basis.

With 
immediate 
effect

4 Train Station Corporate Procurement 
should have representation 
on working groups for all 
externally procured major 
projects to provide input and 
intervention at key stages of 
procurement.

Projects and 
Programmes 
Manager

Senior 
Responsible 
Officer

Procurement representation will be a 
standard role on Terms of Reference (TOR) 
for projects. 

The Senior Responsible Officer will ensure 
the TOR are approved in accordance with 
the relevant governance and that a 
Procurement representative is a member of 
the Board.

With 
immediate 
effect

P
age 142



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Train Station - Interchange

No Programme Lessons Learnt Responsibility Proposed action to be taken Target date
5 Train Station Issues raised by the 

Corporate Procurement 
Manager about supplier M’s 
tender submission should be 
investigated to ensure these 
have been resolved.

Senior 
Responsible 
Officer

Head of 
Procurement

The Senior Responsible Officer will meet 
with Procurement to ensure that all 
concerns raised as part of the tender 
submission are resolved and arising risks 
are suitably managed.

All awards of contract reports are now 
submitted to Cabinet (Resources) Panel 
through the Procurement report unless 
Procurement has advised otherwise. This 
ensures that issues raised by Procurement 
are captured within any tender.

The formation of the Project Assurance 
Group also ensures Procurement oversight 
of major projects. 

Issues raised by any external adviser will be 
flagged on the Issues Log by the Project 
Manager and captured in the minutes at 
Board to provide an audit trail.

With 
immediate 
effect

Implemented

P
age 143



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Train Station - Interchange

No Programme Lessons Learnt Responsibility Proposed action to be taken Target date
6 Train Station Project specific contingencies 

should be set for each 
individual project to ensure 
potential project costs 
increases are covered by 
dedicated contingencies.

Chief Accountant External specialist project and risk 
assurance consultancy has been procured 
to support the delivery of projects and 
programmes.

In addition, a Commercial Business Partner 
and Audit Business Partner have been 
provided training to be able to undertake 
peer reviews of major projects. This will 
provide an additional opportunity to 
challenge proposed contingencies and 
robustness of plans

Finance are represented on all major capital 
programmes and are members of the Board 
and working groups. This provides 
assurance and challenge around 
contingencies and programme budgets. All 
formal reports to require sign-off from 
Finance and therefore Finance comments 
and approval must be sought before 
submission.

Implemented

P
age 144



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Train Station - Interchange

No Programme Lessons Learnt Responsibility Proposed action to be taken Target date
7 Train Station The project’s Senior 

Responsible Officer should 
ensure that project managers 
are keeping sharepoint up to 
date throughout the lifecycle 
of the project.

Senior 
Responsible 
Officer

Projects and 
Programmes 
Manager

The Senior Responsible Officer and Project 
Manager will agree at the start of a project 
how document storage and management 
will be undertaken. This will be recorded in 
the minutes of the Board. 

The Projects and Programmes Team 
provides advice on document storage and 
management as part of its Project 
Management Training

With 
immediate 
effect

8 Train Station A dedicated resource for 
maintaining accurate 
information should be used 
for major projects.

Senior 
Responsible 
Officer

The Senior Responsible Officer and Project 
Manager will agree what project support 
resources will be required. This will be 
recorded in the minutes of the Board 
meeting.

The Senior Responsible Officer and 
Programme Manager will seek advice and 
support to recruit the appropriate project 
support resources and to ensure that 
budget is available for external assurance if 
required.

With 
immediate 
effect

P
age 145



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Train Station - Interchange

No Programme Lessons Learnt Responsibility Proposed action to be taken Target date
9 Train Station The project’s Senior 

Responsible Officer should 
ensure that project managers 
are keeping Verto up-to-date 
throughout the lifecycle of the 
project.

Senior 
Responsible 
Officer

Projects and 
Programme 
Manager

The Senior Responsible Officer and Project 
Manager will ensure adequate project 
support to maintain Verto.

A monthly “highlight report” is produced by 
the Projects and Programmes Team which 
sets out the status of each project or 
programme is presented to Directorate 
Leadership, Wider Leadership team 
meetings and provided to the Audit team.

A performance dashboard has recently 
been developed that highlights non-
compliance and areas of risk which in 
addition is present to the Project Assurance 
Group. 

With 
immediate 
effect

Implemented

P
age 146



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Train Station - Interchange

No Programme Lessons Learnt Responsibility Proposed action to be taken Target date
10 Train Station An escalation process should 

be developed where it is 
identified that the Verto 
system is not being updated 
in a timely manner.

Projects and 
Programmes 
Manager

A monthly “highlight report” is produced by 
the Projects and Programmes Team which 
sets out the status of each project or 
programme is presented to Directorate 
Leadership, Wider Leadership team 
meetings and provided to the Audit team.

A performance dashboard has recently 
been developed that highlights non-
compliance and areas of risk which in 
addition is present to the Project Assurance 
Group. 

Implemented

P
age 147



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Train Station - Interchange

No Programme Lessons Learnt Responsibility Proposed action to be taken Target date
11 Train Station The project assurance group 

should be kept informed of 
any issues relating to the 
train station project.

Projects and 
Programmes 
Manager

Projects and Programmes will review all 
major capital programmes. Development 
work is being done with Performance team 
to improve visibility of performance of 
projects.

Project Manager to provide update to 
Project Assurance Group when required 
and build in regular updates as part of 
project planning.

Project Assurance Group will include a 
standing item for major capital programmes 
which will include the train station.

With 
immediate 
effect

P
age 148



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Train Station - Interchange

No Programme Lessons Learnt Responsibility Proposed action to be taken Target date
12 Train Station The project assurance group 

should be included in the 
governance structure of the 
Interchange train station.

Chair of Project 
Assurance Group

The Project Assurance Group, chaired by 
the Director of Finance or the Strategic 
Director for Place, will provide officer 
oversight and challenge for major capital 
projects and programmes.

There is a standing item on Project 
Assurance Group meeting agenda to 
provide an update on all major capital 
programmes through Verto performance 
dashboard reporting.

The Programme Director or Project 
Manager will provide an update to Project 
Assurance Group when required and 
include regular updates as part of project 
planning.

With 
immediate 
effect

P
age 149



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Train Station - Interchange

No Programme Lessons Learnt Responsibility Proposed action to be taken Target date
13 Train Station As the station enters the 

construction phase, the 
project will need to be kept 
under review and may need 
to appear as an individual risk 
on the Council’s strategic risk 
register.

Head of Audit The strategic risk register will include an 
entry for major capital programmes which 
will include the train station.

Projects and Programmes team report 
monthly and share all significant project 
“red” risks i.e. with a score of 15 and above, 
to the Directorate Leadership Teams, 
Project Assurance Group and Corporate 
Risk team.

With 
immediate 
effect

14 Train Station The analytical methodology 
and decision-making criteria 
in contingency-setting must 
be documented to allow for 
later challenge and change 
management.

Senior 
Responsible 
Officer

The project risk management process is 
already established, and risks are managed 
and monitored using Verto.

The Senior Responsible Officer will ensure 
that decisions and supporting evidence is 
recorded in the minutes of the Board 
meeting.

With 
immediate 
effect

P
age 150



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Train Station - Interchange

No Programme Lessons Learnt Responsibility Proposed action to be taken Target date
15 Train Station In the review of project 

estimates and bids the 
contingency levels adopted or 
proposed should be 
challenged based on 
benchmarking against similar 
projects at the same stage of 
development.

Chief Accountant External specialist project and risk 
assurance consultancy has been procured 
to support the delivery of projects and 
programmes.

In addition, a Commercial Business Partner 
and Audit Business Partner have been 
provided training to be able to undertake 
peer reviews of major projects. This will 
provide an additional opportunity to 
challenge proposed contingencies and 
robustness of plans

Finance are represented on all major capital 
programmes and are members of the Board 
and working groups. This provides 
assurance and challenge around 
contingencies and programme budgets. All 
formal reports to require sign-off from 
Finance and therefore Finance comments 
and approval must be sought before 
submission.

With 
immediate 
effect

P
age 151



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Train Station - Interchange

No Programme Lessons Learnt Responsibility Proposed action to be taken Target date
16 Train Station The grouping of projects into 

a programme does not 
reduce the requirement for 
detailed risk assessments for 
each of the constituent 
projects.  There is an 
additional requirement to 
overlay a programme-level 
risk register to capture cross-
cutting risks and interface 
and dependency risks.

Projects and 
Programmes 
Manager

Within Verto Projects and Programmes are 
built within a hierarchy. Any programme or 
project both has access to a risk register 
within the system. 

During the concept and feasibility phases of 
a programme or project the scope, 
complexity and risks will be assessed and 
identified. These will be presented to the 
Project Assurance Group where, as part of 
the approval to progress, the resources 
required to successfully manage the 
programme will be considered. 

Implemented

17 Train Station If a detailed QCRA is carried 
out to support the setting of 
project contingency levels, 
advice should be sought from 
a risk specialist about the 
appropriate confidence level 
from the analysis to use.

Head of Audit External specialist project and risk 
assurance consultancy has been procured 
to support the delivery of projects and 
programmes.

In addition, a Commercial Business Partner 
and Audit Business Partner have been 
provided training to be able to undertake 
peer reviews of major projects.

3 September 
2018

P
age 152



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Train Station - Interchange

No Programme Lessons Learnt Responsibility Proposed action to be taken Target date
18 Train Station Close on going monitoring of 

the financial status of supplier 
M should be undertaken.

Head of 
Procurement

The Dun and Bradstreet report will continue 
to be monitored by Procurement to ensure 
continued monitoring of supplier M’s 
financial status. Procurement will receive 
alerts should there be a deterioration and 
will advise the SRO.

Procurement also conducts market and 
intelligence into companies involved in large 
scale capital programmes.

Implemented

P
age 153



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Civic Halls

No Programme Lessons Learnt Responsibility Proposed action to be taken Target date
1 Civic Halls Options appraisals should be 

challenged on all future 
refurbishment projects to 
ensure they address long 
term maintenance issues and 
future proof the building.

Head of Corporate 
Landlord

Lifecycle assessments of all proposed 
capital projects to be undertaken as an 
integral element of options 
appraisals/business cases.  

With 
immediate 
effect

2 Civic Halls For each future project the 
repairs and maintenance 
programme should be 
reviewed so a proactive 
approach is taken to 
futureproof the City’s assets.

Head of Corporate 
Landlord

The repairs and maintenance programme is 
proactively managed and works prioritised 
accordingly to align and make best use of 
available resources. Periodic condition 
surveys are the basis of the repairs and 
maintenance programme of works. The 
condition surveys will be supplemented by 
lifecycle assessments for each project to 
provide informed capital investment and 
revenue budgets.

With 
immediate 
effect

P
age 154



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Civic Halls

No Programme Lessons Learnt Responsibility Proposed action to be taken Target date
3 Civic Halls For future projects, where the 

structural condition of a site 
or building is unknown a 
realistic capital budget, which 
contains a robust risk 
managed contingency, 
should be established.

Head of Corporate 
Landlord

Risks associated with a lack of critical 
information will be managed through 
commissioning surveys and investigations 
during the project feasibility phase and an 
appropriate contingency will be identified. A 
standard operating procedure will be put in 
place that evidences and records the basis 
of assumptions used to identify 
contingencies. Reference will be made to 
industry benchmark data, relevant past 
projects, market conditions and external 
advisors.

With 
immediate 
effect

P
age 155



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Civic Halls

No Programme Lessons Learnt Responsibility Proposed action to be taken Target date
4 Civic Halls Where a future scheme 

cannot be delivered within the 
initial budget this will be 
discussed with the Director of 
Finance immediately and 
where it is deemed necessary 
an options report should be 
submitted to the Council’s 
Strategic Executive Board 
seeking a decision on 
whether to rescope the 
scheme within the approved 
budget envelope or seek an 
additional budget for an 
uncompromised scheme.

Senior 
Responsible 
Officer

Senior Responsible Office and Project 
Manager will complete an options report 
drawing on Subject Matter Experts (Finance 
and Commercial) to ensure the adequate 
detail is sought and decisions are made. 

With 
immediate 
effect

5 Civic Halls For future projects, the risk 
for design and structural 
surveys should be adequately 
assessed to ascertain the 
best delivery approach. This 
should then be supported by 
a robust contract with a 
realistic budget to deliver a 
full suite of surveys to 
mitigate unknown risks and 
cost increases.

Head of Corporate 
Landlord

Ownership of project risks will be assessed 
and allocated to the most appropriate party 
with an appropriate contingency identified.

With 
immediate 
effect

P
age 156



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Civic Halls

No Programme Lessons Learnt Responsibility Proposed action to be taken Target date
6 Civic Halls A formal change 

management process should 
be in place for all projects 
which record the 
consequences, and risks, of 
omitting items from the 
original scheme design in 
order that informed decisions 
can be made by the Project 
Board, who are in a position 
to escalate issues upwards, if 
necessary.

Projects and 
Programmes 
Manager

The Projects and Programme Manager will 
ensure a change management log is 
established and that relevant request for 
change documentation is produced. All 
changes will be approved in line with each 
project’s governance around change 
management.

With 
immediate 
effect

7 Civic Halls The Council’s strategic 
partnership should be 
reviewed to ensure it has 
delivered value for money on 
this scheme. 

For all future projects 
alternative design 
approaches should be 
assessed which are 
supported by a robust 
contract.

Head of Corporate 
Landlord

Head of Corporate 
Landlord

The framework contract under the strategic 
partnership expired at end of March 2018 
and no new work is being awarded to them.

A new operating model for project delivery 
will be implemented based on Royal 
Institute of British Architects plan of work 
which will consider the alternative design 
approaches during the concept and 
feasibility stages.

Implemented

1 December 
2018

P
age 157



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Civic Halls

No Programme Lessons Learnt Responsibility Proposed action to be taken Target date
8 Civic Halls Sufficient time should be built 

into future project plans to 
allow for a thorough, and 
most appropriate, 
procurement process to take 
place.

Senior 
Responsible 
Officer

The Senior Responsible Officer will ensure 
a detailed plan is developed at the feasibility 
stage in conjunction with the Head of 
Procurement. The plan should then be 
approved in accordance with the project’s 
governance process. 

With 
immediate 
effect

9 Civic Halls For future projects of this 
nature Corporate 
Procurement should be 
engaged earlier in the project 
and be represented on the 
Board.

Senior 
Responsible 
Officer

Procurement representation will be a 
standard role on Terms of Reference (TOR) 
for projects. 

The Senior Responsible Officer will ensure 
the TOR are approved in accordance with 
the relevant governance and that a 
Procurement representative is a member of 
the Board.

Implemented 

10 Civic Halls Where the advice of 
Corporate Procurement is not 
followed there should be a 
clear audit trail to support this 
decision.

Head of 
Procurement

The Head of Procurement will ensure that 
all decisions and issues relating to 
procurement are raised and minuted at 
Board or working groups. This will also be 
noted in the decision log on Verto.

Implemented

P
age 158



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Civic Halls

No Programme Lessons Learnt Responsibility Proposed action to be taken Target date
11 Civic Halls For future projects of this 

nature, the risk for the 
removal of asbestos should 
be adequately assessed to 
ensure it resides with the 
appropriate party.

Head of Corporate 
Landlord

The risk of asbestos contamination and will 
be assessed during the feasibility phase of 
a project and relevant surveys undertaken. 

Where removal is the appropriate treatment 
measure then the contracting strategy for 
this will be produced and agreed by the 
Board in accordance with the relevant 
governance process.

With 
immediate 
effect

P
age 159



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Civic Halls

No Programme Lessons Learnt Responsibility Proposed action to be taken Target date
12 Civic Halls The Council’s project 

management system should 
be kept up to date throughout 
the lifecycle of the project. An 
escalation process should be 
established where non-
compliance has been 
identified i.e. reported to the 
Project Assurance Group.

Senior 
Responsible 
Officer

Project and 
Programmes 
Manager

The Senior Responsible Officer and Project 
Manager will ensure adequate project 
support to maintain Verto.

A monthly “highlight report” is produced by 
the Projects and Programmes Team which 
sets out the status of each project or 
programme is presented to Directorate 
Leadership, Wider Leadership team 
meetings and provided to the Audit team.

A performance dashboard has recently 
been developed that highlights non-
compliance and areas of risk which in 
addition is present to the Project Assurance 
Group. 

With 
immediate 
effect

Implemented

13 Civic Halls For future projects quorum 
requirements should be set 
for each meeting to ensure all 
decisions are agreed by key 
stakeholders.

Senior 
Responsible 
Officer

The initial Board meeting will approve the 
Terms of Reference which will include the 
required quorum for respective meetings 
and decision making. 

Implemented

P
age 160



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Civic Halls

No Programme Lessons Learnt Responsibility Proposed action to be taken Target date
14 Civic Halls At the beginning of each 

programme/project a 
document storage directory 
should be established where 
all documentation is filed in 
order to support a clear and 
transparent audit trail of 
decisions. This requirement 
should be communicated to 
all members of the 
programme and formalised in 
the terms of reference.

Senior 
Responsible 
Officer

Projects and 
Programmes 
Manager

The Senior Responsible Officer and Project 
Manager will agree at the start of a project 
how document storage and management 
will be undertaken. This will be recorded in 
the minutes of the Board. 

The Projects and Programmes Team 
provides advice on document storage and 
management as part of its Project 
Management Training.

With 
immediate 
effect

15 Civic Halls For future projects 
appropriate project support 
should be budgeted for in 
order that members of the 
project team can undertake 
their roles effectively.

Senior 
Responsible 
Officer

The Senior Responsible Officer and Project 
Manager will agree what project support 
resources will be required. This will be 
recorded in the minutes of the Board 
meeting.

The Senior Responsible Officer and 
Programme Manager will seek advice and 
support to recruit the appropriate project 
support resources and to ensure that 
budget is available for external assurance if 
required.

With 
immediate 
effect

P
age 161



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Civic Halls

No Programme Lessons Learnt Responsibility Proposed action to be taken Target date
16 Civic Halls The highlight reports 

produced from Verto should 
provide a true and honest 
assessment of the project. 
Where it is deemed that this 
is not the case there should 
be a robust process in place 
to challenge the status being 
reported.

Senior 
Responsible 
Officer

Senior Responsible Officers on all projects 
and programmes will encourage a culture of 
honest and open reporting. 

The Project Assurance Group, chaired by 
the Director of Finance or the Strategic 
Director for Place, will provide officer 
oversight and challenge for major capital 
projects and programmes.

There is a standing item on Project 
Assurance Group meeting agenda to 
provide an update on all major capital 
programmes through Verto performance 
dashboard reporting.

Implemented

P
age 162



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Civic Halls

No Programme Lessons Learnt Responsibility Proposed action to be taken Target date
17 Civic Halls Going forward the Civic Halls 

project should be subject to 
project gateway reviews 
which are reported to the 
Project Assurance Group and 
the Civic Halls Strategy 
Board.

Senior 
Responsible 
Officer

A new governance arrangement has been 
established for the Civic Halls project and a 
Programme Director appointed. 

External assurance consultants have been 
engaged to provide an independent review 
to the Board of progress at each stage of 
the project prior to authorisation to proceed 
to the next stage.

Authorisation will be recorded in the minutes 
of the Board meetings.

Implemented

18 Civic Halls An escalation process should 
be developed whereby Senior 
Responsible Officers can 
raise concerns regarding their 
ability to govern the 
project/programme 
effectively.   

Senior 
Responsible 
Officer

The Chair of the Project Assurance Group 
has been designated as the point of contact 
for Senior Responsible Officers to raise 
these concerns.

The Chair of the Project Assurance Group 
will discuss these concerns to the relevant 
Director, Strategic Director or Strategic 
Executive Board as appropriate.

With 
immediate 
effect

P
age 163



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Civic Halls

No Programme Lessons Learnt Responsibility Proposed action to be taken Target date
19 Civic Halls For major programmes of this 

nature a full-time Programme 
Director should be appointed 
to support the SRO in the 
management and delivery of 
the programme.

Projects and 
Programmes 
Manager

During the concept and feasibility phases of 
a project the scope, complexity and risks will 
be assessed and identified. These will be 
presented to the Project Assurance Group 
where, as part of the approval to progress, 
the requirement as to whether to appoint a 
Programme Director should be decided. 

With 
immediate 
effect

20 Civic Halls Where matters arise that 
result in the delay of the 
completion of audit reviews, 
Audit Services should issue 
an interim/holding report in 
order to provide a position 
statement at a point in time. 
Such a report can then be 
updated and reissued once 
outstanding matters have 
been resolved.  Audit 
Services should also make 
every attempt to ensure that 
reviews are completed within 
their original agreed 
timescales.

Head of Audit The Audit Services Team has been 
instructed to comply with this requirement. 
Throughout the review any issues or 
findings that may result in a red or amber 
recommendation will be communicated with 
the audit.

ImplementedP
age 164



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Civic Halls

No Programme Lessons Learnt Responsibility Proposed action to be taken Target date
21 Civic Halls All limited assurance audit 

reports along with a schedule 
of any outstanding 
recommendations not 
implemented by their agreed 
dates should be presented to 
SEB on a regular basis.

Head of Audit All limited reports are now presented to the 
next available SEB meeting.

Implemented

22 Civic Halls Where a project role cannot 
be fully fulfilled due to other 
conflicting commitments the 
role should be formally 
delegated to an alternative 
officer.

Senior 
Responsible 
Officer

The Senior Responsible Officer will regularly 
review project resources and project roles 
and propose any changes to the Board for 
approval.

The adequacy of project resources will be 
assessed as part of the review at prior to 
the authorisation to proceed to the next 
stage of the project.

Implemented

P
age 165



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Civic Halls

No Programme Lessons Learnt Responsibility Proposed action to be taken Target date
23 Civic Halls The role of project assurance 

should either be undertaken 
by an external consultant or 
someone who has no direct 
involvement with the 
project/programme, to ensure 
complete independence is 
achieved.

Senior 
Responsible 
Officer

The Senior Responsible Officer will be 
responsible for ensuring that appropriate 
and independent project assurance 
arrangements are in place. 

External specialist project and risk 
assurance consultancy has been procured 
to support the delivery of projects and 
programmes.

In addition, a Commercial Business Partner 
and Audit Business Partner have been 
provided training to be able to undertake 
peer reviews of major projects.

With 
immediate 
effect

P
age 166



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Civic Halls

No Programme Lessons Learnt Responsibility Proposed action to be taken Target date
24 Civic Halls A change control procedure 

should be implemented 
whereby all proposed design 
changes are signed off and 
approved by the 
Service/Senior User for the 
project.

Senior 
Responsible 
Officer

The Senior Responsible Officer shall ensure 
that the Programme Director / Project 
Manager will establish appropriate change 
management processes which record and 
provide an audit trail of changes and 
reasons. 

The Terms of Reference will include which 
changes are delegated to the programme 
team and which are reserved to be decided 
by the Board.

3 September 
2018

P
age 167



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Civic Halls

No Programme Lessons Learnt Responsibility Proposed action to be taken Target date
25 Civic Halls High risk projects and 

programmes should be 
periodically called in by 
Project Assurance Group and 
should also be subject to 
gateway reviews.

Chair of Project 
Assurance Group

The Project Assurance Group, chaired by 
the Director of Finance or the Strategic 
Director for Place, will provide officer 
oversight and challenge for major capital 
projects and programmes.

There is a standing item on Project 
Assurance Group meeting agenda to 
provide an update on all major capital 
programmes through Verto performance 
dashboard reporting.

The Programme Director or Project 
Manager will provide an update to Project 
Assurance Group when required and 
include regular updates as part of project 
planning.

With 
immediate 
effect

P
age 168



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Civic Halls

No Programme Lessons Learnt Responsibility Proposed action to be taken Target date
26 Civic Halls For all future projects the 

initial capital budget should 
be subject to an independent 
risk assessment process in 
order to determine the level 
of contingency required to 
manage the future risks of the 
project.  

Chief Accountant External specialist project and risk 
assurance consultancy has been procured 
to support the delivery of projects and 
programmes.

In addition, a Commercial Business Partner 
and Audit Business Partner have been 
provided training to be able to undertake 
peer reviews of major projects. This will 
provide an additional opportunity to 
challenge proposed contingencies and 
robustness of plans

Finance are represented on all major capital 
programmes and are members of the Board 
and working groups. This provides 
assurance and challenge around 
contingencies and programme budgets. All 
formal reports to require sign-off from 
Finance and therefore Finance comments 
and approval must be sought before 
submission.

1 August 
2018

P
age 169



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Civic Halls

No Programme Lessons Learnt Responsibility Proposed action to be taken Target date
27 Civic Halls Financing and funding 

requirements should be a 
standard agenda item for all 
Strategy Board meetings to 
ensure all funding 
opportunities are explored 
throughout the lifecycle of the 
project.

Senior 
Responsible 
Officer

The Senior Responsible Officer will ensure 
that a standing agenda item for finance and 
funding in included for all Board meetings.

Implemented

28 Civic Halls The Civic Halls refurbishment 
project should stand as its 
own specific risk on the 
Council’s Strategic Risk 
Register.

Head of Audit Civic Halls is now shown as its own risk on 
the Council’s Strategic Risk Register (risk 
30/01/18)

Implemented

P
age 170



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Civic Halls

No Programme Lessons Learnt Responsibility Proposed action to be taken Target date
29 Civic Halls The Council should adopt a 

standard for project risk 
management to clarify 
requirements and lead the 
management of risk on its 
projects.

Projects and 
Programmes 
Manager

The project risk management process is 
already established, and risks are managed 
and monitored using Verto.

Projects and Programmes team report 
monthly and share all significant project 
“red” risks i.e. with a score of 15 and above, 
to the Directorate Leadership Teams, 
Project Assurance Group and Corporate 
Risk team.

Implemented

P
age 171



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Civic Halls

No Programme Lessons Learnt Responsibility Proposed action to be taken Target date
30 Civic Halls Change must be managed in 

the context of a clearer 
understanding of the impact 
of change on the risk profile 
of the project.  Contingency 
management should be 
carried out in the context of a 
clear understanding of the 
current risk exposure, and the 
change process should 
facilitate the reassessment 
and communication of 
contingency requirements 
through the project lifecycle.

Senior 
Responsible 
Officer

The Senior Responsible Officer shall ensure 
that the Programme Director / Project 
Manager will establish appropriate change 
management processes which record and 
provide an audit trail of changes and 
reasons. 

The Terms of Reference will include which 
changes are delegated to the programme 
team and which are reserved to be decided 
by the Board.

3 September 
2018

P
age 172



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Civic Halls

No Programme Lessons Learnt Responsibility Proposed action to be taken Target date
31 Civic Halls The use of Verto for project 

management, risk 
management and reporting, 
should be mandatory for all 
Council projects and 
managed to assure the 
Council and supply chain 
engagement.

Senior 
Responsible 
Officer

Projects and 
Programmes 
Manager

The Senior Responsible Officer will ensure 
that Verto is utilised and updated throughout 
the life of a project.

A monthly “highlight report” is produced by 
the Projects and Programmes Team which 
sets out the status of each project or 
programme is presented to Directorate 
Leadership, Wider Leadership team 
meetings and provided to the Audit team.

A performance dashboard has recently 
been developed that highlights non-
compliance and areas of risk which in 
addition is present to the Project Assurance 
Group. 

With 
immediate 
effect

P
age 173



This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Civic Halls

No Programme Lessons Learnt Responsibility Proposed action to be taken Target date
32 Civic Halls The Council should have 

standard process 
documentation, requirements, 
and templates that are used 
across all capital projects. 
This will provide a consistent 
approach and drive the 
adoption of best practice and 
allow a simple upload to the 
Verto system.

Senior 
Responsible 
Officer

Head of Corporate 
Landlord

The Verto system includes standard 
templates which will be utilised for projects. 
Any deviation from these will be agreed in 
advance with the Project and Programmes 
team and recorded in the minutes of Board 
meetings.

Standard operating procedures, 
documentation and templates are being 
reviewed, as part of the implementation of a 
new operating model for project delivery.

Implemented

1 December 
2018 P

age 174


	Agenda
	3 Markets Relocation - Lessons Learned
	Markets Relocation - Lessons Learned

	4 Wolverhampton Interchange (Train Station) - Lessons Learned
	Wolverhampton Interchange (Train Station) - Lessons Learned

	5 Civic Halls Refurbishment - Lessons Learned
	Civic Halls Refurbishment - Lessons Learned

	6 Action Plans - Lessons Learned
	Action Plans - Lessons Learned


